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This report details Tourism Australia’s operations and reviews our performance against the objectives and goals set out 
in the Tourism Australia Corporate Plan 2017 to 2021 and the Portfolio Budget Statements 2017–18: Budget Related 
Paper No. 1.9 – Foreign Affairs and Trade Portfolio. The report was prepared in accordance with the Tourism Australia 
Act 2004 (Cth), the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (Cth) and other relevant legislation.

This report includes case studies of Tourism Australia’s marketing activities across the globe, highlighting our activities 
and successes in the countries where we operate. 

Tourism Australia acknowledges the traditional owners of this country throughout Australia and their continuing 
connection to land, sea and community. We pay our respects to them, their cultures, and to their elders both past 
and present.

 
– Letter of transmittal –

 
23 October 2018

Senator the Hon. Simon Birmingham,  
Minister for Trade, Tourism and Investment 
Parliament House 
Canberra ACT 2600

Dear Minister

I am pleased to present the 13th annual report of 
Tourism Australia for the reporting period 1 July 
2017 to 30 June 2018. It has been approved by the 
Tourism Australia Board.

The report has been prepared in accordance with 
section 39 of the Tourism Australia Act 2004; 
section 46 of the Public Governance, Performance 
and Accountability Act 2013; and Finance Orders.

Yours sincerely

 

Bob East 
Chairman
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Cover image: In February 2018, Tourism Australia launched the Dundee 
marketing campaign in the USA, kicking off with a Super Bowl ad as part  
of the world’s most watched television broadcast. Supported by Qantas and 
starring some of Australia’s biggest celebrities, the campaign features all 
states and territories, showcasing experiences that resonate most strongly 
with American high-value travellers.
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 (+17%)

 (+6%)

 (+17%) (+12%)

Partnership marketing 
revenue contributed by the 

tourism industry

Twitter followers

@Australia: 570K
@TourismAus: 137K

@MeetinAustralia: 19.4K

Return on every dollar invested 
in tourism promotion 

Number of international  
visitors to Australia (June 18)

Instagram 
followers

Fans of Tourism Australia’s 
Facebook page  

(Australia.com – 8.16M, 
Aussie News Today – 693K)

1st

of every tourism dollar is  
spent in regional Australia3

Tourism is one of five super 
growth industries driving the 
future prosperity of Australia2

Australia ranks first globally for 
visitor spend per trip and 9th 
globally for tourism receipts1
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 (+7%)

 (+12%)

of Australians believe 
international tourism  
is good for our country

(+1%)

 (+5%)

 (+11%)

 (+35%)  (+2%)

Overnight spend 
by travellers (June 18)

Unique visitors  
to australia.com

Spend by international 
travellers (June 18)

Unique visitors to Tourism 
Australia and partner websites

Weibo followers

Stakeholder satisfaction  
with our work

Gender diversity among staff
(female-to-male ratio)

Staff engagement

MOOD OF THE NATION STUDY
In 2017, Tourism Australia completed the second 
round of a study to identify opportunities for the 
Australian tourism industry to improve how we  
tell our story. The Mood of the Nation study found 
that while Australians recognise the importance  
and benefits of our industry, they consistently  
underestimate its size and value. Educating the 
public about the overall value of tourism to Australia’s 
economy is imperative to ensuring a successful  
and sustainable future for Australian tourism.

2017/18 
HIGHLIGHTS

in a row that tourism has 
outpaced the growth of the 

national economy 4

1 United Nations World Tourism Organisation, World Tourism Barometer, December 2017. 
2 Deloitte, Tourism and Hotel Market Outlook, 2017. 
3 Tourism Research Australia (TRA), State of the Industry, February 2018. 
4 TRA, Tourism Satellite Accounts 2016–17. 
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of Australians are  
proud of the way 
Australia is promoted

 (+2%)
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1.1 OVERVIEW

OUR VISION

Our vision is for Australia to be the most  
desirable and memorable destination on earth.

OUR ORGANISATIONAL PURPOSE

Our aim is to grow demand and foster  
a competitive and sustainable Australian  
tourism industry through partnership  
marketing to targeted global consumers  
in key markets. This purpose is identical to  
our Australian Government outcome, as  
outlined in the Portfolio Budget Statements.

OUR MARKETING PURPOSE

Our marketing purpose is to invite the world  
to experience the Australian way of life.

OUR GOAL

Our goal is to achieve more than $115 billion 
in overnight tourism spend by 2020 (up from 
$70 billion1 in 2009). We share this goal with  
the Australian tourism industry and with federal, 
state and territory governments, to maximise 
tourism’s contribution to the Australian people.

1 The 2009 benchmark is derived from the 2020 Tourism Industry Potential, which preceded the Tourism 2020 strategy.
2  While the TA Act outlines domestic functions, Tourism Australia is not currently engaged in domestic tourism marketing  

activities. This change in Tourism Australia’s remit came into effect in 2013, and is outlined in the Minister for Trade,  
Tourism and Investment’s Statement of Expectations for Tourism Australia.

OUR LEGISLATIVE FUNCTIONS 
AND DELIVERABLES

Under the TA Act, Tourism Australia’s  
main functions are to:

 ● Increase potential international travellers’ 
awareness of Australia as a destination

 ● Increase potential domestic travellers’  
awareness of Australia as a place to travel

 ● Increase both international and domestic 
potential travellers’ knowledge of Australia

 ● Increase both international and domestic 
potential travellers’ desire to travel to and 
throughout Australia2

 ● Conduct research into, and analyse,  
international and domestic travel

 ● Communicate effectively with the Australian 
tourism industry on matters that may affect it

 ● Increase awareness among Australians of 
the contribution tourism makes to Australia’s 
economy, society and environment

 ● Report on trends in international and 
domestic travel.

Tourism Australia is a corporate Commonwealth entity formed under the Tourism Australia 
Act 2004 (TA Act). It is governed by a Board of Directors that is appointed by the Minister 
responsible for tourism under the TA Act and the Public Governance, Performance and 
Accountability Act 2013 (PGPA Act).

United
we are one team

Positive
we are optimistic

Commercial
we deliver results

Genuine
we are authentic

Innovative
we are creative 

thinkers

OUR VALUES

Our values support our vision. They are the essence of our identity and guide our  
behaviour and the relationships we have with our customers and partners. They are:
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OUR AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT OUTCOME AND PROGRAMS

Each year, Australian Government agencies are required to identify the programs they plan 
to undertake, and the desired outcomes of those programs as influenced by the actions of the 
Australian Government. Programs are the vehicles for agencies to deliver on their outcomes.

Tourism Australia has one government outcome: ‘To grow demand and foster a competitive  
and sustainable Australian tourism industry through partnership marketing to targeted 
global consumers in key markets’.1

This outcome was delivered through two programs:

1 Grow demand
2 Industry development.

How we measure the success of our programs

Goal: Increase overnight tourism expenditure to more than $115 billion by 2020

Program Measure

Grow demand Overnight tourism spend

Total international spend

Total international spend by visitors from Tourism Australia markets

Total international spend by leisure visitors from Tourism Australia markets

Total international spend by business events visitors from Tourism Australia markets

Earned advertising value

Total unique visitors to Tourism Australia websites

Return on marketing investment

Industry 
development Stakeholders indicate that Tourism Australia adds value to their business

Table 1: Tourism Australia’s government programs and performance metrics
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1 Portfolio Budget Statements 2017–18: Budget Related Paper No. 1.9 – Foreign Affairs and Trade Portfolio, p. 159.

Katherine Gorge sunset cruise, Nitmiluk National Park, NT



1.2  OUR STRATEGY —  
TOURISM 2020

Tourism 2020 is a whole-of-government and  
industry strategy designed to build the resilience  
and competitiveness of Australia’s tourism 
industry and increase its contribution to the 
Australian economy.

The Tourism 2020 goal is to increase overnight 
expenditure to more than $115 billion by 2020.  
When it was introduced, the target was set at 
between $115 billion and $140 billion in overnight 
visitor expenditure, reflecting a range of scenarios –  
from holding to increasing market share across 
key markets.

Tourism 2020 focuses on improving the industry’s 
performance by pursuing opportunities to increase 
consumer spending and addressing supply-side 
factors. The strategy is being implemented in three 
phases. We are nearing the end of the ‘seeing the 
results’ phase, as detailed in this report.

In 2017/18, we continued to champion Tourism 
2020. We also began planning for the years beyond 
2020, working with Austrade and state and territory 
governments as part of an industry-led committee.

PERFORMANCE AGAINST TOURISM 2020

At 30 June 2018, overnight visitor expenditure 
reached $110 billion, up 7 per cent on the previous 
year. Recent forecasts indicate that overnight  
visitor spend will reach $131 billion by 2020.1

A competitive aviation environment is essential  
to achieving the Tourism 2020 goal. When the 
strategy was launched in 2011, we set a target of 
between 40 per cent and 50 per cent growth in 
international aviation capacity, representing an 
increase of between 7 million and 8 million seats. 
There has been solid growth over the past seven 
years, with 9.3 million seats added by the end of 
December 2017.

Increased investment in quality accommodation 
is also a significant factor in achieving the Tourism 
2020 goal. The Australian tourism industry has  
made solid progress in this area, particularly during 
the past three years, and is on track to achieve the 
target of adding between 6,000 and 20,000 new 
rooms by 2020.

1 Tourism Research Australia, Tourism Forecasts 2017.

PROGRESS OF TOTAL OVERNIGHT VISITOR EXPENDITURE AGAINST THE TOURISM 2020 GOAL

national
long-term

tourism
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Figure 1: Progress against Tourism 2020 goal
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OUR OPERATING ENVIRONMENT 

The table below outlines the trends that have affected our activities and operating model in 2017/18. We have 
considered these trends when determining our budgets, resources, marketing activities and operating model.

Global changes affecting Australian tourism Implications for Tourism Australia

Economic  ● The outlook remains mixed, with Asian economies 
continuing to grow, led by China; there are concerns  
around the impact of Brexit on the UK, and elections  
in Germany, France and Italy; and there are potential  
upsides from the pro-growth agenda in the USA

 ● Tourism is becoming increasingly competitive as  
countries identify it as a source of economic growth

 ● Positive overall, driven  
by growth from Asia

 ● Important to maintain  
a balanced market portfolio

Marketing 
channels

 ● The use of programmatic advertising to target consumers 
is increasing

 ● The high cost of mass media is challenging our ability to 
achieve cut-through in a cluttered media environment

 ● The use of digital, video and content marketing is increasing

 ● Increasing marketing costs 
and noise are hampering the 
ability to achieve exposure

Consumer  ● Demand is rising for experiential and personalised 
travel experiences

 ● There is increasing use of mobile and direct transactions 
between consumers and tourism operators

 ● Digital disruption will continue to affect how we develop  
our business model and communicate with target 
consumers – including increasing our use of video and 
moving from bundled to fragmented media and content

 ● Opportunities to  
capitalise on consumer  
and technology trends

Travel
industry

 ● The sharing economy is continuing to grow in popularity

 ● The number of online travel agencies is continuing to grow

 ● Australia’s ‘open skies’ agreement with China is giving 
Chinese airlines unrestricted capacity into Australia

 ● The number of low-cost carriers is increasing and changing 
the configuration of the global airline industry

 ● Continue to closely monitor 
industry developments that 
affect demand for Australia  
as a tourism destination

Table 2: Changes to the operating environment and the implications for Tourism Australia

Blue Mountains, NSW
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OUR AREAS OF FOCUS

In 2017/18, we continued to work with the tourism industry and state and territory governments to  
take advantage of growing demand from Asia and to achieve our Tourism 2020 goal. We focused on:

 ● Continuing to champion Tourism 2020 and planning for the years beyond 2020

 ● Investing in a portfolio of markets that present the greatest potential for growth

 ● Delivering competitive marketing campaigns

 ● Working with state and territory tourism organisations and agencies to deliver initiatives with one voice, 
including the China-Australia Year of Tourism and the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games

 ● Living our values

 ● Embedding standard campaign key performance indicators (KPIs) and reporting.

OUR STRATEGY

OUR GOAL

To increase overnight visitor expenditure to more than $115 billion

PURPOSE

To grow demand and foster a competitive and sustainable Australian tourism industry  
through partnership marketing to targeted global consumers in key markets

CUSTOMERS

DISTRIBUTION

MARKETS

PARTNERSHIPS

LE
IS

UR
E & BUSINESS EVENTS MARKETING

ENABLERS

Target high-value 
leisure and business 

events customers

Invest effort and  
resources in markets 

that present the greatest 
potential sources 
of high-spending 
travellers to 2020

Select partners that  
increase our ability  

to grow market share, 
target customers, enable 

conversion to booking 
and facilitate industry 

development

Drive greater conversion 
from intention to visitation

Our activity is  
underpinned by a 

committed, high-performing 
workforce, government and 
industry engagement and 
collaboration, and effective 
systems and processes that 

support robust corporate 
governance

Invite the world to 
experience the Australian 

way of life through 
global campaigns and 

marketing activities that 
reinforce There’s nothing 

like Australia

Figure 2: Overview of Tourism Australia’s 2017/18 strategy
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Figure 3: Tourism Australia’s high-value traveller

TOURISM AUSTRALIA'S HIGH-VALUE TRAVELLER

Out-of-region 
travellers

Considering or  
intending to travel  

to Australia

One or more of  
Australia’s experience 
strengths are on their  

list when selecting  
a destination

Aquatic and coastalTravel behaviour Trip expenditureDestination propensity

Food and wine Length of stay

Nature Dispersal

Wildlife

High value

GREAT OCEAN ROAD (VIC)

 Since launching Acacia Luxury  
Private Tours, the support, assistance 
and exposure that Tourism Australia 
has provided us has been invaluable. 
As a small business with a limited 
marketing budget, we work closely 
with the team at Tourism Australia 
to generate exposure to consumers 
that alone we simply could not 
reach nor afford. 
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OUR TARGET CUSTOMERS

In 2017/18, we continued to target two types  
of customers: leisure and business events.

Leisure customers
In 2017/18, we transitioned from targeting 
demographically defined customers to behaviourally 
and attitudinally defined customers. We now focus 
our efforts on high-value travellers – those who are 
predisposed to long-haul travel; are considering 
visiting or intend to visit Australia; are interested 
in Australia’s strengths as a destination; and are 
more likely to spend more, stay longer and travel 
more widely throughout the country. The move to 
a consolidated global target customer has enabled 
us to improve the way we target our marketing 
activities – delivering the right messages at the 
right time.

Business events customers
Our business events customers include decision 
makers and delegates for international association 
events, as well as incentive planners and attendees. 
We use a different marketing approach for our 
respective customers, focusing on messaging 
that resonates with the target customer in relevant 
channels. We have conducted extensive research 
across our key international markets to better 
understand what motivates potential business 
events consumers to travel to Australia. The insights 
from this research have helped inform our thinking 
and shaped our business events marketing strategy.

@acaciatoursau 
As featured on @australia
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OUR TARGET MARKETS

In 2017/18, we continued to invest most of our effort 
and resources in markets that had the greatest 
potential for long-term visitor expenditure and 
growth to 2020 and beyond. Figure 4 shows the 
countries where we were active. 

MARKET PORTFOLIO FRAMEWORK

Based on their position in the framework, markets 
fall into one of four categories: build access and 
distribution; full build; partnership-led conversion;  
and maintain access and distribution. Each category 
has a specific emphasis and a targeted mix of 
activities to maximise its respective market 
opportunities. Table 3 outlines how we applied the 
framework in 2017/18. In late 2017, our Board and 
management reassessed our market portfolio.

As we continue to work towards our Tourism 2020 
goal, we will focus our activities on markets we 
believe can generate the highest return on 
investment (ROI). In 2018, we announced that we will  
be moving to a representation agency model  
in South Korea and withdrawing our agency 
presence in Brazil. We implemented these  
changes in August 2018.

Market Portfolio Framework

Category Build access  
and distribution

Full build Parnership-led  
conversion

Maintain access  
and distribution

Strategic  
objective

Establish access  
and distribution

Build joint marketing, 
distribution  
and partnerships

Build partnerships to  
drive conversion and 
develop distribution

Focus on ongoing 
distribution and 
partnerships

Leisure 
markets

Indonesia China 
India 
USA

Hong Kong 
Japan 
Malaysia 
Singapore 
South Korea 
UK

Germany 
France 
Italy

Business 
events 
markets

China, New Zealand, UK/Europe, USA

Table 3: Target countries by category

 THE WHITSUNDAYS (QLD)

 We are proud to share our beautiful part 
of Australia with travellers from all over 
the world – and sharing our content with 
Tourism Australia is simply another way 
we can showcase our beautiful country 
and our amazing product. The value of 
collaborating and sharing content cannot 
be underestimated and we look forward 
to growing our relationship with Tourism 
Australia into the future! 

@oceanrafting 
Photo credit: Riptide Creative & Ocean Rafting 
As featured on @australia



GermanyFrance Italy

Worth more than

$6b $2b $1.6b

MARKET VALUE BY 2025

China Hong KongUSA UKCanada

NORTH AMERICA EUROPE GREATER CHINA

South Korea

Japan

Indonesia

Malaysia

New Zealand

India

Figure 4: Target markets and their forecast value by 2025

Singapore

Incentive Association

BUSINESS EVENTS FOCUS

Thala Beach, Port Douglas, QLD

TOURISM AUSTRALIA'S TARGET MARKETS AND THEIR VALUE BY 2025
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2.1  EXECUTIVE  
REPORTS



CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

This has been another great year for Australia’s 
tourism industry.

International arrivals increased by more than 
0.5 million to exceed 9 million, and expenditure 
hit almost $43 billion. Thanks to strong growth 
in domestic overnight stays, tourism now injects 
$110 billion into the economy. This puts us ahead of 
the lower bound of the industry’s $115 billion Tourism 
2020 target. With just 18 months left until the end  
of the decade, we must continue to work hard to  
close the gap on our $140 billion stretch target.

We continue to focus and adapt our marketing 
efforts to connect with the markets and sectors  
that present the greatest growth potential.

China maintained its strong momentum this year, 
overtaking New Zealand in terms of arrivals. It was 
also our highest-value market for spend, accounting 
for one in four international tourism dollars in 
Australia. The China-Australia Year of Tourism saw the 
Australian and Chinese governments shine  
a spotlight on the countries’ bilateral relationship. 
Tourism Australia took part in a number of successful 
in-market events, including the spectacular closing 
ceremony in Guangzhou in December.

The USA holds significant opportunities for  
Australia’s tourism industry. More Americans  
are travelling overseas than ever before. And  
while awareness of Australia as a destination  
is high, we want to get more people booking.  
That’s why we chose to target this lucrative  
market with a creative Crocodile Dundee– 
inspired campaign – our largest ever investment  
in a single market. The campaign is already 
generating strong leads, and we have received 
positive feedback from commercial partners  
and industry.

Business events is another area where we are 
increasing our efforts. This is one of the most 
lucrative sectors of Australia’s visitor economy,  
with total spend reaching $4.75 billion in 2017.  
In March 2018, Australia’s then Minister for Trade, 
Tourism and Investment, the Hon. Steven Ciobo, MP, 
launched our $12 million Business Events Bid  
Fund. This new fund is already helping to attract  
more global conferences, conventions, incentive 
events and exhibitions to Australia, giving us  
a competitive advantage when bidding for 
high-value international events.

Looking ahead, Tourism Australia’s success is  
tied to the continued support of the industry,  
which continues to go from strength to strength.

I look forward to seeing this work develop and  
am excited for the future of Australian tourism. 

Bob East

TOURISM AUSTRALIA 15
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Gunlom, Kakadu National Park, NT 



MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

Competition for the global tourism wallet is fiercer 
than ever before, leading to an intensifying battle  
to win market share. 

To succeed, we need to focus on the customers  
and markets that deliver the greatest return, deliver 
the right messages to the right channels, and work 
with the most effective distribution partners.

We have worked hard to differentiate Australia as 
a destination, telling our story through our people 
and undertaking significant initiatives to help our 
industry generate bookings. 

Data and technology have been game changers. 
They have allowed us to define our audience – 
high-value travellers – and target them effectively. 
Importantly, we can now measure our activities more 
effectively and efficiently than ever before. We also 
have the confidence to take more calculated risks 
when creating marketing programs that capture 
people’s attention and help drive conversion.

This shift towards a bigger and bolder approach 
is probably best demonstrated by our Dundee 
campaign, in which we turned to Hollywood  
and the Super Bowl as part of our strategy to  
win over the USA market. 

Crocodile Dundee put Australia on the map for 
Americans, and our Dundee campaign aims to do 
the same for a whole new generation of American 
travellers. The Super Bowl has the largest reach  
of any advertising platform in the USA, with more 
than 100 million Americans and many more  
global viewers tuning in. It gave us huge scale  
and unprecedented cut-through, particularly  
among high-value travellers.

The Super Bowl ad was just the start of this two-year 
campaign. Behind the teasers and 60-second ad 
were more than 20 carefully selected distribution 
partners, each primed with specific offerings to push 
into the market as the ad went to air. We have seen  
a 30 per cent increase in sales and about a 20 per cent 
lift in yield. The campaign has already delivered more 
than 367,000 leads.

TOURISM AUSTRALIA 17

Our Aussie News Today youth campaign is  
another good example. This campaign has  
delivered more than 365,000 direct leads to  
our youth industry partners.

Through our Dundee and Aussie News Today 
campaigns, we have made a concerted effort to 
use Australians to tell our story. The warmth and 
friendliness of Australians is a huge part of our 
country’s global appeal, and arguably a factor  
we’ve underplayed in recent times.

Nobody epitomises this more than actor 
Chris Hemsworth. Already the voice of our Aquatic 
and Coastal campaign, Chris has taken his advocacy 
for Australia a step further by fronting our Dundee 
campaign alongside American actor Danny McBride. 
Thanks in large part to Chris’s involvement, we 
were able to secure Hollywood heavyweights and 
homegrown Australian talent to lend support to the 
campaign, including Hugh Jackman, Margot Robbie, 
Russell Crowe and Jessica Mauboy. 

We’ve applied the same ‘think big’ approach 
to business events in 2017/18. We launched our 
$12 million Business Events Bid Fund in March 2018 
and it has already secured six events, including the 
Union International des Transports Publics Global 
Public Transport Summit 2021. This is testament  
to the value of the program and the importance  
of this sector to our visitor economy. 

Another highlight from the past 12 months was 
the China-Australia Year of Tourism. This year-long 
initiative celebrated the close relationship between 
China and Australia, and recognised the importance 
of the Chinese market for Australia’s tourism 
industry. Although we take a balanced portfolio 
approach, we have to prioritise our marketing 
resources and budgets. As our largest and most 
valuable inbound market, China is a must-win 
market for Australian tourism.

I’d like to thank our industry partners and my team  
at Tourism Australia. I’d also like to acknowledge  
the support and guidance I continue to receive  
from my Chairman and the rest of the Board. 

John O’Sullivan



2.2  ANNUAL PERFORMANCE 
STATEMENT

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT 
I, Bob East, as the head of the accountable authority 
for Tourism Australia, present the 2017/18 Annual 
Performance Statement for Tourism Australia, 
as required under section 39(1)(a) of the Public 
Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 
2013 (Cth) (PGPA Act). In my opinion, this Annual 
Performance Statement is based on properly 
maintained records, accurately reflects the 
performance of the entity and complies with  
section 39(2) of the PGPA Act.

ENTITY PURPOSE

To grow demand and foster a competitive and 
sustainable Australian tourism industry through 
partnership marketing to targeted global consumers 
in key markets.

18 ANNUAL REPORT 2018

a Percentages represent targeted goal growth. Source: Tourism Australia Corporate Plan 2017-21.
b Source: Tourism Research Australia (2018), International Visitor Survey, June 2018.
c At the time of publication, purpose of visitor data was not available – further detail on this issue is provided on page 20.
d In the period December 2014 to March 2017, visitor expenditure results were modelled on International Visitor Survey ‘business’ purpose, with the  

guidance of Tourism Research Australia. The FY17/18 result is a composite of this modelling and data gathered since March 2017, when a specific question  
(“Have you attended a business event?”) was re-introduced in the International Visitor Survey.

e Percentages represent year-on-year change from previous period. Source: Australia Bureau of Statistics (2018), Overseas Arrivals and Departures.
f Equivalent Advertising Value is below goal due to fewer International Media Hosting Program, Public Relations and Broadcast campaigns than  

initially planned due to focus on Dundee.
g Percentages represent year-on-year change from previous period. Includes tagged data driven to partner sites.

PERFORMANCE CRITERIA AND RESULTS

Key performance indicator
Actual 
2016/17

Actual 
2017/18

Goal 
2017/18

VISITOR EXPENDITURE At 30 June 2017 At 30 June 2018 At 30 June 2018a

Overnight tourism expenditureb $103.2 billion $110 billion 
(+7%)

$108.8 billion 
(+5%)

International tourism expenditureb $40.6 billion $42.5 billion 
(+5%)

$43.4 billion 
(+7%)

Total expenditure from TA target marketsb $32.4 billion $34.04 billion 
(+5%)

$34.7 billion 
(+7%)

Leisure expenditure from TA target marketsc $18.1 billion Not available $19.7 billion 
(+9%)

Business events expenditure from TA target marketsb $1.9 billion $2.4 billion 
(+26%)d

$2.1 billion 
(+10%)

VISITOR ARRIVALS

International tourism visitorse 8.5 million 9.1 million 
(+6%)

9.1 million  
(+6%)

MARKETING EFFECTIVENESS

Earned advertising valuef $282 million $259 million 
(-8%)

$300 million 
(+6%)

Total unique visitors to TA websitesg 32.9 million 36.5 million 
(+11%)

34 million 
(+3%)

Return on marketing investment $16:1 $16:1 $16:1

Table 4: Tourism Australia’s key performance indicators, 2017/18

RESULTS – GROW DEMAND

Program 1: Grow demand for Australia as a 
tourism destination.

Objective:  Identify and target best-prospect
consumers, and inspire them to travel to 
Australia, spend more and travel widely  
throughout the country.

CRITERION SOURCE

Portfolio Budget Statements 2017–18: Budget 
Related Paper No. 1.9 – Foreign Affairs and 
Trade Portfolio (page 152); and Tourism Australia 
Corporate Plan 2017 to 2021 (page 24). 



Karijini Eco Retreat, Karijini National Park, WA
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ANALYSIS OF PERFORMANCE AGAINST CRITERIA

Visitor expenditure and arrivals
Overnight tourism expenditure grew 7 per cent 
year-on-year to $110 billion at 30 June 2018. Similarly, 
total international expenditure and total international 
spend by visitors from Tourism Australia markets 
both grew 5 per cent year-on-year to $42.5 billion 
and $34.04 billion respectively.

Tourism Australia continued to set aspirational 
visitor spend goals in 2017/18 to focus our efforts. 
Performance was on track or close to on track for all 
spend metrics. The strength of the Australian dollar, 
while lower than the prior year, continued to impact 
spend, making it comparatively more expensive for 
consumers to travel to Australia as well as reducing 
their spending while here. Global trends of reduced 
duration of stay also impacted spend. Business 
Events expenditure from Tourism Australia’s target 
markets performed well, up 26 per cent to $2.4 billion 
at 30 June 2018. Tourism Australia’s introduction of 
a dedicated Business Events Bid Fund in 2018/19 is 
expected to be a key driver in further strengthening 
business events spend. 

The latest forecasts from Tourism Research  
Australia indicate that visitor spend will reach 
$131 billion by 20201, well within the Tourism 2020 
strategy’s goal range of $115 billion to $140 billion.

There was continued solid growth in visitor arrivals.  
At 30 June 2018, total international arrivals reached 
9.1 million, up 6 per cent year-on-year. 2 There was 
strong growth in visitor numbers from India  
(up 20 per cent), Hong Kong (up 15 per cent) and 
China (up 13 per cent). During 2017/18, Australia’s 
market share of global arrivals also increased in  
key markets including China, India, Indonesia, 
Malaysia, Japan, Singapore and the UK.
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1 Tourism Research Australia, Tourism Forecast 2017.
2 Australian Bureau of Statistics, Overseas Arrivals and Departures at June 2018.
3 Tourism Research Australia, International Visitors Survey at 30 June 2018. 
4 Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development, June 2018.

Arrivals Expenditure

ARRIVALS AND EXPENDITURE 
EXPENDITURE GROWTH

Results have been influenced by the following 
macro-economic factors:

 ● Strengthening economies in key markets, and 
the predisposition of consumers to travel as they 
become more educated and financially secure. 
This resulted in a growth in spend from several 
of our markets including China (up 15 per cent), 
France (up 13 per cent), Indonesia (up 12 per cent) 
and South Korea (up 9 per cent). 3

 ● Increased aviation capacity and new routes 
improved airfare competitiveness and stimulated 
demand from our source markets. There were 
increases in aviation capacity from China 
(up 26 per cent), Hong Kong (up 11 per cent), 
South Korea (up 10 per cent) and Japan (up 
9 per cent), and maintenance of stable capacity 
across most of our other target countries.4

TOTAL OVERNIGHT  
TOURISM EXPENDITURE

International Visitor Survey 

Please note that the International Visitor Survey (IVS) 
results do not include any data relating to purpose of 
visit. This is because the quality of the main purpose 
of visit component of the passenger data supplied to 
Tourism Research Australia (TRA) by the Department 
of Home Affairs has been identified as a concern. 
Work is currently in progress to resolve these issues 
and it is likely that a back cast of TRA data will be 
required. TRA will release revised estimates once  
a solution has been implemented.



Murray River Walk, Headings Cliffs, SA

TOURISM AUSTRALIA 21



22 ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Mount Wellington, Hobart, TAS
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Marketing effectiveness 

Equivalent Advertising Value (EAV) of $259 million 
was achieved at 30 June 2018. Whilst below target, 
this was not unexpected due to the shift of focus 
from International Media Hosting and Public 
Relations activities to enable concentration on the 
Dundee campaign. 

In February 2018, Tourism Australia launched the 
Dundee campaign in North America, our largest 
investment in this market since Paul Hogan’s Come 
and say G’Day ads more than 30 years ago. As part 
of our global umbrella, There’s nothing like Australia, 
the campaign generated significant interest, 
including reaching more than 9.2 billion people and 
EAV of $85 million. There were 102.7 million views 
of the campaign’s teasers, and the Super Bowl 
advertisement had more than 219,000 mentions 
across social media platforms. The campaign 
was ranked in the Super Bowl’s Top 5 Best Ads by 
Adweek, the Bleecher Report, and the Washington 
Post; and in the top six funniest commercials by 
Admeter. It also achieved Facebook’s highest ever 
recorded recall for teaser/movie videos in the USA 
entertainment category. Across our brand testing, 
four in five consumers spontaneously recalled that 
Tourism Australia’s Super Bowl ad was a tourism ad 
for Australia – the highest ‘branding’ score across all 
ads tested. 

Actor Chris Hemsworth also continued as  
our campaign ambassador. His appearances  
continued to generate media coverage with  
an EAV of $26 million and his social media posts 
were regularly viewed by millions of people around 
the globe. In total Chris Hemsworth has generated 
$181m in EAV since his appointment in 2016.

At the year ending 30 June 2018, there were 
36.5 million unique visitors to Tourism Australia's 
websites – a year-on-year increase of 11 per cent. 
Australia.com performed well, with year-on-year 
growth of 12 per cent (19.7 million unique visitors). 
While the number of unique visitors to australia.cn 
decreased by 6 per cent to 6.1 million unique  
visitors, there was an increase in unique visitors to 
partner campaign websites in China to 4 million 
unique visitors. Overall, across all Tourism Australia  
marketing activity, there was an increase in visits  
to partner sites, up 19 per cent year on year.

Tourism Australia conducts return on investment 
(ROI) analysis of its advertising effectiveness. Our 
approach centres on evaluating specific campaigns 
in a set of target markets. This has resulted in an 
ROI of $16:1. That is, for every dollar we spent, our 
activities generated $16 for the Australian economy. 
During 2017/18, we increased the frequency of our 
brand tracking research from annually to quarterly, 
enhancing consumer insights that helped inform 
and improve marketing activity in key markets. The 
purpose of our Quarterly Brand Tracker is to provide 
a holistic picture of how Australia’s destination 
brand is perceived and to assess the impact of 
Tourism Australia advertising and communications. 
The research is conducted via an online survey 
in 11 international markets – including Indonesia, 
New Zealand, Singapore, Malaysia, South Korea,  
Japan, China, India, Germany, the USA and the UK.

PERFORMANCE CRITERION AND RESULTS

Key performance indicator
Actual  

2016/17
Goal  

2017/18
Actual 

2017/18

STAKEHOLDER SATISFACTION

1 Stakeholders indicate Tourism Australia adds value to 
their business (‘excellent’, ‘very good’ or ‘good’ value) 1

95% > 90% 98%

Table 5: Stakeholder satisfaction, 2017/18

1 Stakeholders were asked to rate how Tourism Australia adds value to their business. Tourism Australia events where stakeholders were 
surveyed included the Association educational; Associations World Congress; Australian Tourism Exchange; Australia Tourism Summit; 
Business Events Australia Greater China Showcase; China agent educationals; China corporate educational; Corroboree Asia; Destination 
Australia conference; IBTM World; IMEX America; IMEX Frankfurt; India Travel Mission; Internationale Tourismus Börse; New Zealand agent 
educationals; North America agent educationals; Pacific Area Incentives & Conferences Expo; PURE Life Experiences; Routes Asia; Tourism 
Australia Open Day; TTG Incontri; Virtuoso Australia educational; Walkabout Japan; Walkabout South America; World Routes; World Travel 
Market; and industry briefings in New South Wales, South Australia, Western Australia, Tasmania, Victoria and the Northern Territory.

RESULTS – INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT

Program 2: Industry development

Objective:  Develop an Australian tourism industry that is competitive and sustainable, and delivers on the 
needs of the target customer.

CRITERION SOURCE

Portfolio Budget Statements 2017–18: Budget Related Paper No. 1.9 – Foreign Affairs and Trade Portfolio  
(page 155); and Tourism Australia Corporate Plan 2017 to 2021 (page 24). 
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ANALYSIS OF PERFORMANCE AGAINST CRITERIA

We have again exceeded our stakeholder satisfaction 
goal in 2017/18, with 98 per cent of stakeholders 
rating Tourism Australia's value to their business  
as 'excellent, very good or good value.' This reflects 
our emphasis on delivering commercial value to our 
stakeholders and partners and fostering a culture 
of continual improvement. Our performance in this 
area is measured by stakeholder surveys, which are 
completed at key events during the year.

As a partnership marketing organisation, we 
continued to work with tourism businesses and  
state and territory tourism organisations to align 
all our marketing initiatives. We also worked with 
industry organisations such as airlines, distributors 
and online travel agencies to develop and build 
capacity to improve the selling of Australian  
tourism experiences to target consumers.

ANALYSIS OF PERFORMANCE AGAINST PURPOSE

Tourism Australia is performing well against its stated 
purpose – to grow demand and foster a competitive 
and sustainable Australian tourism industry through 
partnership marketing to targeted global consumers 
in key markets. As a result, the industry is on track to 
achieve the Tourism 2020 goal of between $115 billion 
and $140 billion in overnight visitor spend by 2020. 
Recent forecasts1 indicate that overnight visitor spend 
will reach $131 billion by 2020.

The following highlights during 2017/18 contributed 
to these results:

 ● There’s nothing like Australia: We continued
to deliver campaign activities focusing on 
Australia’s aquatic and coastal, and food and wine
experiences. In 2017/18, consumers in more than 
130 countries saw There’s nothing like Australia 
campaign activities. This included launch of the 
Dundee campaign in North America, which 
had a halo effect in other key markets including 
China, Japan and the UK. We also continued our 
Working Holiday Maker campaign – Aussie News 
Today – which ran predominantly across the UK 
and Continental Europe during 2017/18.

 ● Digital marketing and social media: 
We continued to focus our digital marketing 
activities on improving content, and personalising
and enhancing the user experience across 
australia.com and australia.cn. The new content 
and other enhancements increased engagement 
with australia.com and significantly increased 
the number of leads to industry. At 30 June 2018, 
Tourism Australia’s total social media community 
continued to grow across all key platforms 
such as Facebook 8.85 million (up 12 per cent), 
Instagram 3.17 million (up 17 per cent) and 
Twitter 0.665 million (up 17 per cent), WeChat 
0.446 million (up 346 per cent) and Weibo 
0.95 million (up 35 per cent).

 ● Partnerships: In 2017/18, Tourism Australia worked
with more than 200 tourism industry and other 
partners, contributing $61.6 million in indirect 
and direct revenue (at 30 June 2018). This enabled 
us to extend the reach of campaigns through 
bought media and our partners’ marketing 
channels. Partners also provided consumers 
with important links to booking channels.

 ● Distribution: We continued to work with
state and territory tourism organisations and 
the industry to deliver programs and platforms 
that enhance the knowledge of travel sellers 
and connect Australian tourism businesses 
with international distributors. At 30 June 
2018, more than 37,000 front-line travel sellers 
qualified as Aussie Specialist agents and more 
than 34,000 were trained face to face. We also 
delivered a range of trade events in Australia and 
internationally that brought together buyers and 
sellers of Australian tourism products. We held 
our premier trade event, the Australian Tourism 
Exchange, in Adelaide in 2018. The event attracted
more than 2,000 delegates and directly injected 
$10 million into South Australia’s economy. 
Furthermore, 98 per cent of buyers and 
sellers reported satisfaction with the event.

1 Tourism Research Australia, Tourism Forecasts 2017.

@carolelvin
As featured on @australia

CANBERRA (ACT)
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CANBERRA (ACT)
 ● Industry engagement: We continued to

deliver a program of activities to keep the 
Australian tourism industry up to date on 
the latest tourism news, research, insights 
and marketing tools. This included industry 
briefings, newsletters and the Destination 
Australia conference. These activities build 
awareness and understanding of our strategic
marketing initiatives. They also allow the 
industry to tap into opportunities to boost 
business and deliver quality tourism 
experiences to international travellers.

 ● Governance: Tourism Australia continued
to maintain a robust governance framework 
in 2017/18 enabling appropriate monitoring 
and reporting of Tourism Australia’s strategic,
operational, financial and compliance 
responsibilities.

 ● Investment attraction and aviation route 
development: Tourism Australia continued
working with Austrade to develop tourism 
investment opportunities for Australia. This 
included developing the Regional Tourism 
Infrastructure Investment Attraction Strategy 
in partnership with the states and territories, 
aimed at encouraging investment beyond 
Australia’s capital cities; holding an investor 
familiarisation in Adelaide and on Kangaroo 
Island; participating in investment forums such 
as the Hotel Investment Conference Asia Pacific
in Hong Kong, as well as HotelsWorld and 
the Australasian Hotel Industry Conference 
and Exhibition in Australia; and launching 
a new tourism investment website. We also 
continued working with airports and state and 
territory tourism organisations, supporting the 
implementation of new aviation routes from 
key source markets including China and Japan.

 ● Employees: Tourism Australia’s overall
employee engagement score was 92 per cent
in 2018, up 2 per cent from 2017, and our Net 
Promoter Score (NPS) increased from +18 to 
+33. All employees (100%) said they were proud
to work for Tourism Australia, and we received 
ratings above 90 per cent for role clarity, job 
expectations and how roles contributed to 
the Tourism 2020 strategy. Tourism Australia’s 
gender diversity was ahead of Australian 
Government benchmarks – women made 
up 50 per cent of our non-executive directors, 
67 per cent of the Executive Leadership team 
and 73 per cent of the organisation. The 
proportion of Indigenous staff members in 
Tourism Australia's head office was 2 per cent. 

 Every time I collaborate with Tourism 
Australia on special Canberra events my 
following goes up significantly. I’ve also 
gained traction with local businesses and 
tourism agencies through my connection 
with Tourism Australia. 

@carolelvin
As featured on @australia



 ● Tourism Australia sponsors 
the HotelsWorld conference 
in Sydney, bringing together 
more than 500 international 
and domestic hotel industry 
executives.

 ● Tourism Australia and Virgin 
Australia partner to promote 
the airline’s new service from 
Melbourne to Hong Kong.

 ● Tourism Australia leads  
a delegation of 22 Australian 
companies at the World Youth 
and Student Travel Conference 
in Montreal, Canada. This is 
the leading trade event for 
the global youth, student and 
educational travel industry.

 ● Board member Bob East  
takes up the position of 
Tourism Australia’s Chair. 
Anna Guillan, AM, assumes  
the position of Deputy Chair.

 ● Australia’s wildlife and  
aquatic experiences are 
showcased at the Tourism 
EXPO Japan, held in Tokyo.

 ● 13 Australian aviation partners 
exhibit as ‘Team Australia’ at  
World Routes in Barcelona.

 ● Tourism Australia and 
14 premium tourism  
operators take part in PURE 
Life Experiences in Marrakech.

 ● 74 Australian tourism 
representatives attend the 
inaugural Walkabout South 
East Asia in Bali, building 
trade relationships with 
70 distribution partners  
from Singapore, Malaysia  
and Indonesia.

 ● Tourism Australia sponsors  
the ‘un-conference’ at PURE.

 ● Bollywood actress 
Parineeti Chopra (left)  
joins Tourism Australia’s 
Friends of Australia 
ambassador program.

2.3 KEY EVENTS
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 ● Actor Wu Xiubo, Tourism 
Australia’s ambassador for 
the China-Australia Year of 
Tourism, completes a 15-day 
familiarisation tour of Australia.

 ● Australia’s then Minister for 
Tourism, Trade and Investment, 
the Hon. Steven Ciobo, MP, 
hosts the Australian Tourism 
Ministers’ Meeting in Beijing.

 ● Tourism Australia and 
UnionPay International  
sign a Memorandum  
of Understanding.

 ● 70 representatives from  
the Australian tourism  
industry attend Tourism 
Australia’s 15th annual  
India Travel Mission in Pune. 
Former Australian cricket 
test captain Michael Clarke 
is announced as a Friend 
of Australia.

PARINEETI CHOPRA



 ● Tourism Australia  
launches Aussie News Today 
(see above) – a dedicated, 
tongue-in-cheek news 
channel serving up good  
news stories – as part of  
a new $5 million youth 
campaign in the UK,  
France, Germany and Italy.

 ● More than 120 Australian 
sellers participate in 
Tourism Australia’s inaugural 
Corroboree West (see below), 
showcasing their products 
to qualified Aussie Specialist 
agents from 14 countries.

 ● Australia House in London 
welcomes 120 Times newspaper 
readers for an evening with 
British author and television 
presenter, Ray Mears.

 ● The then Minister for Tourism, 
Trade and Investment, the 
Hon. Steven Ciobo, MP, joins 
a 23-strong delegation from 
Australia’s business events 
industry at IMEX America.

 ● Minister Ciobo conducts 
one-on-one meetings with 
key investors at the Hotel 
Investment Conference Asia 
Pacific in Hong Kong, the 
largest annual hotel investment 
conference in the region.

 ● Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth 
Games mascot Borobi hosts  
the Malaysian team mascot,  
Rimau, on the Gold Coast for  
a television special.

 ● Tourism Australia hosts 
industry briefings in Sydney, 
Adelaide, Hobart and Canberra, 
providing an update on  
its marketing activities,  
and sharing research and  
insights from key markets.

 ● Tourism Australia and Qantas 
kick off a joint marketing 
campaign to promote the 
airline’s new service between 
Kansai (Osaka) and Sydney.

 ● Tourism Australia and 
Garuda Indonesia extend 
their partnership to continue 
promoting travel to Australia.

 ● Tourism Australia is joined by 
15 partners on the Australia 
stand at the World Travel 
Market in London.

 ● Investors from around the  
world gather in Cairns to explore 
investment opportunities in 
Northern Australia. 

 ● The Greater China Travel 
Mission and Greater China 
Premium Travel Showcase are 
held in Guangzhou, providing 
a forum for Australian tourism 
businesses to engage with 
buyers from Greater China.

 ● Australia’s business events 
capabilities are showcased 
to 95 international incentive 
planners and decision makers, 
and 19 business events 
media representatives, at 
Dreamtime 2017 – Tourism 
Australia’s signature incentive 
product showcase.

 ● Spending by Chinese visitors 
to Australia exceeds $10 billion 
for the first time.
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 ● United Airlines begins a daily, 
nonstop service between 
Houston, Texas, and Sydney.

 ● Almost 200 North American 
wholesalers, retail operators, 
airlines, consortia and travel 
media representatives 
gather at the sixth annual 
Australia Tourism Summit 
in Los Angeles.

 ● Tourism Australia and 
Singapore Airlines kick off  
an online campaign in 
Singapore and Malaysia.

 ● G’Day USA events are held  
in the USA.

 ● 100 Italian travel agents  
and 30 tour operators attend 
Aussie Meetups, a roadshow 
through Italy.

 ● The first Dundee campaign 
trailers launch in the 
USA market.

 ● Tourism Australia and 
Etihad Airways kick off  
a campaign in Germany,  
France, Italy and Switzerland.

 ● Tourism Australia 
participates in the inaugural 
AUSTRALIAHOUSE as part  
of G’day USA activities  
at SXSW in Austin, Texas.

 ● The Hon. Mark Coulton, MP, is 
named as the Assistant Minister  
for Trade, Tourism and Investment.

 ● Tourism Australia launches  
a new campaign in the UK that 
introduces 24 million friendly 
Australian locals who are  
all potential mates.

 ● Australian singer-songwriter  
and actress Jessica Mauboy  
is made a Friend of Australia,  
coinciding with the launch of  
Tourism Australia’s new collective,  
Discover Aboriginal Experiences.

 ● Tourism Australia and 48 partners 
host an Australia stand at the  
world’s leading tourism show,  
ITB Berlin.

 ● Walkabout Japan, Tourism  
Australia’s premier trade event 
for Australian tourism businesses 
to engage with Japanese travel 
agencies, is held in Karuizawa.

 ● Tourism Australia and Tourism 
New Zealand host the European 
Product Workshop in London,  
an opportunity for sellers of new 
tourism products to meet with 
key buyers from the UK and 
continental Europe.

 ● Tourism Australia extends its  
support of the Australian business 
events industry by launching its  
new $12 million Business Events  
Bid Fund Program. 

 ● Australia’s top tourism marketing 
conference, Destination Australia,  
is held for the fourth time, 
in Melbourne.

 ● Over 1,000 airline, airport  
and tourism delegates attend  
Routes Asia 2018 in Brisbane.

 ● Tourism Australia holds  
industry briefings in 
Margaret River, Perth  
and Melbourne.

 ● Japan’s largest travel company, 
JTB, signs a new Memorandum 
of Understanding with 
Tourism Australia.

 ● Business Events Australia 
hosts the Australia stand  
at the Asia Pacific Incentives 
and Meetings Event, 
promoting Australia’s  
business events offering.

 ● The second phase of 
Tourism Australia’s youth 
campaign kicks off, with  
new key distribution  
partners in Europe.

 ● Tourism Australia  
launches its $36 million 
Dundee campaign during  
the Super Bowl broadcast 
(see below). The campaign 
is aimed at boosting the 
value of American tourism 
Down Under.
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 ● Tourism Australia and Tourism 
NT co-host an industry 
briefing in Darwin.

 ● The Australian Tourism 
Exchange is held in Adelaide 
for the first time since 2010, 
in partnership with the 
South Australian Tourism 
Commission (see below right).

 ● Leading international  
and Australian media  
gather on the Gold Coast for  
a welcome event ahead of 
the opening of the Gold Coast 
2018 Commonwealth Games 
(see below left).

 ● Tourism Australia’s specialist 
unit Business Events Australia 
hosts the Australia stand – with 
17 Australian business events 
suppliers and destinations – at 
IMEX Frankfurt. 

 ● Darwin welcomes its first  
ever direct service from China, 
operated by Donghai Airlines.

 ● Tourism Australia, the 
Australian Embassy in Vienna, 
travel trade representatives 
and journalists celebrate 
the launch of the Australia–
Austria Work and Holiday 
Visa Arrangement.

 ● Tourism Australia launches 
the fourth edition of its Great 
Australian Airfare Sale in India, 
bringing together eight full-
service and low-cost airlines 
to secure early bookings 
to Australia.

 ● Tourism Australia, Tourism  
and Events Queensland,  
and Brisbane Airport  
welcome Malaysia Airlines’ 
return to Brisbane.
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2.4  VISITOR NUMBERS  
AND SPEND
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We welcomed 9.1 million international visitors 
in 2017. These visitors injected more than 
$42.5 billion into the Australian economy.

Sources: Australian Bureau of Statistics, Overseas Arrivals and Departures, 
June 2018; Tourism Research Australia, International Visitor Survey, June 
2018; Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development, June 2018.

^Percentage change refers to year-on-year change in number of seats.

Figure 5: Visitor numbers and spend in Australia
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2.5 AWARDS 2017/18
Awards won by Tourism Australia and its marketing programs

CONSUMER AND TRADE MARKETING

Ad Campaign of the Year – Dundee (Tourism Australia with Droga5 and UM) Mumbrella Awards

Social Idea of the Year – Aussie News Today (Tourism Australia with  
Clemenger BBDO, One Green Bean and UM)

Mumbrella Awards

Highly Commended, Award for Bravery – Dundee (Tourism Australia  
with Droga5 and UM)

Mumbrella Awards

Titanium Lion (Titanium) – Dundee Cannes Lions

Silver, Travel (Film) – Dundee full cast trailer Cannes Lions

Silver, Excellence in Audience Engagement or Distribution  
Strategy for Branded Content (Entertainment) – Dundee

Cannes Lions

Silver, Travel (Film) – Dundee official Super Bowl trailer Cannes Lions

Silver, Use of Branded Content Created for Digital or Social (Media) – Dundee Cannes Lions

Bronze, Use of Branded Content Created for Digital or Social (Media) –  
Aussie News Today

Cannes Lions

Gold, Use of Social Platforms (Media) – Aussie News Today Cannes Lions

Gold, Travel (Social and Influencer) – Dundee Cannes Lions

Gold, Reach and Impact (Social and Influencer) – Dundee Cannes Lions

Silver, Social Video (Social and Influencer) – Dundee Cannes Lions

Gold, Multi-platform Social Campaign (Social and Influencer) – Dundee Cannes Lions

Silver, Excellence in Audience Engagement or Distribution  
Strategy for Branded (Entertainment) – Dundee

Cannes Lions

Tourism Board – Lisa Ronson, Tourism Australia Women in Travel Awards

Women in Travel Power List – Lisa Ronson, Tourism Australia (number eight) Women in Travel Awards

Best International Youth Destination – Australia British Youth Travel Awards, UK

Gold, Travel and Leisure – There’s nothing like Australia SABRE Awards, South Asia, India

Most Engaged Tourism Board: North America – Tourism Australia Virtuoso Alliance Partner Awards, USA

Innovative Performance Advertising Campaign Google Performance Honours Awards, 
Indonesia

Gold, Excellence in Loyalty Marketing – Enrich Hearts Australia  
(Tourism Australia and Enrich, Malaysia Airlines’ frequent flyer program)

advertising + marketing Magazine’s 
Marketing Excellence Awards, Malayasia

My Favourite Travel Destination 2017 – Australia Travel + Leisure, China

Top 10 Best Moments Ads of 2017 – Tourism Australia WeChat Moments, China

Best Overseas Self-driving Tour Destination 2017 – Australia Road Trip Festival and I-Driver Awards, 
China

Excellence in Marketing Initiative: International Tourism Board – 
Tourism Australia

Times Travel Awards, India

Top 10 Destinations – Australia 2018 ShanghaiWow Hotel and  
Travel Forum and Award Ceremony

Canadian Food and Drink Writing Award – Tourism Australia Travel Media Association of 
Canada Awards
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Awards won by Tourism Australia and its marketing programs

CONSUMER AND TRADE MARKETING

Best PR-led Brand Partnership Campaign – The World’s 50 Best Restaurants 
2017 (Tourism Australia with The Cru)

Mumbrella CommsCon Awards

PR-led Event or Activation of the Year – Noma Australia (Tourism Australia with 
The Cru)

Mumbrella CommsCon Awards 

Best Use of Native or Content Marketing – Aussie News Today  
(Tourism Australia with Clemenger BBDO, One Green Bean and UM)

Mumbrella Travel Marketing Awards 

Best Influencer Campaign – Noma Australia (Tourism Australia with The Cru) Mumbrella Travel Marketing Awards

Honouree, Best Practices – australia.com The Webby Awards, USA

Honouree, Best User Experiences – australia.com The Webby Awards, USA

Excellence in Content Marketing and Velocity – Dundee Adobe Experience Business Awards, USA

Excellence in Business Impact through Optimization Adobe Experience Business Awards, USA

Excellence in Managing Optimized Customer Experiences – Dundee Adobe Experience Business Awards, USA

Gold, Government: Visual – Dundee (Tourism Australia with Droga5 NY) The NOW Awards

2017 Top Destination – Australia National Geographic Traveller  
Golden Awards, China

Gold, Best Product/Service Promotion – Aquatic and Coastal JCDecaux, China

Best Achievement in Marketing, Communications or Sponsorship –  
The World’s 50 Best Restaurants 2017

Australian Event Awards 

Best Marketing Campaign – Savour Australia U Magazine Travel Awards, Hong Kong

Best Promotion Video – Explore Queensland with Vincent Ng U Magazine Travel Awards, Hong Kong

BUSINESS EVENTS MARKETING

Best Overseas NTO in China promoting BT-MICE TTG China Travel Awards, China

Best MICE (Meetings, Incentives, Conferences and Exhibitions) Destination Miracle Workers Awards, China

Best Marketing for 2017 MICE China Forum &  
Awards Ceremony, China

Best Outbound Destination Marketer of the Year BOAO Direct Selling Summit, China

Best MICE Destination of the Year DM Today, China

Most Popular Overseas MICE Destination MICE STARS of China Meetings 
Industry Convention

Best Destination for Promoting MICE in China China National Tourism Awards, China

CORPORATE

Silver Award – Tourism Australia Annual Report 2016/17 Australasian Reporting Awards

Best Practice, 2016/17 Annual Performance Statement Department of Finance Review

Top 50 Most Innovative Companies (number 13) Australian Financial Review  
Most Innovative Companies

Employer of Choice: Work–Life Balance HRD Employer of Choice Awards

Employer of Choice: Recruitment and Onboarding HRD Employer of Choice Awards

Table 6: Tourism Australia’s awards, 2017/18



Bawaka, NT
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TOURISM AUSTRALIA 35

PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
OVERALL RESULT: PERFORMING WELL. KEY DELIVERABLES ACHIEVED.

3.1 GROW DEMAND
Objective: Identify and target best-prospect consumers and inspire them to travel to Australia. To focus 
activities and resources, use a dedicated market categorisation approach. (Source: Portfolio Budget 
Statements 2017–18, Budget Related Paper No. 1.9 – Foreign Affairs and Trade Portfolio, page 163.)

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS:

 ● Delivered integrated marketing campaigns  
under the There’s nothing like Australia and 
There’s nothing like Australia for business events 
brand umbrellas across 15 markets.

 ● Integrated more than 200 partners through 
There’s nothing like Australia cooperative 
marketing campaigns that helped deliver more 
than $61 million in partnership marketing revenue.

 ● Reached 28 million people through PR, media and 
influencer-hosting activities, which had an EAV of 
$259 million.

 ● Generated more than 14,000 media articles  
from our Dundee campaign activities, with  
an EAV of $85 million.

 ● Attracted 19.7 million unique visitors to  
australia.com, up 12 per cent year on year.

 ● Increased social media followers across  
Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, Weibo, WeChat  
and other channels from 12 million in 2016/17 to 
14.2 million in 2017/18 – an 18 per cent increase.

 ● Launched a dedicated marketing campaign  

to attract more working holiday makers and 
youth travellers to Australia, reaching more  
than 316 million people globally.

 ● Increased the frequency of brand tracking  
from annually to quarterly, heightening 
consumer insights that helped inform and 
improve marketing activities in key markets.

 ● Delivered the Consumer Demand Project in 
partnership with state and territory tourism 
organisations, providing a shared foundation  
on which to develop future campaigns. The 
research was also used to inform the tourism 
industry about potential opportunities to  
build the value of Australian tourism.



THERE’S NOTHING  
LIKE AUSTRALIA
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Sal Salis, Ningaloo Reef, WA

There’s nothing like Australia continues to be 
our global brand campaign. We have invested 
$750 million in this platform since its launch in 2010.

In 2017/18, we continued to use this platform  
to promote Australia, highlighting the country’s 
best attractions and experiences, and inviting 
target consumers to visit Australia and immerse 
themselves in our unique way of life.

UNDERPINNED BY CONSUMER INSIGHTS

Global travel decisions are complex. We rely on 
dedicated annual consumer demand research 
to help us better understand what influences 
consumers who are considering a holiday in 
Australia and to identify opportunities to better 
position Australian tourism. 



Our consumer research continues to be vital 
in helping to develop our marketing activities. 
We know that Australia has a great story that 
consumers want to hear. We have a world-class 
natural environment; exceptional food and wine; 
warm and welcoming people; and a unique, 
relaxed lifestyle that visitors love.

Over the past five years, we’ve focused our 
international marketing activities on these  
core pillars, notably through our successful 
Restaurant Australia campaign and, more  
recently, by showcasing our incredible aquatic  
and coastal experiences. 

We continued to market these core pillars in 
2017/18, harnessing support from our global 
tourism ambassador, Chris Hemsworth. We also 
undertook complementary activities to promote 
premium, youth and Indigenous travel.

Later in this report, you can read about some 
examples of how these themes were woven  
into our marketing activities across our key 
international markets in 2017/18.

There’s nothing like Australia was designed as  
a flexible platform, allowing us to add new chapters 
to enhance our rich and varied story. In 2017/18,  
we launched two new campaigns: Dundee and 
Aussie News Today. 

Both campaigns illustrate the power of great 
creative ideas and the value of successful 
collaboration. They also reflect a deliberate move 
towards bigger, bolder marketing programs that 
focus heavily on driving conversion, and a conscious 
decision to use Australians to help tell our story.

AUSTRALIA'S CORE STRENGTHS

Figure 6: Australia’s core marketing pillars

AQUATIC AND COASTAL
Standalone and partnership 

campaigns with state and territory 
tourism organisations, airlines and 
key distribution partners to provide 

easy access for consumers to  
book their trip to Australia.

FOOD AND WINE
Integrated campaigns in partnership 

with airlines, key distribution partners, 
and state and territory tourism 

organisations. Extended the legacy 
of hosting The World’s 50 Best 

Restaurants awards in 2017.

YOUTH
Dedicated global campaign  

focusing on increased visitation  
and expenditure by youth travellers 

from around the world, with particular 
emphasis on working holiday makers.
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In February 2018, we used the Super Bowl to launch 
one of our most daring campaigns. Featuring some 
of Australia’s biggest celebrities and one of the 
country’s greatest film icons, Dundee: The Son 
of a Legend Returns Home was designed to grab 
attention and reignite bookings from North America.

This was a tourism campaign like no other. It was 
disguised as a big-budget Hollywood remake, starring 
Chris Hemsworth, Danny McBride and a supporting 
cast of Hollywood heavyweights such as Russell 
Crowe, Margot Robbie and Hugh Jackman. We also 
used a traditional studio promotional campaign, 
releasing a series of short teaser films in January.

A carefully orchestrated PR and social media 
campaign encouraged fans to tune in and watch  
the ‘official movie trailer’ during the Super Bowl.  
As 103.3 million Americans watched during the 
half-time break, all was revealed: Dundee was  
not a real movie, but an elaborate advertising 
campaign for Australia. Behind the ad were more 
than 20 carefully selected distribution partners,  
each primed with specific offerings to push into  
the market as the ad went to air.

DUNDEE:  
THE SON OF  
A LEGEND 
RETURNS HOME

industry  
partners

agency  
partners

media partners 
including Google, 
Facebook and YouTube

21 KEY DISTRIBUTION PARTNERS
(including Expedia and Travelzoo)

Campaign creative from Dundee: The Son of a Legend Returns Home, featuring Chris Hemsworth and Danny McBride.

We partnered with Qantas, Wine Australia, American Airlines and key distribution partners to generate an additional $11.3m in value. 
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In the weeks following the Super Bowl reveal,  
we engaged other well-known Australians  
such as Curtis Stone and Matt Wright to tell  
their own stories of our culture, food and wine, 
coastal lifestyle and wildlife – all delivered with 
irreverent Aussie humour. This content is part of 
a two-year strategy that serves to demonstrate 
why Americans should choose Australia for 
their next holiday, helping to maintain the 
momentum of the campaign. 

The initial feedback was overwhelming. Adweek, 
The Washington Post and USA Today ranked 
Dundee among the best Super Bowl ads. It was 
also ranked as the most-viewed Super Bowl 
campaign by AdAge/Visible Measures. 

The $36 million campaign – which was 
supported by Qantas, American Airlines and 
Wine Australia – is our biggest in the USA since 
Paul Hogan’s Come and say G’Day ads more 
than 30 years ago.

The USA is a critically important market  
for Australian tourism. It is ranked second  
in terms of expenditure and third in terms  
of visitor arrivals. And while awareness of 
Australia and intention to visit are improving 
among Americans, conversion is still low.  
This, combined with a favourable exchange  
rate, strong aviation capacity and highly 
competitive airfares, meant the timing  
was right for a big push in the USA.

Our Dundee campaign has two long-term 
targets: to make Australia the most desired, 
considered and intended destination to visit  
by 2020 among our target consumers in the 
USA, and to increase the value of the USA 
market, currently $3.7 billion, to $6 billion 
by 2020. 

The campaign is still in its early stages with 
plenty more to come, but the initial results  
have been extremely positive. Dundee has 
helped deliver more than 367,000 commercial 
leads to our campaign partners, a 30 per cent 
increase in sales and about a 20 per cent lift 
in yield. 

In the 1980s, the original Crocodile Dundee  
film put Australia on the map for Americans.  
Our Dundee campaign aims to do the same  
for a whole new generation of affluent and 
discerning American travellers.
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BEHIND THE SCENES

Behind-the-scenes images of the filming of Dundee, featuring Chris Hemsworth, Danny McBride and the original Crocodile Dundee, Paul Hogan.
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 Qantas and Tourism Australia share the same vision for tourism – a strong industry that 
makes Australia the first choice for travellers from all over the world. This year’s viral 
Dundee campaign in the USA showcased Australia’s unique charms to audiences of 
millions. It saw a record volume of traffic on our website and is a great example of how  
we can work with our partners to showcase all that Australia has to offer. 
Vanessa Hudson, Chief Customer Officer, Qantas 

Dundee campaign key results

Objective Results at 30 June 2018

Grow the USA market to $6 billion by 2020 On track

Make Australia the most desired, considered and intended destination  
to visit by 2020 among target consumers in the USA

On track

Table 7: Dundee campaign results

Qantas Vacations  
reported increased web traffic 

and DOUBLE the number  
of enquiries within the first 

24 hours of the ad airing

Aspire Down Under saw a  
30% jump in leads compared  
to the same period last year,  
with related sales expected  

to increase by 42% year on year

4× more web traffic the week  
after the launch, with key partner 
Down Under Answers receiving 

ongoing enquiries about Australia 

Total leads generated  
from australia.com

Television commercial ratings 
– 10th most watched program 

in the USA ever

Media articles Equivalent Advertising Value

Audience reached 
through articles

Coveted advertising 
awards

Increase in sales to the trade

Video views on social media

DUNDEE CAMPAIGN RESULTS

Figure 7: Dundee campaign results



In addition, we launched a world-first content 
partnership with BuzzFeed. The BuzzFeed Mates 
program followed eight young travellers and 
aspiring content creators from the UK, France, 
Germany and Italy on a three-month roving road 
trip assignment around Australia. Our ‘BuzzFeed 
Mates’ reported on their life-changing experiences 
and helped inspire others to follow in their footsteps. 
The unique collaboration delivered more 330 pieces 
of content, reaching a global audience of nearly 
157 million people.

The second phase of the campaign focused on 
conversion, with key distribution partners including 
StudentUniverse (UK), HM Touristik (Germany), STA 
Travel (Germany and France), Australie Autrement 
(France), Cercle de Vacances (France), WEP (Italy) 
and Go Study (Italy) signing up to drive youth and 
working holiday maker bookings to Australia.

Since its launch, Aussie News Today has reached 
millions of people globally via media coverage,  
social media and australia.com. We are now working 
on new content for the next phase of the campaign, 
which is expected to commence in early 2019.
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Young travellers between the ages of 18 and  
30 make up 25 per cent of all international visitor 
arrivals to Australia (2.1 million) and 46 per cent of 
international visitor spend ($18.7 billion). They also 
stay longer, spend more and disperse more widely 
throughout the country than other target segments. 

But with a slight decline in Working Holiday Visa 
applications in recent years, we were tasked 
with finding a new way to connect with this 
lucrative sector. 

We did this by launching Aussie News Today,  
a social-led campaign that highlighted uniquely 
Australian content from across the country.  
We enlisted three young, charismatic Aussies  
to act as news anchors: Wallabies rugby union  
player Nick Cummins (aka ‘The Honey Badger’),  
television presenter Teigan Nash and former Home  
and Away star Lincoln Lewis.

In the first phase of the campaign, we gathered 
uniquely Australian content that was shared with  
a global audience via our Aussie News Today digital 
and social media channels, including Facebook 
and Instagram campaign pages, and a dedicated 
news hub on australia.com. We also encouraged 
Australians, Australian tourism businesses, 
young travellers and working holiday makers to 
submit news ideas and content via the hashtag 
#AussieNewsToday.

AUSSIE NEWS TODAY

Nick 'The Honey Badger' Cummins  
reports for Aussie News Today from  
the top of the Sydney Harbour Bridge.
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Celebrating the launch of Aussie News Today, from left: John O’Sullivan,  
Nick ‘The Honey Badger’ Cummins, Lincoln Lewis and Teigan Nash.

 Not only are youth today the higher-yielding top-end tourists of tomorrow, they are the first adopters. 
Tourism Australia are leading the way and ensuring Australia stays relevant and authentic in an ever 
changing world. 

Peter Burke, Managing Director, Travellers Autobarn

YOUTH INDUSTRY ENGAGEMENT

We continue to draw on the expertise and insights of the Australian youth travel industry through the 
Youth Industry Advisory Group, which is made up of representatives from hostel groups, tour providers, 
transportation companies and working holiday maker work specialists.

We also continue to work directly with the trade, including sponsoring the Australian Village at 2017's 
World Youth and Student Travel Conference, held in September in Montreal, Canada. This gave more 
than 20 Australian youth operators and 30 delegates a space in which to conduct appointments during 
the event.

Aussie News Today campaign key results

Objective

To make Australia the #1 most desired destination to visit among global youth by 2020 At 30 June 2018

To grow the global youth market from $17.5 billion to between $23.3 billion and  
$28.3 billion by 2020 On track ($19.0b)

To grow the global working holiday maker market from $3.2 billion to between  
$4.3 billion and $5.2 billion by 2020 On track ($3.1b)

Table 8: Aussie News Today campaign results

Media reach Unique visitors to the  
Aussie News Today website

Leads to partners
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Remarkable Rocks, Flinders Chase National Park, Kangaroo Island, SA

SIGNATURE EXPERIENCES OF AUSTRALIA

Our campaigns are underpinned by a range 
of important partnerships and programs, each 
designed to highlight Australia’s unique and 
distinctive tourism experiences. One of the most 
important of these industry partnerships is our 
Signature Experiences of Australia program.

 Signature Experiences of 
Australia provides a solid and 
inspiring platform to assist with 
growing the market. Without 
this a single product or region 
can do little to increase the 
sales channels. Signature 
Experiences of Australia 
is an awesome catalyst. 
Craig Wickham, Managing Director,  
Exceptional Kangaroo Island, SA
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Classic Larapinta Trek by Australian Walking Holidays, West MacDonnell Ranges, NT

Formerly branded as the Best of Australia, this 
program packages and promotes some of Australia’s 
most outstanding tourism experiences within  
a variety of niche and special-interest categories.

Signature Experiences of Australia is supported  
by extensive global research and lies at the heart  
of our strategic focus on higher-yield travellers. 
It is also one of the key pillars that supports and 
strengthens our competitive positioning under 
There’s nothing like Australia. 

The program continued to evolve and grow  
during 2017/18. It now comprises the following  
seven distinct collectives that represent more  
than 150 tourism operators and 550 engaging, 
immersive and authentic experiences 
across Australia:

 ● Australian Wildlife Journeys

 ● Discover Aboriginal Experiences

 ● Great Fishing Adventures of Australia

 ● Great Golf Courses of Australia

 ● Great Walks of Australia

 ● Luxury Lodges of Australia

 ● Ultimate Winery Experiences Australia.

 Collaborating works for the Signature 
Experiences of Australia group – it’s 
more than just individual collectives, 
it’s the power of what can be 
achieved with a collective voice across 
unique experiences in one country 
destination. It’s efficient and effective 
– the crossover and opportunities 
are limitless, growing all the time. 
This program is a global leader in 
collective marketing.
Gina Woodward, Executive Officer,  
Great Walks of Australia
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Walkabout Cultural Adventures, Tropical North Queensland, QLD

 I’m excited to be in the Discover Aboriginal Experiences collective. For me,  
as an Aboriginal owned and operated business, I see the value in being  
represented by our leading tourism industry bodies. It provides opportunities  
and avenues to increase marketing and representation on a domestic and 
international level, campaigns, brochures, trade shows, etc. For the visitor,  
to have cultural tourism operators in an easily identified collection allows  
them to find true, authentic and reputable cultural experiences, and really 
showcases the Aboriginal tourism aspect of Australia. 
Juan Walker, Owner/Operator, Walkabout Cultural Adventures, Tropical North Queensland, QLD
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SUPERYACHTS AUSTRALIA

The Australian superyacht sector is making 
a significant and increasing contribution to 
the Australian visitor economy, generating 
$190 million each year in international visitor  
and crew expenditure.

Although the superyacht sector is not currently 
part of the Signature Experiences of Australia 
program, it is under the program’s auspices.

In 2017/18, we worked with Superyachts  
Australia to help grow its share of this lucrative 
travel segment, jointly promoting Australia  
as a cruising destination for private and 
charter yachts.

We undertook a range of destination 
marketing activities targeting relevant media 
representatives, influencers and decision 
makers. This included developing new content 
and promotional collateral, supporting trade 
and media familiarisations, and attending key 
trade shows such as the Monaco Boat Show, 
and the Australian Superyacht and Marine 
Export Conference.

The most recent addition to the program is 
Discover Aboriginal Experiences. This collective 
comprises 38 export-ready tourism businesses and 
more than 130 experiences from around Australia. 
All the experiences are authentic and guided by 
Aboriginal people who share personal stories to 
bring the landscape and their culture to life.

Discover Aboriginal Experiences offers an array  
of activities and tours. Visitors can, for example,  
taste bush tucker, experience the healing powers  
of nature, discover ancient rock art, take a dot 
painting class or enjoy outback dining under the 
stars. We actively promote the collective through  
a range of trade, marketing and distribution 
activities and resources, including fact sheets,  
an extensive collection of images and videos  
that can be downloaded free of charge, and  
training modules to help educate travel agents.

This collaborative approach is indicative of the 
Signature Experiences of Australia program. 
It allows global trade and media partners to 
access multiple products and experiences 
through a single point of contact, inspiring new 
product development, creating demand, driving 
conversion and, most importantly, triggering  
a ripple effect that benefits the broader industry.

 With the wukalina Walk being accepted into the Discover Aboriginal 
Experiences collective, we are so pleased to have such a quality Indigenous 
experience representing Tasmania and participating in international trade 
events and famils (familiarisation programs). 
Annabelle Sweetman, Sector and Niche Marketing Coordinator for Tourism, Tourism Tasmania

wukalina Walk, Bay of Fires, TAS

Masteka II, Sydney Harbour, NSW



PUBLIC RELATIONS,  
BROADCAST AND MEDIA HOSTING

Our PR program remained integral to 
our marketing activity across all markets,  
supporting global campaigns and major  
events through generating advocacy, positive 
publicity and word-of-mouth for Australian  
holiday experiences. In 2017/18, we reached  
28 billion people through PR, media and  
influencer-hosting activities that had an  
EAV of $259 million.
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Media and influencer hosting, and broadcast activity 
were undertaken across print, digital, social media 
and television to influence travel to Australia through 
motivational storytelling. We hosted approximately 
1,000 influential lifestyle and travel media representatives 
as well as visiting opinion leaders and digital influencers 
from around the world.

Our advocacy program continued through our Friends 
of Australia activities, which work on the principle 
that positive word-of-mouth via credible, trustworthy 
and inspiring sources can be the most persuasive 
form of marketing. To support our PR and marketing 
activities in 2017/18, we continued to work with our 
Friends of Australia, including Chris Hemsworth, our 
global ambassador.

Highlights of our Friends of Australia program  
in 2017/18 included Nick Cummings, Teigan Nash 
and Lincoln Lewis starring in the Aussie News Today 
campaign; Curtis Stone in Canada and the USA; Jock 
Zonfrillo in Brazil; Matt Moran at SXSW in Austin, Texas, 
and Dreamtime 2017; Brad Farmer’s 101 Best Beaches  
for 2018; and Jessica Mauboy performing at G’day USA 
and launching Discover Aboriginal Experiences.

We continued to create, curate and edit destination 
news, and share information about new experiences, 
trends and events. The news was distributed across  
our digital and traditional media platforms and 
shared with industry and state and territory tourism 
organisations for use on their platforms.

In 2017/18, we supported key events such as the 
Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games (and  
its Queen’s Baton Relay), the Ashes Test cricket  
series in the UK, consumer events in China for the 
China-Australia Year of Tourism, and the G’Day USA 
program in North America.

Chris Hemsworth and his wife Elsa Pataky enjoy a walk along Whitehaven Beach, QLD
As featured on @chrishemsworth

People reached through PR

Earned advertising value of
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 Growing up in Australia, you can sometimes take it all for granted.  
I certainly did, but after being away for 10 years and coming back,  
exploring some of the most beautiful places I’ve ever seen reminded 
me how unique and impressive Australia is and how lucky we are. 
Chris Hemsworth, actor and global ambassador for Tourism Australia

Chris and Elsa explore the Berkeley River  
in the Kimberley, WA 

G’Day USA
The G’Day USA LA Gala celebrated its 15th 
anniversary, honouring prominent Australians  
from film, television, music, sport and culture. 
Guests enjoyed a special menu curated by Curtis 
Stone and learned more about Australia’s aquatic 
and coastal, nature and wildlife, and food and 
wine experiences through a digital display of 
Dundee-inspired video and still imagery. Actor 
Rachel Griffiths, musician Jessica Mauboy and 
Outback Wrangler Matt Wright joined more than 
200 influential American travel professionals and 
media at the function.

SXSW
As part of the G’Day USA program, we also 
supported the first ever AUSTRALIAHOUSE 
activation at South by Southwest (SXSW), 
featuring the best of Australia’s food and wine 
with Curtis Stone and Matt Moran. Influencers, 
consumers, VIP media and government officials 
came together to showcase the best of Australian 
innovation, trade, business, music, film, and food 
and wine to the influential SXSW audience. The 
event showcased on-site cooking demonstrations, 
live streams of the Quiksilver and Roxy Pro surfing 
competitions from the Gold Coast and a panel 
discussion on how to take a working holiday 
Down Under.

FRIENDS OF AUSTRALIA 

The following are examples of how we integrated our Friends of Australia into the G’Day USA program, 
working with the Australian Consulate in Los Angeles to amplify our Dundee campaign activity.



Visitors to Tourism Australia's websites, 2017/18

Website Number of unique visitors in 2017/18

australia.com 19.7 million (up 12 per cent year on year)

australia.cn (China) 6.1 million (down 6 per cent year on year)

Partner sites (China) 4 million (up 19 per cent year on year)

Aussie Specialist sites 0.31 million (up 121 per cent year on year)

Table 9: Overview of visitors to Tourism Australia's websites, 2017/18
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DIGITAL STRATEGY

Tourism Australia’s digital strategy during 2017/18  
saw a shift towards greater personalisation and 
targeted content across our suite of websites.  
More articles were translated and rolled out 
across the 11 australia.com language sites, and we 
introduced dynamic content recommendations,  
a trip planner and sign-on, enabling users to ‘favourite’ 
content and share it with their family and friends –  
or an Aussie Specialist, who can then help them 
book a trip to Australia. We also continued our 
data-sharing program with partners, providing 
insights into consumer behaviour that are used  
to refine digital marketing activities.

Visitors to Tourism Australia’s websites

In 2017/18, there were 36.5 million unique visitors  
to Tourism Australia’s websites – a year-on-year 
increase of 11 per cent. Australia.com performed well, 
with year-on-year growth of 12 per cent. While unique 
visitors to australia.cn were down by 6 per cent year 
on year, there was an increase in unique visitors to 
partner campaign websites in China, which was 
the result of our data-sharing strategy. There were 
4 million visitors to partner sites at 30 June 2018, up 
from 3.4 million at 30 June 2017. During the past year, 
our data-sharing capability has improved significantly 
and will be core to our digital marketing and 
reporting going forward.

year-on-year 
rise in visitors  
to our sites

year-on-year
growth for 
australia.com

 Calmsley Hill City Farm has 
experienced awesome benefits 
and exposure from sharing social 
media images with Tourism 
Australia, which has assisted in 
developing our international 
business and exposure. 

@calmsley_hill 
As featured on @australia

CALMSLEY HILL CITY FARM (NSW)
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MARIA ISLAND (TAS)

@davishinton 
As featured on @australia

SOCIAL MEDIA

In 2017/18, Tourism Australia’s social media program 
continued to focus on enabling consumers and 
the tourism industry to share their own stories 
and experiences. We recognise the importance 
and authenticity of user-generated content from 
industry and travellers, showcasing this content 
throughout our marketing activities. This involved 
sharing content on Tourism Australia’s Facebook, 
Twitter and Instagram sites, as well as on Weibo  
and WeChat in China – reaching a collective 
audience of more than 14 million.

We have and will continue to strive to maintain 
our digital marketing leadership through our 
social media programs, focusing on stimulating 
conversations about Australia through social 
platforms. These platforms give Australian tourism 
businesses the chance to showcase their product  
and experiences to a global audience. More 
user-generated content will be integrated  
across all marketing channels.

Tourism Australia's social media followers, 2017/18

Platform Followers at 30 June 2018 (million) Link/handle

Facebook 8.85
www.facebook.com/See Australia 

www.facebook.com/AussieNewsToday

Twitter 0.66 @Australia; @TourismAus; @MeetinAustralia

Instagram 3.17 @Australia

Weibo 0.95 www.weibo.com/seeaustralia

WeChat 0.45 tourismaustralia

Table 10: Overview of Tourism Australia's social media followers, 2017/18

MATT WRIGHT INSTAGRAM TAKEOVER 

Matt Wright, also known as the ‘Outback 
Wrangler’, hosted @Australia Instagram Stories 
in January, taking viewers behind the scenes 
to experience a day in the life of the Outback 
Wrangler as he fed crocodiles, piloted choppers 
above fields of wild brumbies and fished for 
barramundi in remote waterholes. This was 
the second Instagram takeover trialled by our 
global PR and social media teams aimed at 
using our relationships with Friends of Australia 
and other advocates, providing deeper insights 
into the Australian way of life and extending our 
potential reach by tapping into our advocates’ 
channels of influence.

Outback Wrangler Matt Wright cuddles  
a wallaby, As featured on @mattwright1
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PARTNERSHIPS

Tourism Australia continued to work with partners to increase  
our target customer reach and yield, boost investment in 
promoting Australia, enable conversion to booking and facilitate 
industry development. These partnerships bolstered our 
marketing efforts around the globe.

Our partnership strategy is based on alignment with our target 
audience and market portfolio, in addition to leveraging growth 
opportunities for Australia. Our strategy involves working with 
commercial partners that enable us to engage and convert  
target customers; extending campaigns through partnerships with 
the states and territories; and working with airlines, airports, and 
states and territories to sustain existing aviation capacity  
and develop new routes.

During 2017/18, we worked with more than 200 partners, that 
collectively contributed $61.6 million in partnership revenue. Airlines 
were our largest partners, contributing 35 per cent, followed by 
key distribution partners (26 per cent), state and territory tourism 
organisations (17 per cent), event participants (12 per cent), 
accommodation, affinity and media partners (5 per cent), and 
business events partners (4 per cent).

Our significant partnerships  
in 2017/18

Air China

China Eastern Airlines

China Southern Airlines

Ctrip

Etihad Airways

Qantas Airways

Singapore Airlines

STA Travel

Virgin Australia

Table 11: Tourism Australia's significant 
partnerships in 2017/18

Airline partnerships

Airline partnerships were 
undertaken to help build and 
maintain Australia’s air travel 
capacity and access, and continue 
to build Australia’s attractiveness 
as a long-haul destination among 
target customers. This included 
marketing partnerships with 
18 airlines around the world.Airlines 35%

Key distribution partners 26%

State and territory tourism organisations 17%

Event participants 12%

Other 5%

Business partners 4%

200 partners 
collectively 
contributed

Killcare Beach, Killcare, NSW

Figure 8: Tourism Australia's partnerships in 2017/18 by category
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Key distribution partners
In 2017/18, we partnered with approximately 150 
key distribution partners worldwide. Campaigns 
helped to tell the story of why There’s nothing like 
Australia, providing packages and options designed 
to meet target customer needs. These partners 
included Qantas Vacations and About Australia 
in North America; Ctrip and CYTS in China; JTB 
and JALPAK in Japan; Hanatour and Interpark in 
South Korea; STA Travel and Detour in Continental 
Europe; Thomas Cook and MakeMyTrip in India; 
Chan Brothers and Dynasty Travel in Singapore; 
and Flight Centre and Trailfinders in the UK.

WORLD ROUTES AND ROUTES ASIA

In 2017/18, we participated in World Routes 
(Barcelona, Spain) and Routes Asia (Brisbane, 
Australia) in partnership with Australia’s airports 
and states and territories. Thirteen Australian 
aviation partners exhibited as part of Team 
Australia at World Routes in Barcelona, where 
senior decision makers from the world’s leading 
aviation organisations gathered to discuss, 
develop and plan network strategy. The event 
attracted 3,000 aviation professionals.

Routes Asia, Brisbane
We played a key role in coordinating Routes 
Asia in March, attracting a record number of 
participating exhibitors on the ‘Team Australia’ 
stand, including 14 Australian airports and state 
and territory tourism organisations, 100 per cent 
of which were satisfied with their participation. 
Tourism Australia achieved its objectives, which 
included attracting 1,000 high-level delegates 
Down Under, attaining high event satisfaction 
ratings and securing commitments for a pipeline 
of future air services to Australia. The success 
of the event in Brisbane bodes well for World 
Routes coming to Adelaide in September 2019.

The Team Australia stand at Routes Asia in Brisbane, QLD



Sea turtle, Great Barrier Reef, QLD
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GOLD COAST 2018 COMMONWEALTH GAMES 

We collaborated with Tourism and Events Queensland 
and Destination Gold Coast to maximise the tourism-
related benefits of hosting the XXI Commonwealth 
Games. Marketing activities focused on enhancing 
the image of the Gold Coast and Australia in our 
international target markets of the UK, Singapore, 
Malaysia, India and Canada.

Our tailored program showcased must-see destinations 
and activities visitors should experience when 
travelling to Australia by hosting over 30 international 
and domestic media representatives/organisations, 
influencers and athletes, including acclaimed British 
triathletes the Brownlee brothers, Alistair and Jonny,  
on familiarisation trips.

Other highlights included being the official tourism 
authority of the Queen’s Baton Relay – International 
Sector, reaching 38 million viewers with our dedicated 
social media program, airing a Gold Coast television 
special with Astro Arena in Malaysia (page 66) and 
working with one of Canada’s largest digital 
publications, The Daily Hive, on a three-part digital  
and social series on the Gold Coast that generated  
more than 32 million impressions.

ONE VOICE

Tourism Australia is committed to driving alignment 
in policy, research, distribution and marketing as  
we work with government and industry partners  
to deliver on Tourism 2020.

In 2017/18, we continued to work with state and 
territory tourism organisations to manage the 
Aussie Specialist Program platform and training 
team, deliver research and insights, and enhance  
the Signature Experiences of Australia program. 
The aim of this work was to deliver quality, efficient 
programs that benefit the Australian tourism 
industry and its target consumers.
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British triathletes Alistair and Jonny Brownlee show their support at the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games.

 Tourism and Events Queensland has a longstanding working partnership  
with Tourism Australia that continues to deliver great outcomes for Queensland  
and Australian tourism. Hosting the biggest event in Australia this decade,  
the Commonwealth Games, could not have achieved such amazing tourism 
outcomes without the work and support of our Tourism Australia colleagues. 
Leanne Coddington, Chief Executive Officer, Tourism and Events Queensland

We continued to partner with federal, state and 
territory government departments and agencies to 
develop and promote a strong brand for Australia. 
Key federal partners during the year included 
Austrade, the Department of Foreign Affairs 
and Trade, the Department of Home Affairs, and 
the Department of Infrastructure and Regional 
Development. We also continued to work closely 
with state and territory tourism organisations 
to help integrate and align international 
tourism promotions.

Chief executives and heads of marketing from 
Tourism Australia and the state and territory  
tourism organisations met throughout the year 
to share insights and discuss plans in the fields of 
research, campaign development and marketing 
channels, aviation, distribution, trade events 
and trade missions. Tourism Australia and state 
and territory tourism organisations also worked 
closely on the roll-out of multiple campaigns for 
There’s nothing like Australia.
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Consumer engagement campaign with Meitu,  
one of the leading mobile photo apps in China. 

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS 
AROUND THE WORLD

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

The China-Australia Year of Tourism, an open 
capacity aviation agreement and significant visa 
reforms have contributed to notable growth from 
the Chinese market. In 2017/18, Tourism Australia led 
a delegation of 65 Australian sellers at the Greater 
China Travel Mission and 31 Australian sellers at  
the Greater China Premium Travel Showcase.

Consumer engagement campaign with Meitu 
Amid the growing importance of advocacy via 
social media, we launched a consumer engagement 
campaign in China aimed at increasing brand 
advocacy and intention to travel to Australia among 
Chinese high-value travellers. We worked with Meitu, 
one of the leading mobile photo apps in China, 
to develop a dedicated campaign page where 
consumers could interact with our brand and  
upload user-generated content.

We encouraged consumers to upload photos 
from their Australian holiday. This helped them 
recall their holiday and at the same time stimulated 
destination awareness via their social channels. 
Within two weeks of launching the campaign, we 
attracted 561,293 unique visitors to the campaign  
site and received more than 50,000 photos. The 
winning shots were published on australia.cn  
and displayed in Shanghai’s city centre during  
Golden Week. The winners received return airfares 
to Australia, sponsored by our airline partner 
China Southern Airlines.

As part of the second phase of the campaign,  
we developed an interactive Photoshop game 
featuring Tourism Australia’s ambassador for  
the China-Australia Year of Tourism, well-known 
Chinese actor Wu Xiubo. The game achieved 
overwhelming results: there were close to 2 million 
page views and 1.4 million Chinese consumers 
played. We also welcomed Wu and his family  
to Australia on a 15-day familiarisation trip to 
encourage more Chinese travellers to visit Australia. 
Video content and images captured during the visit  
were shared across digital and social channels.

CHINA

Within two weeks of Meitu campaign

photos received

unique visitors to campaign site

ABOUT VISITORS FROM CHINA  
(As at 30 June 2018)

1,421,500 $11.3 billion

per week inbound seats
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Partnership with China Eastern Airlines
During 2017/18, we worked with China Eastern 
Airlines on dedicated campaigns to promote  
travel between Australia and China. Specifically,  
we promoted the airline’s direct flights from  
China to three main gateways in Australia: Sydney, 
Melbourne and Brisbane. China Eastern Airlines 
developed a tailor-made Australian product page  
on its website and booking app that featured 
various travel packages to encourage conversion. 
The packages included airfares, as well as day 
tours and visas via a local travel agency.

This campaign was the first in which we have  
shared data with a Chinese airline. China Eastern 
Airlines gave us exclusive access to campaign 
site data, which allowed us to track and optimise 
campaign performance – including unique visitors, 
bounce rates, time spent on site and click-through 
rates – in real time. Data sharing enabled us 
and China Eastern Airlines to better understand 
consumer demand, helping us to refine elements of 
the campaign and stimulate conversion. In just three 
weeks, we secured almost 500,000 unique visitors, 
a 60 per cent landing rate and more than 300,000 
click-throughs on the campaign landing page.

Partnership with the South Australian Tourism 
Commission and China Southern Airlines
We worked with the South Australian Tourism 
Commission and China Southern Airlines on 
dedicated campaigns to promote travel between 
China and South Australia. China Southern Airlines 
operates the only direct flight from mainland China 
to Adelaide, making it a key airline partner for 
South Australia. In 2017/18, we used the celebrity 
endorsement of South Australia’s new tourism 
ambassador, actor Huang Xiaoming, to enhance 
destination awareness in China and drive conversion 
of a China Southern Airlines special offer.

During 2017/18, the campaign generated more  
than 3.38 million clicks, with average lead rates 
reaching 16 per cent. More than 160,000 people  
read South Australia’s tourism guidebook on  
a travel vertical website. Most importantly, we  
have seen significant improvements on China 
Southern Airlines’ Adelaide route, which recorded  
a load factor as high as 94 per cent during the 
Chinese New Year period and an average load  
factor of 79 per cent.

An advertisement with China Eastern Airlines promoting 
Queensland as the destination of choice for Chinese travellers.

South Australia’s new tourism ambassador, actor Huang Xiaoming 
encourages Chinese visitors to travel to South Australia via China 
Southern Airlines.
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CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

Airline partnerships strengthen 
mid‑haul positioning
In 2017/18, Tourism Australia and the state  
and territory tourism organisations worked  
with Virgin Australia, Cathay Pacific, Qantas  
and Singapore Airlines on marketing activities 
to improve visitor numbers to Australia and 
expenditure on Australian holiday experiences.  
Given Australia’s position as a repeat, mid-haul 
holiday destination among the mature Hong Kong 
market, we focused on promoting key messages 
such as ‘This time tomorrow’, ‘Catch your next  
family adventure’ and ‘Winter experiences’.  
In Hong Kong, Australia is the preferred travel 
destination outside of Asia, with the country’s  
fresh produce, seafood and natural attributes 
offering strong appeal for high-value travellers.

Hong Kong now offers more than 100 direct  
weekly flights to Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane,  
Perth, Adelaide and Cairns, so this was a perfect  
time to launch the campaign. Our airline  
partnership campaigns encouraged consumers  
to visit Australia by promoting attractive offers and 
exciting itineraries via out-of-home, social media, 
digital display, television and print advertising. 
Promotions exceeded booking targets.

We worked with Virgin Australia to develop  
a cooperative campaign in support of the airline’s 
recently launched service between Melbourne  
and Hong Kong. The promotion, which showcased 
the unique experiences visitors to Australia could be 
enjoying ‘This time tomorrow’, was well received by 
Hong Kong consumers and has already generated 
significant interest.

HONG KONG
ABOUT VISITORS FROM HONG KONG 

(As at 30 June 2018)

298,600 $1.3 billion

Hong Kong now offers more than 
100 direct weekly flights to Australia 
(Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane, Perth, 
Adelaide and Cairns)

An airline partnership campaign with Cathay Pacific uses attractive offers and exciting itineraries to encourage  
consumers in Hong Kong to visit Australia. 

per week inbound seats
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New tourism products and  
experiences showcased in Hong Kong
In 2017/18, we showcased the best of the Northern 
Territory and Victoria on The Sisterhood Travelling 
Gang, a 10-episode travelogue that aired on 
Hong Kong’s most watched Cantonese channel, 
TVB. The travelogue not only showcased Australia’s 
aquatic and coastal, food and wine, cultural and 
wildlife experiences, but also generated buzz around 
Australia being a safe country to visit. A single post 
on Weibo from actress Myolie Wu during the shoot  
was seen by 9.6 million fans. The travelogue attracted 
significant exposure in Hong Kong, China, Malaysia 
and Singapore. It even won the Best Infotainment 
Program 2017 award in Malaysia.

Members of The Sisterhood Travelling Gang, a 10-episode travelogue aired on Hong Kong’s most watched Cantonese channel. 

The great outdoors is an appealing concept for 
sophisticated Hong Kong travellers, presenting 
an opportunity to escape from the hustle and 
bustle of daily life. However, camping is a relatively 
uncommon activity among most Hong Kong 
consumers as the country has few sophisticated 
camping sites. Australia’s glamping sites provide 
an ideal alternative for lovers of nature and the 
outdoors, featuring renowned wildlife encounters 
and diverse landscapes that are out of reach for  
the standard tour group traveller.

In partnership with Destination NSW, Tourism 
and Events Queensland, Tourism Tasmania, Visit 
Victoria and YMT (trading as HYFCO), we introduced 
glamping experiences to the Hong Kong market. 
The new products offer Hong Kong consumers 
a variety of glamping options, including unique 
experiences like sleeping under the stars; a do-
it-yourself barbecue night; and activities such as 
kayaking, bushwalking and horse riding.

Single post from Myolie Wu was seen by

fans on Weibo
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CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

New Qantas service lures  
Japanese travellers Down Under
In December 2017, we kicked off a new joint 
marketing campaign in Japan with Qantas. 
The campaign promoted the airline’s new 
service between Kansai (Osaka) and Sydney, 
which commenced on 14 December, as well 
as its existing services from Tokyo to Brisbane, 
Melbourne and Sydney. An estimated 20 million 
Japanese consumers saw the campaign’s digital 
and out-of-home advertising at train stations 
and on trains in Osaka and Tokyo. The campaign 
aimed to promote all of Qantas’ gateway cities, 
helping to attract more Japanese high-value 
travellers to Australia.

JAPAN
ABOUT VISITORS FROM JAPAN 

(As at 30 June 2018)

442,300 $1.8 billion

WALKABOUT JAPAN

Forty-four Japanese travel agents and 
wholesalers met with 49 Australian tourism 
businesses at Walkabout Japan, Tourism 
Australia’s annual premier trade event for 
engaging with Japanese travel agencies in 
market. The program featured one-on-one 
appointments, networking opportunities,  
and a visit for sellers to two of Japan’s leading 
travel agency networks, JTB and H.I.S.

Then then Minister for Trade, Tourism and Investment, 
the Hon. Steven Ciobo, MP, visits the country to sign 
a milestone agreement with Japan's largest travel 
company, JTB. 

Japanese consumers saw the campaign's 
digital and out-of-home advertising at train 
stations and on trains in Osaka and Tokyo

Japan’s largest travel agency launches  
global destination campaign with Australia
In 2017, we signed a new agreement with Japan’s 
largest travel company, JTB, to run a nationwide 
promotional campaign focusing on the Australian 
market. JTB ran the campaign in 2018, promoting 
holidays Down Under through its network of 
approximately 500 travel stores. The campaign 
involved marketing activities aimed at increasing 
travel to Australia for both leisure and business 
events, and is projected to result in a 10 per cent 
increase in sales in 2018. JTB is also a sponsor  
of Australia Now, an eight-month program in  
Japan initiated by the Department of Foreign 
Affairs and Trade to showcase our innovation, 
lifestyle and creativity.

Partnerships with Japan Airlines
In collaboration with Visit Victoria, we  
supported the launch of Japan Airlines’  
new direct service from Narita International 
Airport (Tokyo) to Melbourne. The increase in 
capacity provides more options for Japanese 
high-value travellers, opening up Victoria’s 
world-class offerings to this target audience. 
It also complements the existing services 
available from Melbourne, which is an important 
international gateway to other destinations. 
Japan Airlines has also recently introduced its 
newest fleet of Boeing 787-8 aircraft on flights 
from Japan to Australia, representing another  
win for the Japanese market.

per week inbound seats
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CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

Using the reach of influencers in trend‑savvy Korea
In 2017/18, we continued to focus on partnerships 
and working with influencers to drive this fashion-
conscious market. Two pairs of Korean celebrities 
took part in the hit travel show Battle Trip, in which 
Brisbane and the Gold Coast competed against 
Cairns in a destination battle. We partnered with 
Tourism and Events Queensland to promote these 
locations ahead of Korea’s peak winter holiday 
season, together with sales of Jin Air’s direct  
flights to Cairns.

More than 8.9 million viewers in South Korea and 
across Asia tuned into the first two episodes of  
a new series with K-pop group WINNER showcasing 
Western Australia. Four episodes of New Journey  
to the West – Youth over Flowers were shot in Perth, 
Fremantle, Rottnest Island, Margaret River and the 
Pinnacles Desert. We also launched a major digital 
campaign using clips from the series to promote 
Western Australian holidays to the Korean market.

Partnerships with Hanatour and SK broadband
We signed our largest partnership for the year with 
South Korea’s biggest travel company, Hanatour, 
which named Australia as the ‘Destination of 
the Month’ for September 2017. Now in its fourth 
consecutive year, this partnership has continued 
to grow through each iteration, with the latest 
targeting the Busan market for the first time.

We also partnered with Korea’s largest 
telecommunications company, SK broadband, to 
showcase Australia’s aquatic and coastal experiences 
to millions of viewers. The partnership uses all 18  
of our 360-degree experiences in an effort to  
inspire users to select Australia as their next 
holiday destination.

SOUTH KOREA
ABOUT VISITORS FROM SOUTH KOREA 

(As at 30 June 2018)

304,400 $1.7 billion

We partnered with SK broadbrand to showcase Australia’s 
360-degree aquatic and coastal experiences to millions 
of viewers.

K-pop group WINNER showcases Western Australia via four 
episodes of New Journey to the West – Youth over Flowers. 

viewers in Korea and across Asia tuned into  
the first two episodes of a new series with K-pop 
group WINNER showcasing Western Australia

per week inbound seats
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Friend of Australia Parineeti Chopra’s 
Australian sojourn
In August 2017, Bollywood celebrity and social 
media powerhouse Parineeti Chopra joined 
our Friends of Australia ambassador program. 
Following her appointment, Parineeti explored 
Queensland and the Northern Territory, sharing 
her Australian journey with more than 36 million 
fans on social media. She also created videos 
that received more than 5.9 million views. Her 
Queensland video, which featured a background 
track sung by Parineeti, trended on Twitter with 
the hashtag #ParineetiInAustralia for close to 
six hours. The project generated a total EAV 
of $650,000. Keen to explore more, Parineeti 
returned to Australia in April 2018 to discover 
Sydney, Melbourne and Hamilton Island – a trip 
that has so far generated an EAV of $115,000. 

INDIA
ABOUT VISITORS FROM INDIA  

(As at 30 June 2018)

335,000 $1.5 billion

Bollywood celebrity and Friend of Australia Parineeti Chopra in the Northern Territory with a local dot painter. 

fans shared content on social media  
and videos received 5.9 million views

per week inbound seats
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INDIA TRAVEL MISSION 2017 

Tourism Australia hosted the 15th annual India 
Travel Mission, in Pune, from 16 to 19 August 
2017. Renowned Australian cricketer Michael 
Clarke was an honorary guest at the event, 
which was attended by more than 80 Australian 
sellers and 100 Indian buyers. The India Travel 
Mission helps the Australian tourism industry 
to establish business relationships with key 
qualified travel agencies and tour operators 
from India’s main cities. The event was a major 
success, with both buyers and sellers reporting 
100 per cent satisfaction.

Tourism Australia hosts the 15th India Travel Mission in Pune. 

Parineeti gets into the spirit of the Gold Coast 2018 
Commonwealth Games in Queensland. 

Rocky & Mayur’s Offbeat Australia
India’s favourite globetrotting duo, Rocky Singh  
and Mayur Sharma, collaborated with us to create  
an exclusive broadcast series for Australia. Titled 
Rocky & Mayur’s Offbeat Australia, the 16-episode 
series introduced Indians to the offbeat and 
unconventional side of the land Down Under and 
its amazing culinary scene. This fun, quirky series 
was shot across five states and territories – the 
Northern Territory, South Australia, New South Wales, 
Queensland and Victoria – and aired on popular Indian 
travel channel Living Foodz between September  
and November 2017. The series was supported by 
Living Foodz’s social media platforms and various  
PR activities, generating an EAV of $1.3 million.

Airline Marketplace 3.0
Following the success of the first two editions, 
we launched the third iteration of the Airline 
Marketplace on 1 November 2017. This three-week, 
industry-first initiative aims to inspire users to plan 
their next holiday to Australia by offering competitive 
airfares from eight airlines, including Scoot, AirAsia X, 
Air India, Cathay Pacific, Malaysia Airlines, Qantas, 
Singapore Airlines and Thai Airways. The sale was 
advertised on digital media and supported by online 
travel partners such as MakeMyTrip and Yatra. During 
the campaign, airline partners recorded more than 
25,000 bookings, a 41 per cent year-on-year increase.

 I have had such a great time travelling around Australia.  
It’s just been an instant connect with the destination and  
the people, and advocating it has really been effortless. 
Parineeti Chopra, Bollywood celebrity and Friend of Australia

Partnership with India’s leading online 
travel agent, MakeMyTrip
We worked with MakeMyTrip to promote  
a unique ‘Australia week’ sale to inspire Indians  
to visit Australia. Users could book hotels, flights  
and travel packages to Australia at unbelievable 
prices, and access attractive cashback offers  
from banking partners such as HSBC. The sale  
was conducted in two phases and advertised  
via MakeMyTrip’s digital assets, mobile app and 
third-party platforms. MakeMyTrip also supported 
our Airline Marketplace campaign by promoting  
the offers across its website, app and social media. 
The partnership has resulted in an impressive  
76 per cent increase in bookings to Australia  
for MakeMyTrip.
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CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

Partnership with Bank Central Asia
In 2017/18, we worked with Bank Central Asia  
(BCA) to undertake a multichannel marketing 
partnership and consumer travel fair targeting 
high-value travellers. The first phase of the campaign 
used bought and owned media, promoting sale fares 
to Australia that consumers could book through our 
key distribution partner platform. The campaign 
focused on Jakarta and Surabaya, and aimed to drive 
visitation and yield growth in Australia through the 
use of BCA credit cards.

The partnership culminated in the first ever 
Tourism Australia–led consumer-facing travel fair 
in Indonesia. Over four days, five key distribution 
partners and four airline partners converted more 
than 1,000 passengers to Australia via BCA credit 
cards. An estimated 500,000 consumers were 
inspired by the event, which included live shows, 
radio broadcasts, experiential zones, influencer  
talk shows and appearances by characters from 
Warner Bros. Movie World on the Gold Coast.

INDONESIA
ABOUT VISITORS FROM INDONESIA 

(As at 30 June 2018)

203,800 $0.8 billion

A session at Tourism Australia and Bank Central Asia’s four-day 
consumer-facing travel fair in Indonesia. 

The trade show floor at Tourism Australia and Bank Central Asia’s 
consumer travel fair. 

Garuda Indonesia partnership
Our campaign with Garuda Indonesia entered  
its fourth consecutive year in November 2017 and 
continued to build on its success. The multichannel 
partnership aims to stimulate demand during the 
off-peak and shoulder seasons by offering sale fares 
to key Australian gateways. Marketing activities 
targeted consumers in Jakarta and Surabaya, 
building on the increasing number of Indonesian 
travellers flying to Australia with Garuda Indonesia. 
We optimised the effectiveness of our media 
channels by using embedded tracking codes  
across digital marketing activities, which also 
enabled us to analyse the campaign’s performance 
in greater detail. Key distribution partners took 
advantage of the opportunity to promote the sale 
fares through advertising and retail sales promotions. 
The partnership included International Media 
Hosting Program activities across all major gateways, 
featuring influencers and leading media groups. The 
campaign once again exceeded sales and marketing 
targets. Garuda Indonesia remains a critical strategic 
partner for Tourism Australia in Indonesia.

converted to Australia via BCA credit cards 

per week inbound seats
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CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

Strengthening key distribution  
partner campaigns in 2017/18
Throughout 2017/18, we continued our always-on 
approach to conversion in Singapore through 
partnerships with major travel retail and distribution 
players in Singapore – including Chan Brothers 
Travel, Dynasty Travel International, UOB Travel 
Planners, Travix, Holiday Tours & Travel, Scenic Travel, 
Farmosa Holiday Tour and Pacific Arena. Our partners 
showcased There’s nothing like Australia experiences, 
focusing on cosmopolitan cities, as well as accessible 
aquatic and coastal, nature and wildlife, and food and 
wine experiences. Campaign activities also linked to 
Aussie Specialist agents, who helped consumers book 
their trips to Australia. Our work with key distribution 
partners drove conversion and generated a significant 
increase in overall bookings to Australia.

Perfect Pairing with Qantas
In April 2018, we launched various campaign 
activities with Qantas in Singapore and Indonesia. 
Our idea was to market two cities in a ‘Perfect 
Pairing’ tagline, emphasising travel to Australia 
via Qantas. We focused on the shoulder and low 
seasons, using digital channels and supported 
tactical offers from the airline. The campaign aimed  
to increase consumer intention to visit Australia 
while also positioning Qantas as the airline of choice. 
The latest results indicate that the campaign  
has performed strongly and has the potential  
to develop further in the coming years.

Partnership with Singapore Airlines
In 2018, we kicked off an online campaign with 
Singapore Airlines to promote its competitive fares to 
Australia. The all-digital campaign ran for six months 
in Singapore and across South East Asia, showcasing 
Australia’s food and wine, and aquatic and coastal 
experiences. The Singapore Airlines partnership – one 
of Tourism Australia’s longest – continued to deliver 
strong results in 2017/18.

SINGAPORE
ABOUT VISITORS FROM SINGAPORE 

(As at 30 June 2018)

432,7.00 $1.4 billion

A digital banner from Tourism Australia’s ‘Perfect 
Pairing’ cooperative campaign with Qantas, aiming  
to entice consumers to visit Australia, with Qantas  
as the airline of choice. 

per week inbound seats



MALAYSIA
CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

Highlighting the Gold Coast 2018 
Commonwealth Games
In partnership with Tourism and Events Queensland, 
we rolled out a series of initiatives around the 
Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games, raising 
awareness of holiday experiences on the Gold Coast 
and encouraging travel bookings after the Games 
ended. The campaign kicked off with the Queen’s 
Baton Relay in Kuala Lumpur. The Games mascot 
Borobi participated in the event alongside the 
Malaysian team mascot, Rimau.

Borobi also invited Rimau to visit the Gold Coast.  
The trip was covered by Malaysian sports broadcaster 
Astro Arena in a two-part G’day Gold Coast special 
that followed the pair’s adventures as Borobi took 
Rimau on a tour of the Gold Coast. The program  
was aired to an audience of 1 million viewers and 
gave them a sneak preview of the Games Village  
and some of the Gold Coast’s world-class venues.

We also launched a cooperative campaign  
involving content and travel packages from  
selected key distribution partners that were 
promoted via social media. The campaign aimed 
to encourage bookings to the Gold Coast via the 
Commonwealth Games page on australia.com.  
This page was one of the top 10 most viewed on  
the website for a period of months surrounding  
the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games.  
The campaign resulted in an 18 per cent  
increase in bookings.

Partnership with Malaysia Airlines
We worked with Malaysia Airlines to deliver  
a campaign in Malaysia that featured Australia’s 
unique nature and wildlife, cosmopolitan cities,  
and aquatic and coastal experiences. This was our 
first ‘always-on’ campaign. We used a programmatic 
media approach and retargeting to encourage 
target customers to travel during off-peak seasons 
and to plan and book their holidays earlier. The 
campaign ran between March and June 2018 and 
was very successful, exceeding booking. We also 
picked up a Marketing Excellence Award for our 
campaign with the Malaysia Airlines loyalty program, 
Enrich, which encouraged frequent flyers to use 
their points on a trip Down Under.

ABOUT VISITORS FROM MALAYSIA 
(As at 30 June 2018)

393,600 $1.3 billion
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Borobi takes Rimau on a tour of the Gold Coast,  
providing a sneak preview of the Games Village. 

 We consider our Gold Coast 
2018 Commonwealth Games, 
partnership with Tourism Australia, 
in conjunction with Astro Arena 
(the official broadcaster) and the 
Olympic Council of Malaysia, as 
one of our most exciting (and 
successful) initiatives in Malaysia in 
FY17/18. Collectively, we were able 
to leverage the media opportunity 
presented by the event to hype up 
the Gold Coast. 
Lim Mui Khim, International Director S&SEA,  
Tourism and Events Queensland

G'day Gold Coast program  
was aired to an audience of 

per week inbound seats

Image on right: Tourism Australia and Tourism and Events 
Queensland kick off the Queen’s Baton Relay with the Gold Coast 
2018 Commonwealth Games mascot, Borobi, and the Malaysian 
team mascot, Rimau. 
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CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

#ThisTimeTomorrow partnership 
with Virgin Australia
We ran another round of our successful 
#ThisTimeTomorrow cooperative marketing 
campaign with Virgin Australia this year. The 
campaign aims to break down the perceived 
barriers to visiting Australia, including time 
and distance, showing consumers the unique 
Australian experiences they could be enjoying 
#ThisTimeTomorrow. Popular news and travel 
websites such as USA TODAY and Travelzoo  
featured inspiring holiday ideas, while wholesale 
partners Aspire Down Under, About Australia and 
Down Under Answers put together Australian 
itineraries, supported by Flight Centre USA.

We also shared data with Virgin Australia.  
This enabled us to capture data as consumers 
searched for and planned holidays. It also  
facilitated messaging that drove consumers  
to a landing page where they could explore 
Australian holiday packages. Virgin Australia  
reported solid results, with a significant increase  
in sector bookings and a strong increase in  
revenue compared to the same time last year.

NORTH AMERICA
ABOUT VISITORS FROM CANADA 

(As at 30 June 2018)

172,900 $0.8 billion

An advertising display in New York City as part of the #ThisTimeTomorrow cooperative campaign with Virgin Australia.

ABOUT VISITORS FROM THE USA 
(As at 30 June 2018)

787,600 $3.7 billion

per week inbound seats

per week inbound seats
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AUSTRALIA TOURISM SUMMIT 

The 6th Annual Australia Tourism Summit  
was held from 29 to 30 January in Los Angeles, 
during G’Day USA. The summit brought together 
approximately 200 North American industry 
leaders for discussions and presentations 
about creating the future of Australian tourism. 
Tourism Australia hosted an opening reception 
for senior executives from American and 
Canadian wholesalers, retailers, media, airlines 
and Australian tourism products.

An example of the advertising campaign with online travel 
agency Expedia offering Americans destination highlights  
and flight and hotel offers. 

Expedia partnership
We worked with online travel agency Expedia on a 
new campaign to help make it easier for Americans 
to plan and book an Australian adventure. Supported 
by Visit Victoria, Tourism and Events Queensland, 
Tourism Western Australia and Tourism NT, the 
campaign included destination highlights, flight and 
hotel offers, and an interactive quiz. The campaign 
was a success, with a strong increase in the number 
of potential visitors considering Australia as a travel 
destination, and increases in room nights booked 
and flight sales.

DELEGATES
100% of delegates 
reported satisfaction 
with the event

Figure 9: Australia Tourism Summit outcomes

AUSTRALIA TOURISM SUMMIT

Media
Australian industry
North American partners

Travelzoo partnership
In March 2018, we launched a month-long  
campaign with Travelzoo in Canada. Eight key 
distribution partners offered special packages 
ranging from week-long tours to 24-day luxury 
adventures. The campaign reached more than 
3 million Canadians, encouraging them to  
choose their own adventure in Australia.

Australia’s culinary and coastal experiences  
were also on show at a range of media and 
consumer events in Canada. Friend of Australia  
and chef Curtis Stone spoke at a special Aussie-
themed dinner prepared by the Shangri-La  
Hotel’s chef, for 30 guests from some of  
Canada’s top publications.

Tourism Australia’s Managing Director, John O’Sullivan, on 
stage at the Australia Tourism Summit 2018. 
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CONTINENTAL EUROPE
ABOUT VISITORS FROM FRANCE 

(As at 30 June 2018)

134,300 $0.8 billion

ABOUT VISITORS FROM GERMANY 
(As at 30 June 2018)

208,200 $1.2 billion

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

German content hub
We partnered with professional German travel 
bloggers and influencers to develop new and  
inspiring word-of-mouth content for German 
travellers on australia.com. The content hub 
aims to showcase Australia as the most desirable 
and memorable destination in a personal and 
inspirational way. The articles offered travel advice and 
itineraries, accompanied by compelling offers from 
airlines and other partners such as TravelEssence, 
DER Touristik and Explorer Fernreisen. The new 
content was promoted via search, social, native and 
digital advertising. To date, the results have exceeded 
targets, with a bounce rate of 74 per cent, time on 
site of four minutes, 75,827 unique visitors and, most 
notably, 6,584 partner leads, well above the target 
of 650.

Partnership with Etihad Airways
We worked with Etihad Airways to launch a new 
multichannel marketing campaign in Germany  
that featured some of Australia’s premium and 
unique experiences. The campaign aimed to drive 
bookings to Australia, promote Etihad Airways as the 
carrier of choice, and highlight key destinations across 
Australia’s states and territories. The campaign was 
extended through partnerships with Tourism Western 
Australia and Destination NSW. Etihad Airways offered 
special fares from Frankfurt, Munich, Dusseldorf and 
Stuttgart for travel between 1 February and 30 June. 
Additional joint advertising in France and Italy rolled 
out in January, predominantly via digital channels. 
The campaign was a success, surpassing its targets.

Travel advice and itineraries offered by professional travel bloggers and influencers via the German content hub.

partner leads, 
well above the 
target of 650
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ABOUT VISITORS FROM ITALY 
(As at 30 June 2018)

74,600 $0.5 billion

Travel agents participate in the Australia on Tour Roadshow, learning about the unique experiences Australia has to offer. 

The Australiens Wilde Seiten supplement,  
published in two major magazines in Switzerland. 

Australiens Wilde Seiten campaign 
in Switzerland
We worked with a number of partners – 
including Tourism NT, Tourism Western 
Australia and the South Australian Tourism 
Commission; key distribution partners 
Knecht Reisen and Travelhouse/Skytours;  
and Singapore Airlines – to run one of the 
largest trade campaigns in Switzerland  
over the past two years.

The Australiens Wilde Seiten (‘Australia’s 
Wild Side’) supplement was published in 
two major magazines in Switzerland and 
accompanied by various online activities, 
including a dedicated landing page on 
australia.com. The campaign aimed to  
create awareness of Australia’s self-drive 
offerings, particularly those focusing on 
wildlife, and generate bookings via our 
trade partners.

Australia on Tour Roadshow
More than 100 French travel agents attended  
training sessions in Nantes, Paris and Strasbourg 
along with representatives from Tourism Australia, 
state and territory tourism organisations and 
Singapore Airlines. The agents received an update  
on Australia’s tourism products and experiences,  
and were given the opportunity to win two return 
tickets to Australia via Singapore Airlines. 



CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

#24MillionMates
We launched a video-led digital and social  
media campaign in the UK aimed at increasing  
the number of British travellers visiting Australia for 
the first time. We used Aussie locals to showcase 
why There’s nothing like Australia, including the 
unique experiences that can be enjoyed during  
a two-week holiday. The campaign highlighted  
the 24 million friendly Australian locals who are  
all potential mates, just waiting to share their  
inside knowledge with visitors Down Under.

The campaign featured a dedicated microsite  
on australia.com; user-generated videos and  
images; supporting social content; a media 
partnership with The Telegraph in the UK featuring 
some more ‘mates’; and a competition encouraging 
previous visitors to act as advocates by sharing  
their Australian experiences. We also encouraged 
the industry to take part by uploading clips and 
photos to social media using the #24MillionMates 
and #SeeAustralia hashtags. The campaign  
delivered more than 7.4 million video views and 
346,000 unique visitors to campaign content.

UK
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ABOUT VISITORS FROM THE UK 
(As at 30 June 2018)

742,700 $3.5 billion

One of Australia’s 24 million locals, part of the video-led digital and social media #24MillionMates campaign in the UK. 

#24MillionMates campaign

video views

unique visitors

per week inbound seats



AN EVENING WITH RAY MEARS

Australia House in London welcomed 120 Times newspaper readers for an evening with Ray Mears  
as he launched his latest Australian television series, Australian Wilderness with Ray Mears. The series,  
which first aired on 13 October and ran for seven weeks, reached approximately 20 million viewers.
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Qantas Wild Australia campaign
Drawing on the nature and wildlife theme to  
inspire high-value travellers to choose Australia 
as a holiday destination, we invested in a media 
partnership with Qantas, providing practical 
planning tools to help potential visitors overcome 
the barriers to booking. We showcased two-week 
wildlife experience itineraries accompanied by 
compelling offers from our key distribution partners. 
Our Wild Guide to Australia featured an original 
four-part digital video series with editorial features, 
and an interactive planning tool showcasing wildlife 
itineraries. Most notably, the campaign contributed 
to a 7 per cent year-on-year increase in Qantas 
bookings for travel to Australia.

Partnership with Etihad Airways  
and Flight Centre
We teamed up with Etihad Airways and 
Flight Centre in the UK to launch a joint media 
partnership with The Telegraph. The My Signature 
Dish campaign, which ran throughout January, 
highlighted the rising stars of Australia’s food  
and wine scene and tempted readers with inspiring  
two-week Flight Centre itineraries. The partnership 
was part of a wider multichannel marketing 
campaign with Etihad that used television 
advertising to showcase Australia’s culinary,  
aquatic and wildlife experiences, and Etihad’s 
competitive fares to Australia.

Dundee in the UK
Following the success of the Dundee campaign  
in the USA, which received a lot of attention from 
British media, we launched a Dundee-inspired 
campaign in the UK. The social media promotion 
showcased the Why Australia video series. It also 
promoted a new Dundee hub on the UK edition  
of australia.com, which was tailored for British 
travellers and included holiday offers and two- 
week itineraries from key distribution partners.

Ray Mears launches his Australian television series, Australian Wilderness with Ray Mears. 

 We are pleased to have had the opportunity to 
partner with Tourism Australia on the Wild Australia 
campaign this year. Together, we championed the 
true spirit of Australia, and saw a positive uplift in 
bookings as a result. It’s opportunities like this that 
make a real difference to our partnership. 

Lesley Bauer, Head of Marketing UK and EMEIA, Qantas 
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BUSINESS EVENTS
The business events sector is a major driver of 
our visitor economy, as international business 
events visitors spend more on average than leisure 
visitors while they are in Australia. The sector also 
plays a key role in generating trade, investment 
and employment.

Total expenditure by international business events  
visitors in 2017 was $4.75 billion, continuing the 
trend of an average annual increase of 5 per cent 
every year since 2014. The number of international 
business events visitors reached 1.05 million in 2017, 
continuing the trend of an average annual increase  
of 6 per cent every year since 2014.

In terms of relative size, the international business  
events visitor market was second only to China in 
terms of spend in 2017. 

Our marketing communications and trade 
distribution and development programs targeted 
two specific sectors – association and incentive events 
– with the aim of growing international awareness 
of and preference for Australia as a business events 
destination, helping to convert business and driving 
visitation to confirmed business events.

Kooroomba Vineyard and Lavender Farm, QLD
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To achieve our aims, our dedicated business events unit, Business Events Australia, continued to focus  
on four areas:

1. Strengthening business conversion opportunities for industry through programs – including the  
Business Events Bid Fund Program and Advance Program – and sharing insights on target consumers

2. Building awareness through marketing communications delivered via owned, bought and earned 
channels that target association and incentive decision makers

3. Partnership marketing with the industry to encourage international decision makers to consider Australia 
as a business events destination, and international delegates to attend confirmed events in Australia

4. Distribution development with international business events planners through a program of educational  
and trade events, including Tourism Australia’s signature incentive showcase, Dreamtime.

Number of  
international business  
events visitors reached

Total expenditure  
by international business  

events visitors in 2017

Top four business events markets  
share of total spend
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 Business Events Sydney values its 
collaborative partnership with Business 
Events Australia in marketing Australia as 
the perfect choice for global conventions 
and incentive events. Business Events 
Australia takes the lead role in bringing 
together Australia’s convention industry 
at key global trade events, including IMEX 
Frankfurt and America, IBTM, Associations 
World Congress and its roadshows across 
Asia. Initiatives such as the Advance  
Program and Bid Fund support our efforts  
in competing on the world stage. 
Lyn Lewis-Smith, Chief Executive Officer,  
Business Events Sydney

ACTIVITY HIGHLIGHTS

Business Events Bid Fund Program
In 2017/18, we extended our existing support for 
business events through the $12 million Business 
Events Bid Fund Program, which provides assistance 
to secure new international business events for 
Australia. The then Minister for Trade, Tourism and 
Investment, the Hon. Steven Ciobo, MP, announced 
the new program during a keynote address at the 
2018 Destination Australia conference in Melbourne.

Managed by our dedicated business events unit, 
Business Events Australia, the program is designed 
to increase the success rate of bids for new and 
qualified international business events by offering 
financial support at the critical bidding stage. In  
an increasingly crowded international marketplace, 
the Business Events Bid Fund Program provides 
Australia with a competitive advantage. Funds can 
only be accessed through the program once the 
event is confirmed and contracted for Australia. 
The program started accepting applications on 
1 May 2018, and successful applicants who secured  
a business event were able to access funds from 
1 July 2018.

The funds provided via the program are designed 
to assist with costs such as accommodation, venue 
hire, transport and other event costs incurred in 
Australia. The program complements our existing 
Advance Program, which aims to drive international 
visitation by supporting delegate acquisition 
activities for confirmed international business  
events in Australia.

Team Australia at IMEX Frankfurt 2018.
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Dreamtime 2017
As part of our targeted distribution development 
program in 2017/18, we delivered Dreamtime, Tourism 
Australia’s incentive showcase. The biannual event  
is designed to increase awareness of Australia as  
an incentive event destination. Dreamtime 2017 was 
delivered in partnership with Brisbane Marketing 
and held in Brisbane, Queensland, from 3 to 6 
December 2017.

We hosted 95 international business events planners 
from Greater China, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, the 
USA, Japan, the UK, New Zealand and South Korea, as 
well as 19 international and domestic business events 
media. Representatives of 87 Australian business events 
products and destinations attended the event.

The five-day Dreamtime program included two days  
in the host city for pre-arranged business appointments 
between buyers and sellers, a city showcase and several 
networking events. The following three days were spent 
on educational visits to other Australian destinations, 
showcasing Australia’s strengths in delivering 
incentive programs.

Figure 10: Key outcomes of Dreamtime 2017

DREAMTIME 2017

Appointments 
conducted

Buyer satisfaction

Business leads 
generated

Delegates attend a networking function at Dreamtime 2017.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF DREAMTIME 2017

Delegates at the Dreamtime Dinner at the Watermall, Queensland Art Gallery.

of buyers were satisfied  
with the Dreamtime 

program

of buyers were more 
likely to send business 

to Australia as a result of 
attending Dreamtime 2017

of buyers are now more  
likely to pitch Brisbane  

as a business events 
destination

of the Australian  
industry were satisfied  
with Dreamtime 2017

business leads secured for  
Australia, worth more than 

$100 million

confirmed pieces of  
business secured for Australia, 

worth $22 million

media articles  
generated with a reach of 

207 million people

Figure 11: Dreamtime 2017 highlights 
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Marketing communications
Marketing activities continued to use the Tourism 
Australia brand There’s nothing like Australia 
for business events. We delivered differentiated 
marketing communications to the association  
and incentive sectors with a strong focus on  
content creation, including advertorials, news 
articles, films and graphics.

During 2017/18, we delivered brand communications 
in priority markets through a variety of channels, 
including events, PR, print, digital and social media. 
Our PR activities resulted in more than 330 articles 
in business events trade publications in 2017/18, 
and reached an audience of more than 230 million 
potential customers.

We also raised awareness of and preference for 
Australia through experiential events, including 
a USA client dinner in New York that showcased 
the business events offerings of Ultimate Winery 
Experiences Australia. 

Australia’s then Minister for Trade, Tourism and 
Investment, the Hon. Steven Ciobo, MP, was a special 
guest at the event, which was attended by more than 
50 potential clients, media and guests from the USA. 
We also hosted 50 New Zealand incentive planners 
and guests at an event in 2017/18 that raised the 
profile of Australian major events and their business 
events offerings.

Partnership marketing
In 2017/18, we continued to support the business 
events industry through dedicated partnership 
marketing. Our Advance Program provided marketing 
strategy support and funds to 10 Australian business 
events destinations, suppliers, events and products, 
helping them to increase preference and visitation  
by promoting Australia.

Activities in 2017/18 included targeted digital 
marketing campaigns to increase the number of 
delegates attending confirmed association events 
in Australia, promotional destination films, editorial 
copy for distribution through international trade 
media outlets, and collateral to raise awareness  
of Australia as a business events destination.

Figure 12: Overview of educational trips

EDUCATIONAL TRIPS

Educational trips 
to Australia

Business events customers 
hosted on educational trips 
to Australia

Media representatives 
hosted on educational 
trips to Australia

Australian businesses 
participated in Business 
Events Australia trade 
show activities

Distribution development
As part of our distribution development strategy, we 
represented Australia at international trade shows and 
held distribution development workshops, meetings 
and events with international business events 
decision makers. Business Events Australia received 
a 94 per cent satisfaction rating from Australian 
industry for its distribution development activities.

We also participated in and organised several 
international events that provided the Australian 
business events industry with a platform to develop 
business relationships, update potential customers 
on Australia’s offerings and secure business.  
This included hosting the Australia stand at  
key business events trade shows, including:

 ● IBTM World (Spain)

 ● IMEX Frankfurt (Germany)

 ● IMEX America (USA)

 ● Associations World Congress (Austria).

In addition to these events, we delivered a distribution 
development program that included training 
workshops and networking events across key 
markets to increase target customers’ awareness  
of and preference for Australia.



80 ANNUAL REPORT 2018

The National Museum of Australia, Canberra, ACT



Objective: Develop an Australian tourism industry that is competitive and sustainable,  
and delivers on the needs of the target customer. (Source: Portfolio Budget Statements 
2017–18: Budget Related Paper No. 1.9 – Foreign Affairs and Trade Portfolio, page 165.)

3.2 INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS

 ● Trained 33,948 travel agents through the 
Aussie Specialist Program.

 ● Delivered a program of quality trade events, 
providing platforms for the Australian tourism 
industry to do business with distributors of 
Australian tourism products around the globe. 
This included hosting the Australian Tourism 
Exchange, which was held in Adelaide in April 
2018 and attracted more than 650 buyers  
from 30 countries.

 ● Undertook cooperative marketing with more 
than 150 key distribution partners, strengthening 
campaign messaging and driving trip bookings 
by presenting quality Australian holidays 
to consumers.

 ● Worked with industry to promote quality Australian 
experiences. This included marketing under the 
Signature Experiences of Australia program.

 ● Promoted Australian tourism as part of the 
China-Australia Year of Tourism and G’Day USA.

 ● Supported investment in tourism infrastructure, 
including delivering sales and marketing tools 
for Austrade teams to use with prospective 
international investors; organising investor 
familiarisations in regional Australia; and 
coordinating investor roundtables and meetings 
for Australia’s then Minister for Trade, Tourism  
and Investment, the Hon. Steven Ciobo, MP.

 ● Supported the introduction of new aviation 
capacity, including new routes from China,  
Japan and the USA. The increase in aviation 
capacity has been key to the growth in visitor 
numbers from these markets.

 ● Delivered the Destination Australia conference, 
as well as tourism industry briefings with state 
and territory tourism organisations. Attendee 
satisfaction was high, with 97 per cent of 
conference delegates and 95 per cent of briefing 
participants giving a rating of ‘good to excellent’.
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
OVERALL RESULT: PERFORMING WELL. KEY DELIVERABLES ACHIEVED.

Increasing the quality of Australia’s tourism products and experiences to ensure it is globally 
competitive is key to delivering the Tourism 2020 strategy. We achieve this by training sellers of 
Australian tourism products around the world, and working with the Australian tourism industry 
and state and federal governments to help improve access to – and the development of – Australian 
tourism products, experiences and infrastructure. We also keep the tourism industry informed  
about relevant developments, helping to ensure the collective success of Australian tourism.
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AUSSIE SPECIALIST PROGRAM

Qualified Aussie Specialists

Modules completed

Front-line travel sellers trained

Global training team in

Delivered online in 

Figure 13: Aussie Specialist Program performance

AUSSIE SPECIALIST PROGRAM

The Aussie Specialist Program, which has been 
running for 29 years, is our global online training 
program. It is shared by all eight state and territory 
tourism partners and is designed to provide 
front-line travel sellers from around the globe 
and inbound tour operators in Australia with the 
knowledge and skills to best sell the country.  
In 2015/16, we worked in partnership with state  
and territory tourism organisations to deliver  
a new digital platform. This platform is available 
in 11 languages and includes interactive training 
modules, itinerary suggestions, fact sheets, industry 
news and an interactive map. It has full mobile 
capability, enabling agents to learn anywhere,  
at any time. In 2017/18, we launched a dedicated 
Aussie Specialist website in New Zealand,  
to introduce Kiwi travellers to less familiar  
Australian destinations and experiences.

Since we launched the new website, more than 
200,000 training modules have been completed 
globally. The modules are designed to help 
international travel agents better sell Australia, 
providing them with tips on building itineraries  
as well as in-depth information on Australia’s 
states and territories, key highlights and 
special-interest sectors.

The program is supported and delivered by  
a global training team that provides face-to-face 
training in 15 countries. In 2017/18, more than 
33,000 agents received face-to-face training,  
and the number of qualified Aussie Specialist  
agents increased to 32,000.

In 2017/18, we:

 ● Continued to promote the Aussie Specialist 
Program and Australia to the travel trade  
industry through eDMs, online module 
promotions, training events, roadshows,  
webinars and familiarisations

 ● Worked to ensure the digital platform remains 
engaging, relevant and ahead of competitors’ 
platforms, by developing new modules 
such as Self-Drive Australia and Australian 
Wildlife Journeys

 ● Supported the inaugural Corroboree West

 ● Partnered with state and territory tourism 
organisations to expand the program to  
front-line agents in New Zealand.

 Aussie Specialist is the best program 
going. It offers amazing modules, 
superb webinars and exciting and 
educational opportunities. 
Aussie Specialist, USA

 At Aussie Specialist training 
events, I learned a lot more about 
Australian destinations in all states 
and territories, sales resources and 
itinerary building tips. 
Aussie Specialist, China
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Figure 14: Presence of Tourism Australia’s Aussie Specialist trainers by region, 2017/18
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Corroboree West 2017 on the Gold Coast
Historically, Corroboree only took place in selected 
markets, including the UK and Europe, and China. 
It now takes place annually, alternating between 
Corroboree Asia and Corroboree West each year.

We partnered with Destination Gold Coast,  
Tourism and Events Queensland, Singapore  
Airlines and Virgin Australia to host our inaugural 
Corroboree West from 11 to 13 October 2017 on 
the Gold Coast. This event brought together 126 
of Australia’s leading tourism operators, key trade 
media and around 300 top Aussie Specialists from 
Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Denmark, 
Finland, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, 
Norway, Sweden, Switzerland, the UK and the USA.

The event provided a forum for the Australian 
tourism industry to train qualified Aussie Specialist 
agents and strengthen their product knowledge. 
State and territory tourism organisations hosted 
24 familiarisation visits, giving Aussie Specialist 
agents firsthand experience of quality Australian 
tourism products. Agents also participated in 
scheduled appointments and networking events.

In post-event surveys, all Aussie Specialist 
respondents said they intended to sell more 
Australian experiences as a result of attending 
the event, with 99 per cent saying they felt better 
equipped to sell Australian tourism products.

More than 400 Aussie Specialists in training 
in Shanghai.

AUSSIE SPECIALIST TRAINING  
CARNIVAL IN SHANGHAI

The second annual Aussie Specialist  
Training Carnival took place in Shanghai  
in June, offering a comprehensive update  
on travel to Australia. The event was jointly 
hosted by Tourism Australia and Australia’s  
state and territory tourism organisations.  
More than 400 travel industry professionals 
attended the event, together with Chinese 
airline partners and officials from the Visa  
Office of the Australian Consulate in Shanghai.



The closing ceremony of the China-Australia Year of Tourism formed part of the Greater China Travel Mission in Guangzhou, China.

CHINA-AUSTRALIA YEAR OF TOURISM

The then Prime Minister of Australia, the Hon. Malcolm Turnbull, MP, designated 2017 as the China-
Australia Year of Tourism. The aim of this initiative was to promote Australia to the Chinese market as a 
highly attractive destination, contribute positively to the bilateral relationship by bringing both countries 
together, provide opportunities to engage at every level, and strengthen cooperation.

Tourism Australia supported the China-Australia Year of Tourism via events and  
marketing activities. These included designating Chinese actor and musician Wu Xiubo  
as our ambassador for the China-Australia Year of Tourism; signing Memoranda of  
Understanding with the Bank of China, Ctrip and China UnionPay; hosting the Greater  
China Travel Mission and the closing ceremony for the China-Australia Year of Tourism;  
and announcing Amway’s decision to select Cairns for a 6,000-strong incentive trip in 2018.
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BUILDING GOVERNMENT AND BUSINESS LINKS

In 2017/18, we took part in G’Day USA, the China-Australia Year of Tourism and tourism talks with Singapore. 
The purpose of these events is to showcase Australia’s capability in the tourism sector, highlight Australia as 
a tourism destination, provide the Australian tourism industry with meaningful business opportunities and 
facilitate a strong connection with the Australian Government.

A performance from the closing ceremony for the China-Australia Year of Tourism.
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Portsea, VIC

AVIATION GROWTH

Air access is fundamental to the growth of 
tourism in Australia and to achieving our Tourism 
2020 objectives. To support the growth of aviation 
capacity to and around Australia, we worked with 
airlines, airports, and state and territory tourism 
organisations during 2017/18 to identify aviation 
gaps and opportunities.

International aviation capacity has grown  
by 49 per cent since the launch of the Tourism 
2020 strategy in 2009. In 2017, capacity 
increased by 5 per cent. Australia has bilateral 
agreements with Canada, India, Indonesia, 
Hong Kong, Malaysia, South Korea, Qatar and 
the United Arab Emirates. It also has ‘open skies’ 
agreements with New Zealand, China, Japan, 
Singapore, the USA and the UK.

AUSTRALIA AND INDIA AGREE  
TO AN OPEN AVIATION MARKET

Australia and India reached a landmark 
agreement in 2018, allowing Indian and 
Australian carriers to offer unlimited seats to  
six Indian and six Australian cities, and to service 
destinations on a reciprocal basis between and 
beyond both countries. Currently, Air India is the 
only Indian carrier that operates a direct flight to 
Sydney. As the eighth biggest source country for 
travellers to Australia, the announcement bodes 
well for the continued growth of visitor arrivals 
from India.

G’DAY USA 

In January 2018, Australia’s then Minister 
for Trade, Tourism and Investment, the 
Hon. Steven Ciobo, MP, attended G’Day USA. 
Now in its 15th year, G’Day USA is Australia’s 
premier cultural and economic diplomacy 
initiative in the USA. It brings together industry 
leaders and key influencers from government, 
business, tourism, academia and the arts. 
Minister Ciobo delivered a keynote address 
at the annual Australia Tourism Summit and 
promoted Australia as a high-quality tourist 
destination. In 2017/18, Tourism Australia used 
the event to showcase Australia’s food and 
wine, coastal and aquatic experiences, and 
luxury offerings.

SINGAPORE TOURISM MEMORANDUM 
OF UNDERSTANDING 

Minister Ciobo signed an updated Memorandum 
of Understanding on strengthening tourism 
cooperation with Singapore in August 2017.  
Under the Memorandum of Understanding, 
Tourism Australia staff members attended tourism 
talks in February 2018 with the Singapore Tourism 
Board and delivered presentations on industry 
engagement and our new Dundee campaign.

AUSTRALIA’S AVIATION LANDSCAPE

flights per week

year-on-year growth

Figure 15: Australia’s aviation landscape, 2017/18

Based on June 2018 data

seats provided

international airline 
services to Australia
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Trade events, 2017/18

Australian events International events

Events delivered by 
Tourism Australia

 ● Australian Tourism Exchange, Adelaide 

 ● Corroboree West, Gold Coast

 ● Destination Australia conference, Melbourne

 ● Industry briefings, various locations

 ● Tourism Australia Open Day, Melbourne

 ● Australia Tourism Summit, USA 

 ● Australia Marketplace, USA 

 ● European Product Workshop, UK

 ● Greater China Travel Mission and Greater 
China Premium Travel Showcase, China

 ● India Travel Mission, India 

 ● Walkabout Japan, Japan

 ● Walkabout South East Asia, Indonesia

Major events attended 
by Tourism Australia 
(excludes business 
events)

 ● Australian Tourism Export Council Meeting 
Place, Perth 

 ● Luxperience, Sydney

 ● Routes Asia, Brisbane

 ● Adventure Travel World Summit, USA

 ● Internationale Tourismus Börse, Germany 

 ● PURE Life Experiences, Morocco

 ● World Routes, Spain

 ● World Travel Market, UK

 ● World Youth and Student Travel 
Conference, Canada

Table 12: Trade events delivered or attended by Tourism Australia, 2017/18

PROVIDING PLATFORMS FOR BUSINESS

During 2017/18, Tourism Australia coordinated  
and participated in international trade shows  
and events to promote Australia as a premier  
travel destination. This included the Australian  
Tourism Exchange – Australia’s leading distribution 
event – and Corroboree West, a combined training 
workshop and familiarisation exclusively for qualified 
Aussie Specialist agents from the UK, Europe and  
the Americas. The events were held in Australia  
and in source markets, allowing the Australian 
tourism industry to meet travel agents and travel 
wholesalers from around the world. The aim of 
participating in these events is to increase the 
presence of Australian tourism experiences in  
the programs of international distributors and  
to connect the Australian industry with buyers  
of Australian tourism products.

 As a major Great Barrier Reef tourism operator  
in Cairns and Port Douglas, the Quicksilver 
Group’s principal source of business is from 
international markets. Tourism Australia has 
been of great assistance as we continue to 
engage our markets, from supporting initiatives 
to brand wholesale shops in strategic mainland 
China cities to emerging markets, participating 
in Walkabout South America, continued 
development in our established markets  
such as North America, and the Aussie  
Specialist and visiting journalist programs. 

Tony Baker, Managing Director, Quicksilver Group

In-market activities included roadshows and events, 
in partnership with state and territory tourism 
organisations and Australian tourism operators. 

Tourism Australia’s USA team celebrates the launch of the Dundee campaign at 2018 Australia Marketplace.
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The Australian Tourism Exchange is the Australian 
tourism industry’s largest annual business-to-business 
event. It aims to bring together Australian tourism 
businesses so they can promote their products directly 
to tourism wholesalers and retailers from around the 
world through a combination of scheduled business 
appointments and networking events. It also provides 
international travel buyers with the opportunity to 
experience Australia’s tourism offerings firsthand 
through pre- and post-event familiarisations.

The Australian Tourism Exchange 2018 was held  
in Adelaide, South Australia, from 15 to 19 April 2018. 
Around 2,200 delegates – including 670 travel buyers 
from 30 different countries, and 1,300 Australian 
industry sellers from 540 companies – attended 
this year’s event. There were 102 new travel buyer 
companies, and 77 Australian tourism businesses  
that attended for the first time. As in previous years, 
the program included the Specialist Buyer Program 
and the International Media Marketplace, which 
allowed international media to meet with Australian 
tourism suppliers in one-on-one appointments. 

The Australian Tourism Exchange was delivered in 
partnership with our host-state partner, the South 
Australian Tourism Commission, and official airline 
partner, Virgin Australia. The connections made at 
the Australian Tourism Event helped deliver around 
$9 million to the local economy during the event. 
Longer term, the event helps to grow Australia’s 
$100 billion tourism industry through establishing 
relationships and future business.

 Tourism Australia is a critical partner for the South Australian Tourism Commission. In the last 
year, we have had the opportunity to partner with Tourism Australia on significant campaigns 
like the Dundee US campaign as well as the Australian Tourism Exchange 2018. Both offer 
South Australia extraordinary opportunities to showcase our destination to a global audience  
and tell the story of South Australia in a creative way. We are thrilled to continue working with 
the passionate and committed Tourism Australia team. 
Rodney Harrex, Chief Executive, South Australian Tourism Commission 

Delegates

Travel buyers from 
520 companies across 
30 different countries

Australian tourism sellers 
from 540 companies

International and 
Australian media 
representatives

Figure 16: Australian Tourism Exchange 2018 fast facts

The trade show floor at the Australian Tourism Exchange 2018  
in Adelaide. 

Delegates pose outside the Adelaide Convention 
Centre at the Australian Tourism Exchange 2018.

AUSTRALIAN TOURISM EXCHANGE 2018 ATE18 FACTS
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Figure 17: Australian Tourism Exchange 2018 post-event 
survey results

AUSTRALIAN TOURISM EXCHANGE 2018

of buyers feel more 
capable of selling 
Australian products

of delegates plan to  
attend the event again

of buyers and sellers 
reported satisfaction 

of delegates rated the  
quality of appointments 
very favourably

of buyers  
intend to sell more 
Australian products

NEW YEAR’S EVE (NSW)

@cityofsydney
As featured on @australia
Photo by Scott Barbour/City of Sydney/Getty Images

 Working with the Tourism Australia (TA) team to put on a successful Australian 
Tourism Exchange (ATE) was definitely a highlight for the South Australian Tourism 
Commission (SATC) – it enabled us to showcase Adelaide and our regions, and the 
TA team were an integral component of making all that goes into a successful ATE 
event. It was immensely fulfilling for our team, a sentiment we know is shared by 
the TA team!  

Brent Hill, Executive Director of Marketing, South Australian Tourism Commission 

Journalists visit the d’Arenberg Cube in McLaren Vale, South Australia 
as part of the Australian Tourism Exchange 2018 Media Program. 
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ATTRACTING INVESTMENT

Partnership with Austrade
Australia needs substantial investment in tourism 
infrastructure to realise its potential. To facilitate  
this, we began a five-year partnership with Austrade 
in May 2012 to attract foreign investment in tourism 
infrastructure that will support the growing visitor 
economy. This included working together to market 
the Australian tourism industry as an attractive 
investment, and facilitating the relationship between 
investors and the state and territory agencies 
responsible for attracting tourism investment.  
We continued to collaborate with the industry 
and state and territory governments through our 
Investment Advisory Panel and the Investment 
Attraction Partnership Group.

Our partnership with Austrade reached its 
conclusion in 2017, so a review was undertaken  
to identify key lessons and recommendations  
for the future of the Australian Government’s role 
in attracting tourism investment. Together with 
Austrade, we decided that the partnership should 
continue and that its strategic direction should  
shift from promoting Australia and attracting  
new investment into capital cities to supporting 
existing investors. In addition, both parties agreed  
to prioritise efforts to attract investment into our  
key leisure destinations by promoting iconic  
regional locations across Australia.

Investment in Australia’s tourism infrastructure
The supply of new rooms is on track to exceed the 
Tourism 2020 goal of adding 20,000 new rooms 
in Australia’s major cities by 2020. The Tourism 
Investment Monitor 2017 reported 39,640 potential 
short-term accommodation rooms in the hotel 
development pipeline.

The tourism investment environment in Australia 
has transformed during the past five years – from 
very little new supply to a strong pipeline of rooms 
under development and an increase in the number 
of existing rooms being upgraded in regional 
destinations. Several new accommodation brands 
have entered the market and more are expected. 
Many factors have driven the demand for tourism 
assets, including increasing visitor demand from 
Asia’s growing middle class; Australia’s stable and 
transparent investment environment; low interest 
rates and favourable foreign exchange rates; and 
increased competition in the debt market. Table 13 
outlines the growth in accommodation rooms over 
the past five years.

Number of accommodation rooms in Australia, 2011/12 to 2017/18 1 
(hotels, motels and serviced apartments with 10 or more rooms)

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Key Australian destinations2 150,433 153,055 154,065 156,343 159,650 164,197 168,080

Total rooms Australia-wide 258,149 262,347 264,012 267,606 271,313 275,700 281,798

Table 13: Number of accommodation rooms in Australia, 2011/12 to 2017/18

1 Source: STR Pipeline Report, Asia/Pacific, June 18. 
2 The key Australian destinations are Adelaide, Brisbane, Canberra, Darwin, the Gold Coast, Hobart, Melbourne, Perth, Sydney and 

Tropical North Queensland (including Cairns).

 Our partnership has ensured that Australia’s tourism and investment strengths 
are well understood internationally. The coordinated approach across 
government has also ensured that a single clear message is being presented 
to the world about Australian opportunities in tourism infrastructure. 
Emma McDonald, Senior Investment Specialist,  
Tourism and Regional Investment, Austrade 



Chapel Hill Winery, SA

INVESTOR FAMILIARISATION IN REGIONAL 
SOUTH AUSTRALIA 

Tourism Australia and Austrade, with support from 
the South Australian Government, hosted a high-level 
investor familiarisation in May 2018 as part of their 
regional tourism investment strategy, showcasing 
Adelaide, Kangaroo Island and McLaren Vale.

90 ANNUAL REPORT 2018

The program was developed with the cooperation 
of local industry, councils and business chambers, 
and regional tourism organisations. It featured 
iconic regional tourism attractions, providing 
a range of investment-ready opportunities, 
examples of successful developments, and the 
opportunity to meet industry experts and local 
government representatives.
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The participants were selected based on their 
investment track record in the tourism sector, 
their familiarity with Australia and their interest 
in investing in regional areas. Follow-up meetings 
and discussions with the prospective investors 
are ongoing, providing the foundation for 
them to participate in future opportunities. The 
familiarisation demonstrated the government’s 
commitment to removing barriers to investment, 
and making information and insights on Australian 
tourism opportunities more readily available to 
prospective investors.

While the primary objective of the program was 
to introduce investors to destinations they might 
not otherwise visit, the familiarisation also created 
an opportunity for local government to listen 
to major global investors and develop a greater 
understanding of the factors driving investment  
in regional tourism.
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 At Pennicott Wilderness Journeys, we are very proud of our partnership with Tourism 
Australia and believe it has been integral to our ongoing business success. We feel part of  
the Tourism Australia extended team, with active working relationships with a wide range  
of staff from [Managing Director] John O’Sullivan and head office to the international 
managers. We appreciate the accessibility of Tourism Australia, and the knowledge shared  
and support received have been instrumental in the development of new products. 
Robert Pennicott, Managing Director, Pennicott Wilderness Journeys, TAS

Bruny Island, TAS
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DESTINATION AUSTRALIA CONFERENCE 

More than 350 of Australia’s tourism leaders 
attended Tourism Australia’s fourth annual 
Destination Australia conference, in March 
2018. The event was held for the first time 
in Melbourne and covered a range of topics, 
including the global economic outlook, 
international consumers and trends in 
marketing. In 2019, the conference will  
be held in Brisbane.

TOURISM AUSTRALIA OPEN DAY 

Tourism Australia held its Open Day in March 
2018 in conjunction with Destination Australia, 
providing industry representatives with the 
opportunity to meet with Tourism Australia 
staff members in one-on-one meetings. 
More than 50 Australian tourism suppliers – 
including 22 Victorian operators alone – met 
with representatives from Tourism Australia’s 
business units, including our international 
market managers, to explore opportunities  
to engage more closely.

WORKING WITH TOURISM AUSTRALIA

Tourism Australia offers a range of resources  
to help tourism businesses with their marketing 
activities and to keep them informed about  
our marketing activities. 

Through our websites, we provide tourism 
research, statistics and insights; access to 
marketing tools such as our image and video 
gallery; and advice on promoting products 
and experiences through our programs. We 
also provide tips on making the most of social 
media; regular updates on our campaigns and 
promotions around the world; information 
on getting involved in our Aussie Specialist 
Program and distribution development 
activities; and resources for the media 
and students.

INFORMING THE TOURISM INDUSTRY ON TRENDS

We delivered a range of communications and 
tools during 2017/18 to keep the tourism industry 
updated on Tourism Australia news, research, 
insights, industry developments and other useful 
tourism data. The Tourism Australia corporate 
website, tourism.australia.com, continues to be the 
central information point for industry, receiving 
a large number of visitors. Our corporate social 
media channels also keep the industry up to 
date in a timely manner. This year, we reached 
150,000 followers on Twitter and 60,000 followers 
on LinkedIn.

We hosted more than 1,500 participants at industry 
briefings delivered in partnership with state and 
territory tourism organisations. These briefings 
provided an overview of our marketing initiatives, 
consumer insights, business events activities and 
partnership opportunities.

During 2017/18, the Tourism Australia Board held  
a number of its meetings outside Sydney so it  
could meet and discuss issues with local industry. 
Meetings were held in Cairns, Adelaide and 
Melbourne, with the remainder held in Sydney.

INDUSTRY ENGAGEMENT

This year, Tourism Australia management and 
staff participated in briefings and events with 
government and industry representatives to build 
their awareness and understanding of our strategic 
direction. Our Industry Relations team also took 
part in more than 1,400 one-on-one meetings and 
attended 86 conferences and events. In addition, 
more than 5,000 industry operators attended 
presentations at our conferences and workshops, 
across 48 locations around Australia.

The Industry Relations team also updated  
the industry on Tourism Australia’s marketing 
initiatives and partnership opportunities, and 
offered tourism news, research, insights and  
other useful data. A series of briefings by visiting 
industry and government representatives provided 
our staff and Executive Leadership team with 
valuable intelligence, updates and insights on 
industry businesses and activities.

Figure 18: Industry engagement

participants at our  
conferences and 

workshops

conferences  
and events

locations around  
Australia

one-on-one 
meetings

acrossrepresented at 

ENGAGING WITH INDUSTRY
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KEY ACHIEVEMENTS

 ● Led initiatives to further strengthen Tourism 
Australia’s corporate values – united, positive, 
genuine, commercial and innovative.

 ● Achieved strong workforce diversity – 73 per cent 
of our workforce is female, 67 per cent of our 
Executive Leadership team is female, 52 per cent 
of our Global Leadership team is female, and 2 per 
cent of staff members in our head office in Sydney 
are of Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander descent.

4.1  PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
 ● Achieved a staff engagement score of  

92 per cent and a Net Promoter Score of +33.

 ● Further automated corporate support  
practices to improve the efficiency of  
transactions and processes.

 ● Continued to enhance our corporate 
infrastructure. This is expected to reduce  
energy costs, provide additional space and 
improve IT services across regional offices.

 ● Launched a new tourism investment  
website on the Adobe platform.

 ● Successfully met the digital demands of the 
Dundee campaign, ensuring responsiveness  
and reliability in the face of the significant 
demand that was generated by the  
high-profile campaign.
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4.2 PEOPLE
STAFF STATISTICS

At 30 June 2018, Tourism Australia employed 
215 people. Of those, 90 (42 per cent) worked 
overseas and 155 (73 per cent) were female.  
The average age of Tourism Australia’s staff 
members is 39.

VALUING DIVERSITY

Women’s development and gender diversity 
continued to be central to Tourism Australia’s 
operations. The female-to-male ratio is 73 per cent  
to 27 per cent. In addition, 67 per cent of our 
Executive Leadership team and 52 per cent  
of our Global Leadership team are women.

INDIGENOUS PARTICIPATION AND EMPLOYMENT

As at 30 June 2018, the percentage of Indigenous 
staff members in Tourism Australia’s head office  
in Sydney was 2 per cent. Tourism Australia  
will continue to work towards the government  
target of 3 per cent by developing relationships  
with agencies that specialise in Indigenous 
placement, as well as with universities (particularly 
the University of New South Wales and University  
of Technology Sydney) to secure talented recruits.

Reconciliation Action Plan
The Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) program 
provides a framework for organisations to support 
the national reconciliation movement. A RAP is  
a strategic document that supports an organisation’s 
business plan. It includes practical actions to drive 
an organisation’s contribution to reconciliation, 
both internally and in the communities in which 
it operates.

Tourism Australia’s Reconciliation Action Plan  
2017–19 aims to create strong and productive 
relationships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples so we can contribute meaningfully 
to ‘closing the gap’. It is also designed to increase 
demand for Indigenous tourism experiences  
by improving trade and consumer awareness  
of their quality and diversity. When we introduced 
our plan, Tourism Australia was the first Australian 
Government agency to achieve Reconciliation 
Australia’s Stretch RAP level, which involved setting 
long-term strategies and goals for our activities.

 We find the Tourism Australia team very 
approachable, genuinely interested in the 
performance of our business and willing to 
assist wherever possible. Many of our in-market 
promotional activities purposely leverage the 
initiatives implemented by Tourism Australia. 

Ray Stone, Executive General Manager, Sales, Marketing  
and Distribution, Voyages Indigenous Tourism Australia

INDIGENOUS CADETSHIPS 

Over the past few years, we have 
developed our Indigenous Cadetship 
Support program. This initiative 
aims to improve the professional 
employment prospects of Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples by 
employing Indigenous tertiary students 
in a cadetship arrangement. Tourism 
Australia employed two cadets in 2017/18. 
They are working with us part time  
while they complete their studies.

CREATING A DEEPER UNDERSTANDING 
OF ABORIGINAL AND TORRES STRAIT 
ISLANDER CULTURES

Tourism Australia staff members had 
the opportunity to learn more about 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
cultures during NAIDOC Week and 
National Reconciliation Week. Activities 
during these weeks included raising 
awareness and funds for the Indigenous 
Literacy Foundation, staff quizzes on 
Australia’s Indigenous languages, cultural 
awareness sessions and art workshops.  
A painting that an Aboriginal artist 
created and that staff contributed to 
during a NAIDOC Week activity is hanging 
in Tourism Australia’s Sydney office.

Tourism Australia's Indigenous cadet, 
Maddy Wright. 
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Bathing boxes, Mornington Beach, VIC
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STAFF ENGAGEMENT

Tourism Australia’s overall staff engagement score 
was 92 per cent in 2018 and 100 per cent of staff 
members said they were proud to work for Tourism 
Australia. We have achieved ratings above 90 per cent 
for overall engagement in four out of the last five 
years, and a rating above 90 per cent for all of our 
values in the current reporting year. At a more 
granular level, we continued to achieve ratings above 
90 per cent for role clarity, job expectations and how 
roles contributed to the Tourism 2020 strategy.

Staff engagement

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

92% 84% 90% 90% 92%

Table 14: Staff engagement, 2014 to 2018

Net Promoter Score
The Net Promoter Score (NPS) measures 
staff members’ willingness to promote 
Tourism Australia as a ‘good place to work’. 
Organisations with a high NPS have strong 
cultures and positive staff engagement, and 
are generally industry-leading and high-
performing. Our NPS increased significantly 
this year, from +18 in 2017 to +33 in 2018.

The TAway
The TAway describes Tourism Australia’s 
values, which are:

PERTH (WA)

@cory_gale  
As featured on @australia

 Working closely with Tourism Australia 
to leverage their global platforms and 
campaign messaging allows our content 
team to take extraordinary WA experiences 
to the world – putting them on the must-do 
list with prospective visitors considering 
Australia as their next destination. 

In 2017/18, we continued to place an emphasis 
on living our values, aiming to create a culture 
that encourages greater authenticity and 
staff engagement while supporting our drive 
to become more innovative and commercial 
in how we operate. Key vehicles for instilling 
our values included values taskforces, our 
running club and the Tourism Australia 
Social Committee. We also delivered events 
throughout the year to support charity 
institutions, and to increase commercial 
understanding and innovation.

We are creative thinkers

We deliver results

We are authentic

We are optimistic

We are one team
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ETHICS

All new staff members are given an induction on 
Tourism Australia’s Code of Conduct, including our 
corporate values and governance. They are required 
to sign a copy of the code to declare they accept 
its provisions and commit to upholding them. We 
regularly update the code, which can be accessed 
via Tourism Australia’s intranet. 

STAFF ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT

The Tourism Australia Enterprise Agreement  
2016–19 will continue until February 2020.

RECOGNISING GOOD PERFORMANCE

In 2017/18, Tourism Australia continued to recognise 
and reward high-performing staff members. Our 
performance management system was revamped 
and continues to provide a robust framework for 
employees to set themselves individual goals  
linked to our business strategy.

Recognising the importance of ‘living our values’  
to ensure strong performance, the Tourism Australia 
Executive Leadership team introduced  
the Values Awards. During 2017/18, staff members 
had the opportunity to host their own off-site  
team-building days.

ATTRACTING AND RETAINING STAFF

Our staff retention rate remained above the industry 
average in 2017/18 – 94 per cent of new staff members 
stayed for at least 12 months (against a target of 
91 per cent), and 90 per cent stayed for at least two 
years (against a target of 80 per cent). Retention 
has remained at this level for more than five years. 
Voluntary turnover for 2017/18 was 16.1 per cent.

WORK HEALTH AND SAFETY

Tourism Australia is committed to protecting  
our key asset – our people – and strives to  
provide a workplace that is safe for all workers;  
poses no risk to the environment; and complies  
with relevant legislation, standards and codes  
of practice.

We also ensure that our key employment  
policies, procedures and practices comply  
with the requirements of Commonwealth  
legislation, including the Work Health and  
Safety Act 2011, Disability Discrimination Act 
1992, Racial Discrimination Act 1975 and Sex 
Discrimination Act 1984.

In 2017/18, the Health and Safety Committee 
implemented several key work health and  
safety initiatives, including:

 ● Disaster recovery planning

 ● Continuing to refine and formalise 
Familiarisation Safety Standards

 ● First aid and fire warden training

 ● Sexual harassment workshops.

WELLBEING

We continued to provide a range of initiatives  
to support the wellbeing of our staff members.  
This included annual health assessments, health  
and wellbeing allowances, influenza vaccinations 
and an Employee Assistance Program.

INCIDENTS AND DISPUTES

The number of work health and safety incidents 
increased slightly in 2017/18, with four minor 
incidents recorded.

Work health and safety incidents

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Workers compensation claims 1 1 0 0

Work health and safety incidents 5 8 1 4

Table 15: Work health and safety incidents, 2014/15 to 2017/18

Almonta Beach, Coffin Bay National Park, SA
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OUR PEOPLE
Note: Images are of Tourism Australia staff  
from head office in Sydney as at 30 June 2018. 
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4.3  ORGANISATIONAL 
CAPABILITY

SYSTEMS, TECHNOLOGY AND PROCESSES

Tourism Australia continued to improve systems, technology and processes during 2017/18. Our digital 
transformation program has been in place for four years and has delivered significant cost savings,  
improved efficiency, and increased functionality and capability. The program has involved upgrading  
Tourism Australia’s corporate and digital marketing systems.

Corporate systems and infrastructure
During 2017/18, Tourism Australia’s technology 
team continued to roll out enhancements 
to our corporate infrastructure to improve 
efficiency, including replacing aging laptops 
and implementing Skype for Business. The 
enhancements are expected to increase 
productivity, reduce telephony costs and  
improve collaboration between our 
regional offices.

Consumer and trade platforms
In the past few years, we have made several 
improvements to our consumer and trade  
platforms to improve performance and keep pace 
with consumers’ changing digital behaviours.

Ensuring that our consumer platforms were 
equipped to meet the Dundee campaign’s digital 
demands was a key focus in 2017/18. Throughout  
the year, we also rolled out a sophisticated cloud-
based events management system, replacing  
the legacy Trade Events Online platform. This  
will reduce the cost and complexity of supporting 
the aging platform, providing access to the latest 
innovations in events management.

Our dedicated digital transformation program 
continued to deliver improvements to business 
performance. Areas of focus included continued 
enhancements to audience sharing, reporting and 
real-time tracking of consumer behaviour – which 
provide insights that are used to refine digital 
marketing activity – and work on our personalisation 
strategy to improve customer engagement across 
our web assets. We continued to manage, deploy, 
support and upgrade key Adobe platforms such as 
Campaign, Analytics, Experience Manager, Target, 
Audience Manager and Social in 2017/18. We also 
continued to reduce red tape by implementing 
ongoing business system enhancements, 
consolidating digital assets and integrating 
operational data.

In 2017/18, we finished migrating Tourism 
Australia sites to the Adobe platform, including 
our investment website (tourisminvestment.com.
au). Consolidating our sites into a single platform 
has further improved the user experience and 
functionality. It has also made back-end website 
maintenance and management more efficient.

 We were very appreciative of Tourism 
Australia promoting the birth of Snow,  
a very special koala joey, and we look 
forward to sharing important conservation 
messages with them in the future. 

Terri Irwin

SNOW, THE WHITE KOALA (QLD)

@australiazoo
As featured on @australia
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LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT,  
AND WORKFORCE PLANNING

We continued our partnership with global training 
organisation Development Dimensions International 
(DDI) to provide training focused on behavioural and 
leadership skills. During 2017/18, DDI delivered training 
in our Sydney head office and 11 regional offices.

Tourism Australia staff globally were given access  
to virtual workshops and on-demand resources 
tailored to their development needs, as well as  
a global community in which they could discuss 
experiences, share knowledge and gain support.

We continued compliance-based training  
this year, including new-starter inductions; work 
health and safety training; first aid training; and 
training to improve presentation and report-writing 
skills. We also provided training on performance 
management, improving efficiency in the areas 
of goal setting, performance development and 
performance monitoring against goals.

TOURISM AUSTRALIA STAFF PARTICIPATE  
IN ELITE PROGRAM 

Tourism Australia was an Emerging Leaders of 
Inbound Tourism Excellence (ELITE) program 
partner in 2017. Five of our team members were 
selected to participate in the ELITE program 
and successfully graduated. The program, 
which is run by the Australian Tourism Export 
Council, identifies up-and-coming executives 
in the tourism industry and pairs them with 
industry leaders who mentor them during 
the program to enhance their industry 
knowledge and leadership skills. In addition, 
two of our managers participated in the 
program as mentors, sharing their experiences, 
knowledge and connections and refining their 
coaching skills.

Grant bids management
We implemented the SmartGrants cloud system this 
year, which will help us manage the bid process for 
the new grants bid program launched in May 2018.

Cybersecurity
With more flexibility comes a heightened security 
risk. To mitigate this risk, we have invested in 
increased cybersecurity measures, including 
undertaking additional security risk assessments 
in 2017/18. These assessments found that we 
have robust controls in place for dealing with 
cybersecurity risks, particularly those relating  
to the critical infrastructure of australia.com  
and the email system.

The cybersecurity audit findings have set 
the foundations for our compliance with the 
Australian Government’s Protective Security Policy 
Framework – a suite of requirements relating to the 
organisation’s information, physical and personnel 
security. As part of this framework, government 
agencies are required to review their cybersecurity 
risks and implement security plans to mitigate and 
control the risks. This was a focus of our activities 
during 2017/18.

Looking ahead
We will continue to improve business performance, 
with a focus on data and audience sharing, reporting 
and real-time insights on consumer behaviour. 
This will help us to refine and operationalise our 
digital marketing activities. Work will also continue 
on our consumer personalisation strategy to 
improve customer engagement across our web 
assets. In 2017/18, our technology team began end-
user training and enablement programs to drive 
productivity gains from our technology investments. 
The team will continue to migrate legacy systems  
to cloud-based platforms, increasing the availability 
of business systems and reducing our reliance on 
costly data centre hardware and software upgrades.

The ELITE graduates of 2017.

 Tourism Australia’s industry events 
provide invaluable opportunities 
throughout the year to connect with 
tourism partners from around the 
globe, helping to build relationships 
and drive visitation to Victoria. 
Daisy Jenkins, Business Development Manager,  
Zoos Victoria
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ENERGY AND WASTE

Tourism Australia’s head office is situated in the MidCity 
complex at 420 George Street in Sydney. The building 
has an unassisted five-star National Australian Built 
Environment Rating System (NABERS) rating and  
a five-star Green Star rating. All lighting in the head 
office is activated by motion sensors, with a timing 
function set at the lowest workable level.

We continued to minimise our environmental  
impact in 2017/18. Key practices included:

 ● Using double-sided printing and copying as the 
default setting on all printers and photocopiers

 ● Sourcing office copy paper from sustainably 
managed plantations

 ● Installing paper and waste recycling for office 
supplies and consumables in workspaces and 
kitchen areas

 ● Ensuring contract cleaners checked that recyclable 
materials were not contaminated by food waste.

We anticipate that the update to our wide area network 
will deliver increased electricity savings. These will be 
monitored in the year ahead.

Tourism Australia continued to maintain energy-efficient 
video- and web-conferencing systems and printers at 
our head office and in our 13 international offices. These 
systems have lowered energy consumption and helped 
offset carbon emissions that would have been generated 
by staff travel.

4.4  ENVIRONMENTAL 
PERFORMANCE

Tourism Australia’s head office at 
420 George Street in Sydney, NSW

ECHIDNA CHASM (WA)

 I launched my Kimberley Spirit safari 
business via social media, so working 
with Tourism Australia to help develop 
that was a dream come true. We have 
received massive traction and lasting 
results thanks to our connection with 
Tourism Australia. Thank you! 

@kimberleyspirit 
As featured on @australia
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4.5  ORGANISATIONAL 
STRUCTURE

CHAIRMAN
Bob East

MANAGING DIRECTOR
John O'Sullivan

EXECUTIVE 
GENERAL 
MANAGER

Phillipa Harrison

EXECUTIVE 
GENERAL 
MANAGER

Karen Halbert

EXECUTIVE 
GENERAL 
MANAGER
Mark Craig

EXECUTIVE 
GENERAL 
MANAGER
Penny Lion

CHIEF MARKETING 
OFFICER

Lisa Ronson

INTERNATIONAL

CORPORATE 
AFFAIRS, 

GOVERNMENT  
AND INDUSTRY

CORPORATE 
SERVICES EVENTS MARKETING

DIRECTORS
Hayley Baillie | Anna Guillan, AM | David Seargeant | Andrea Staines | Kate Vale | Francis Wong, OAM | Bradley Woods

Deputy Chair

ASSISTANT MINISTER FOR TRADE, 
TOURISM AND INVESTMENT
The Hon. Mark Coulton, MP

MINISTER FOR TRADE,  
TOURISM AND INVESTMENT
The Hon. Steven Ciobo, MP

Figure 19: Tourism Australia’s organisational structure as at 30 June, 2018 

Tessellated Pavement State Reserve, Eaglehawk Neck, TAS

Senator the Hon. Simon Birmingham was 
appointed as Minister for Trade, Tourism 
and Investment on 26 August 2018.
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4.6  ORGANISATIONAL CHANGES

We made further progress in our digital 
transformation in 2018, implementing  
changes to the way we operate and adjusting  
our organisational structure. We have focused  
on centralising key business processes as well  
as our ability to deliver global marketing 
campaigns. The new working model focused  
on several key areas, including optimising the  
user experience across our digital channels; 
developing and implementing our Customer 
Relationship strategy; and taking a more  
holistic view of consumer-facing creative  
and content generation.

In 2018, we also announced that we will be  
moving to a representation agency model in  
South Korea and withdrawing our agency 
presence in Brazil. We implemented these  
changes in August 2018.

Staff appointments and departures

Appointments Departures

 ● Scott Walker, Country Manager, Singapore and Indonesia

 ● Christine Liu, Chief Financial Officer

 ● Geoff Turner, General Manager, Marketing Strategy

 ● Sally Cope, Regional General Manager, UK

 ● Andy Jiang, Country Manager, China 

 ● Schalk van der Westhuizen, Chief Financial Officer 

 ● Denise von Wald, Regional General Manager, UK and 
Northern Europe 

Table 16: Senior staff appointments and departures, 2017/18

PORT LINCOLN (SA)

 @nullabortravel  
 As featured on @australia

 Tourism Australia has some fantastic resources 
available on its corporate website such as its 
market profiles, image and video galleries as 
well as its Trade Event Calendar, which we 
use to forward plan and research upcoming 
events. We have also gained some great brand 
exposure from its social media sharing and 
platforms like the Aussie Specialist Programs, 
where we have posted our videos. 
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Howe Place, Melbourne Laneways, VIC
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4.7  EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP 
TEAM PROFILES

MANAGING DIRECTOR

John O’Sullivan 

INTERNATIONAL

Phillipa Harrison 
Executive General Manager

MARKETING

Lisa Ronson  
Chief Marketing Officer 

John O’Sullivan joined Tourism 
Australia as the organisation’s 
Managing Director in March 
2014. In the four years since, he 
has successfully overseen the 
evolution of the organisation’s 
award-winning global campaign 
There’s nothing like Australia – 
from its food and wine–focused 
Restaurant Australia campaign 
(launched in 2014) to the emotive 
Aquatic and Coastal campaign 
(2016). This year, John oversaw 
Tourism Australia’s biggest ever 
campaign for the USA market, 
which was launched at the 2018 
Super Bowl with Dundee: The 
Son of a Legend Returns. During 
his time at Tourism Australia, 
John has also focused on growing 
the organisation’s partnership 
marketing and transforming 
its digital capabilities to reflect 
changing consumer behaviours 
and to better tackle conversion 
challenges. John has more than 
20 years’ experience in sports 
marketing, event management 
and media across Australia, the 
UK and the Middle East.

Tourism Australia’s International 
division is responsible for 
global marketing operations, 
distribution development and 
global partnerships across Asia, 
the Americas and Europe. 

Phillipa (Pip) Harrison joined 
Tourism Australia in February 
2017. In her role, Pip oversees 
Tourism Australia’s network of 
international offices, spanning 
12 countries. She also manages 
airline relationships and 
distribution channels, working 
in partnership with the industry 
to grow the inbound market for 
Australian tourism. Before her 
current role, Pip spent six years 
working for Hamilton Island 
Enterprises. She also held a variety 
of senior sales, marketing and 
product roles at Viator Systems 
(Sydney), Base Group (Sydney), 
STA Travel (London), Contiki 
Holidays (London) and Trailfinders 
(London).

Marketing is responsible for 
creating and developing Tourism 
Australia’s brand assets for global 
campaigns. It manages the 
roll-out of Tourism Australia’s 
marketing strategy, ensuring 
marketing efforts continue to 
cut through in the competitive 
international marketplace. 
Marketing encompasses  
Media and PR, Digital, Social, 
Content, Creative and Campaigns, 
Signature Experiences, Market 
Research and Insights. 

Lisa Ronson joined Tourism 
Australia in February 2015. 
She is a commercially focused 
senior executive with 20 years’ 
experience across multiple 
national and global brands and a 
diverse range of industries. Before 
joining Tourism Australia, Lisa 
held senior marketing positions 
at Westpac Banking Group, David 
Jones, Telstra, Visa International, 
and Carlton & United Breweries. 
Lisa is a regular contributor to 
the marketing section of The 
Australian Financial Review. She 
has also been recognised as one 
of the ‘Top 50 Most Innovative 
CMOs’ and one of the ‘50 Most 
Powerful and Influential People 
in the Media, Marketing and 
Advertising Industry’.
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CORPORATE AFFAIRS,  
GOVERNMENT & INDUSTRY

Karen Halbert 
Executive General Manager 

CORPORATE SERVICES

Mark Craig 
Executive General Manager 

EVENTS

Penny Lion 
Executive General Manager 

The Corporate Affairs, 
Government and Industry team 
is Tourism Australia’s main liaison 
with government, Australian 
news media and the tourism 
industry, and manages its work 
in attracting investment into the 
tourism industry. 

Karen Halbert has extensive 
experience in corporate affairs, 
with a strong background in 
government and media relations. 
She joined Tourism Australia in 
January 2013. Before that, Karen 
worked as Principal Advisor, 
Media Relations, for Rio Tinto and 
held senior positions at Macquarie 
Group and AstraZeneca. Karen 
has also worked for a federal MP.

Corporate Services is responsible 
for maintaining and improving 
corporate governance through 
information technology, finance, 
planning, administration, human 
resources, legal advice and board 
secretariat duties. 

Mark Craig joined Tourism 
Australia in June 2011. Previously, 
Mark was Chief Financial 
Officer at the New South Wales 
Department of Human Services. 
He has also held senior executive 
roles with EnergyAustralia, 
Scottish Water and EY.

Events at Tourism Australia 
comprises the Business Events 
and Industry Events teams. 
The Business Events team 
is responsible for delivering 
marketing communications 
and trade programs to promote 
Australia internationally as a 
business events destination. 
The Industry Events team is 
responsible for delivering events 
in Australia and overseas that 
provide the Australian tourism 
industry with a platform to 
promote experiences and 
products to qualified travel sellers. 

Penny Lion joined Tourism 
Australia in 2010 as Head of 
Business Events Australia and 
was appointed Executive General 
Manager – Events in August 
2016. Having worked on trade, 
consumer and corporate events 
for more than 25 years, she has 
extensive experience in strategy, 
marketing, sales, operations and 
stakeholder management.
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KEY ACHIEVEMENTS

 ● Underwent external audits that found  
no material issues or compliance breaches, 
and no significant non-compliance issues.

 ● Commissioned comprehensive internal 
audits by EY across various organisational 
units, which informed a program of 
continuous improvement in our operations.

 ● Continued to be guided by a robust 
governance and risk management 
framework, ensuring that our day-
to-day operations were accountable, 
transparent and efficient.

 ● Simulated a crisis to assess our ability to 
manage operations if such an event were 
to occur.

5.1  PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
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Tourism Australia’s governance arrangements  
are prescribed by the Tourism Australia Act 2004 
(TA Act) and the Public Governance, Performance  
and Accountability Act 2013 (PGPA Act). The TA Act is 
Tourism Australia’s enabling legislation and describes 
the organisation’s specific objectives, functions 
and powers. The PGPA Act sets out governance and 
accountability requirements for Commonwealth 
entities, with an emphasis on planning, performance 
and risk management.

As a portfolio agency, Tourism Australia must  
also consider and implement ministerial directions 
and statements of expectations issued from time  
to time by the Minister for Trade, Tourism  
and Investment. The Hon. Steven Ciobo, MP, was the 
responsible Minister for the 2017/18 period.

5.2  ENABLING LEGISLATION  
AND RESPONSIBLE MINISTER

Parliamentary accountability
We are accountable to the Australian Parliament 
through the Senate Estimates process, Senate 
Orders and the tabling of our annual report and 
PGPA Act compliance report. Tourism Australia 
participated in the Senate Standing Committee on 
Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade’s Supplementary 
Budget Estimates hearing in October 2017, the 
Additional Budget Estimates hearing in March 2018 
and the Budget Estimates hearing in June 2018.

112 ANNUAL REPORT 2018

The Pass, Byron Bay, NSW



5.3  GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
AND PRACTICES

Tourism Australia is committed to implementing 
best practice in corporate governance matters 
and ensuring that our day-to-day operations are 
accountable, transparent, efficient and conducted 
with integrity. We emphasise the importance of 
these values by ensuring that we:

 ● Focus on project planning and the performance 
of key projects, and monitor contracts in line with 
best practice

 ● Communicate openly with the Australian 
Government; the Minister for Trade, Tourism and 
Investment; and the applicable regulatory bodies

 ● Put in place sound risk management policies  
and procedures, including rolling programs of  
risk assessment and risk planning.

Tourism Australia’s framework ensures business 
operations comply with local and foreign legislation, 
and enables strong commercial performance. 

We assess the effectiveness and risk exposure  
of our governance framework through annual 
corporate and operational planning processes, 
quarterly business evaluations and an annual 
internal audit program. We also:

 ● Scrutinise operations through internal and 
external audits, and check internal controls set 
out in organisational policies and procedures

 ● Regularly review governance documents 
such as the Board’s and the Audit and 
Finance Committee’s charters; the Delegation 
Instruments and Instructions; and the Code 
of Conduct

 ● Regularly train Australian and overseas  
staff members in corporate governance

 ● Carry out standard internal and external 
compliance reporting.
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TOURISM AUSTRALIA ACT 2004

MINISTER FOR TRADE, 
TOURISM AND INVESTMENT

TOURISM AUSTRALIA BOARD

TOURISM AUSTRALIA 
MANAGING DIRECTOR

AUDIT AND FINANCE 
COMMITTEE

TOURISM AUSTRALIA EXECUTIVE 
LEADERSHIP TEAM

PUBLIC GOVERNANCE, PERFORMANCE 
AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT 2013

Figure 20: Tourism Australia’s governance framework

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK



RISK MANAGEMENT

Tourism Australia’s Risk Management Policy  
drives all risk management activities and establishes 
appetites and boundaries for risk-taking at all levels  
of the organisation. EY facilitates an annual strategic  
risk review with Tourism Australia’s Executive 
Leadership team, which is then discussed in  
detail with the Board Audit Committee. 

We also maintain a detailed risk register and  
track our risks quarterly. Regular risk review  
and reporting includes fraud risk assessments; 
business continuity management, procurement  
and insurance risk assessments; and work,  
health and safety risk assessments to identify  
and eliminate workplace hazards.

AUDIT AND EXTERNAL SCRUTINY

In 2017/18, EY carried out Tourism Australia’s  
internal audit function to provide independent, 
objective assurance and advice. This year’s internal 
audit plan was developed in line with our strategic 
risks. It focused on key areas of operation, including 
project management, media, transactions, payroll, 
compliance and regulations.

The Australian National Audit Office performs 
Tourism Australia’s external audit function, and  
its report is included in the financial statements.  
No material audit issues or compliance breaches 
were noted during the year.

FRAUD CONTROL

Chairman’s statement on fraud control

“I am satisfied that Tourism Australia has in 
place appropriate fraud prevention, detection, 
investigation, reporting and data-collection 
procedures and processes, in line with its fraud 
risk assessment and fraud control plan. I am also 
satisfied that these arrangements meet the specific 
needs of Tourism Australia, and that all reasonable 
measures to minimise the incidence of fraud, as 
well as investigate and recover the proceeds of 
fraud, have been taken. There were no reported 
fraud incidents during 2017/18.”

Bob East, Chairman

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION

Tourism Australia is required to comply with the 
Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Cth). Tourism 
Australia received eight freedom of information  
(FOI) requests during 2017/18. Any FOI request 
we receive is published on our corporate site, 
tourism.australia.com, in line with the Australian 
Government’s Information Publication Scheme.

JUDICIAL DECISIONS AND REPORTS

No parliamentary reports were published in respect 
of Tourism Australia in 2017/18.

COMPLIANCE WITH FINANCE LAW

Tourism Australia complied with all provisions 
and requirements of the PGPA Act and the Public 
Governance, Performance and Accountability Rule 
2014. There were no non-compliance issues in 2017/18.

PROCUREMENT INITIATIVES TO SUPPORT 
SMALL BUSINESS

Tourism Australia supports small business 
participation in the Australian Government 
procurement market. Statistics on the participation  
of small and medium-sized enterprises are available 
on the Department of Finance website: www.finance.
gov.au/procurement/statistics-on-commonwealth-
purchasing-contracts

Our procurement practices support small  
and medium-sized enterprises by:

 ● Using electronic systems and processes  
to facilitate on-time payment, including  
the use of payment cards

 ● Communicating in clear, simple language and 
presenting information in an accessible format

 ● Providing standard 30-day payment terms for 
all suppliers.

These practices are consistent with paragraph 5.4 
of the Commonwealth Procurement Rules.

CONSULTANCIES AND CONTRACTS

In accordance with a 2017 Senate Order for  
entity contracts, Tourism Australia is required to  
list all contracts entered into in 2017/18 valued  
at $100,000 or more (GST inclusive) on its website: 
www.tourism.australia.com
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5.4  BOARD ACTIVITIES  
AND COMMITTEES

TOURISM AUSTRALIA BOARD

Tourism Australia is governed by a nine-person 
Board of Directors. In 2017/18, the Board had four 
female members. As prescribed in Part 3 of the 
TA Act, the Board’s main responsibilities are to 
ensure the proper and efficient performance of 
Tourism Australia’s functions, and to determine 
Tourism Australia’s policies.

In 2017/18, the Board’s areas of focus continued  
to be Tourism Australia’s strategic direction; 
streamlining our international marketing and 
initiatives in digital marketing; and strongly 
advocating for one-voice activities with state  
and territory tourism organisations and  
governments across Australia.

The Board is accountable for ensuring that  
Tourism Australia fulfils its statutory mandate,  
and that the organisation acts in line with the 
general policies, guidelines and directions of  
the Australian Government.

FRASER ISLAND (QLD)

@airfraserisland  
As featured on @australia

Under the Board Charter, the Board’s 
responsibilities include:

 ● Setting Tourism Australia’s strategic direction, 
including approving strategies and targets,  
and establishing policies

 ● Monitoring Tourism Australia’s business

 ● Communicating with the Minister for Trade, 
Tourism and Investment

 ● Complying with general government policy  
as directed by the Minister for Trade, Tourism  
and Investment, and according to Tourism 
Australia’s statutory obligations

 ● Determining, upholding and promoting Tourism 
Australia’s corporate values and Code of Conduct

 ● Ensuring that Tourism Australia performs its 
functions and exercises its powers in a manner 
consistent with, and designed to give effect 
to, the current Corporate Plan and Annual 
Operational Plan

 ● Selecting and monitoring the performance  
of the Managing Director

 ● Reviewing the performance of 
executive management

 ● Ensuring Tourism Australia’s corporate 
governance is sound, including its risk 
management, legal compliance, strategic 
direction and organisational structure.
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Attendance at Board meetings, 2017/18 1

Board member Position Meetings attended Meetings held

Bob East Chair 6 6

Anna Guillan, AM Deputy Chair 6 6

John O’Sullivan Managing Director 5 6

Hayley Baillie Director 6 6

Bradley Woods Director 5 5

David Seargeant Director 5 5

Andrea Staines Director 6 6

Kate Vale Director 6 6

Francis Wong, OAM Director 6 6

Table 17: Directors’ attendance at Board meetings, 2017/18

1 John O’Sullivan was the only executive member of Tourism Australia’s Board in 2017/18; all other directors were 
non-executive members.

AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

Under the PGPA Act, Tourism Australia is required to 
have an Audit Committee. The Committee provides 
independent assurance and assistance to the Board 
on Tourism Australia’s risk, performance, internal 
control and financial reporting responsibilities. The 
Committee is also responsible for advising the Board 
on Tourism Australia’s legislative compliance, and  
on internal and external audit programs.

Attendance at Audit and Finance Committee meetings, 2017/18

Committee member Position Meetings attended Meetings held

Anna Guillan Deputy Chair 4 4

Andrea Staines Director 4 4

David Seargeant Director 3 3

Table 18: Directors’ attendance at Audit and Finance Committee meetings, 2017/18

In addition to these responsibilities, the Board must 
balance Tourism Australia’s competing demands, 
remain independent from executive management, 
and consider the interests of stakeholders and the 
wider public.

Tourism Australia holds directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance to the amount of $100 million  
with Comcover, the Australian Government’s  
general insurance fund.

The Board meets regularly. It held six Board meetings 
during 2017/18 – one each in Cairns, Perth and 
Byron Bay, and the remainder in Sydney. Industry 
events were held to coincide with interstate Board 
meetings, enabling the Board to meet and discuss 
Tourism Australia’s activities with the state and 
territory tourism boards as well as key tourism 
operators and government colleagues. Table 17 
summarises directors’ attendance at board  
meetings in 2017/18.

During 2017/18, four Audit and Finance Committee 
meetings were held. The Committee has three 
members – Anna Guillan, Andrea Staines and David 
Seargeant. Table 18 provides a summary of directors’ 
attendance at Audit and Finance Committee 
meetings in 2017/18.
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Bob East has more than 20 years’ 
experience in the tourism industry, 
most recently serving as the CEO 
of the Mantra Group for 12 years. 
He helped shape the Mantra 
Group into the largest Australian-
based hotel company and led 
the company to a successful 
ASX listing in June 2014, which 
culminated in its inclusion in 
the ASX 200 list in 2015. He 
also managed Mantra Group’s 
$1.3 billion acquisition in 2018 by 
AccorHotels, one of the world’s 
largest hotel operators. Bob’s 
experience includes serving on 
the boards of the Gold Coast 
Tourism Corporation, the 
Queensland Tourism Industry 
Council, Tourism Accommodation 
Australia, Tourism and Events 
Queensland, and the Tourism and 
Transport Forum. Bob holds a 
Master of Business Administration 
and is Chair of Tourism Australia 
and Deputy Chair of the 
Gold Coast SUNS Football Club. 
He has extensive experience in the 
accommodation sector, previously 
holding senior management roles 
with Mirvac and the Daikyo Group.

CHAIR
Bob East

With a respected career in 
tourism sales and marketing, 
Anna Guillan is the Australia and 
New Zealand Regional Director of 
Sales and Marketing for Kerzner 
International, a global operator 
of luxury resorts. A Southern 
Cross University Alumnus of the 
Year (2010), and with a Master 
of Business Administration in 
Tourism and Hotel Management, 
Anna served as Vice Chair of the 
Australian Tourism Export Council 
and was acknowledged with 
its Outstanding Contribution to 
Industry Award in 2013. Anna 
also serves on the board of 
Tourism and Events Queensland 
and is Non-Executive Director 
of CareFlight. She is also a  
co-founder and Director of cancer 
charity The NELUNE Foundation. 
Anna joined Tourism Australia’s 
Board in July 2014 and remains 
a Director.

Hayley Baillie co-founded  
Baillie Lodges in 2003 with  
a vision to develop a premium 
portfolio of contemporary 
boutique Australian luxury 
lodge experiences. To date, 
Baillie Lodges has developed 
three luxury lodges in standout 
locations of unique natural 
significance: Southern Ocean 
Lodge on Kangaroo Island, 
Longitude 131° at Uluru–Kata 
Tjuta and Capella Lodge on Lord 
Howe Island. All three properties 
appeal to the discerning global 
traveller and are recognised as 
setting new benchmarks for 
experiential travel. In 2013, Hayley 
joined the Tourism Australia Food 
and Wine Advisory Panel, which 
was instrumental in driving the 
Restaurant Australia marketing 
campaign. Hayley is proud to  
be a founding patron of the 
Australian Red Cross Society 
of Women Leaders. She was 
appointed to Tourism Australia’s 
Board in November 2015 and 
remains a Director.

DEPUTY CHAIR
Anna Guillan, AM

DIRECTOR
Hayley Baillie

5.5 BOARD PROFILES
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Kate Vale has had a 
distinguished career in 
the technology and digital 
industries, with two decades of 
experience across major digital 
brands, including as Managing 
Director of Spotify Australia 
and New Zealand from 2011 
to 2017. Kate was the former 
Head of YouTube Australia and 
New Zealand, as well as the 
first in-region employee for 
Google, serving as the Head 
of Sales and Operations for 
Australia and New Zealand. 
Kate is currently a Director of 
Tourism Tasmania, a former 
Council Member of Make-A-
Wish Australia, and Advisor 
to Muru Music. She holds a 
Bachelor of Business from 
Monash University. Kate 
was appointed to Tourism 
Australia’s Board in October 
2015 and remains a Director.

Andrea Staines is an accomplished 
Non-Executive Director with 
experience in a range of listed, 
government, private and  
not-for-profit companies in the 
infrastructure, transport, logistics 
and retail service sectors. She 
is a former CEO of Australian 
Airlines – a Qantas subsidiary that 
flew between Asia and Australia 
– which she co-launched in 2002. 
This role saw Andrea become 
Australia’s first female CEO of 
a scheduled passenger airline. 
During this time, she was also a 
member of the Qantas Executive 
Committee. Before this, she was 
the first female General Manager 
of Global Pricing and Inventory at 
Qantas, where she led innovative 
interventions to optimise Qantas’s 
revenue. She has also held various 
financial roles with American 
Airlines at its Dallas headquarters. 
Andrea currently serves on the 
boards of SeaLink Travel Group, 
the Queensland Investment 
Corporation, the Australian 
Rural Leadership Foundation, 
UnitingCare Queensland and 
the National Disability Insurance 
Agency. She has a Master of 
Business Administration from  
the University of Michigan and  
a Bachelor of Economics from  
the University of Queensland. 
Andrea was appointed to Tourism 
Australia’s Board in May 2016 and 
remains a Director.

Francis Wong, is the Managing 
Director of Encounter Australia. 
He has been a champion 
of Asian–Australian tourism 
engagement for more than 30 
years and has held many industry 
leadership roles, including Chair 
of the Australian Tourism Export 
Council (ATEC) Asian Advisory 
Panel. In 2014, he received ATEC’s 
inaugural Captain Trevor Haworth 
Outstanding Contribution by an 
Individual to Industry award. On 
Australia Day 2014, he received the 
Order of Australia for his services 
to business and community. 
He was also awarded South 
Australia’s Most Outstanding 
Contribution by an Individual to 
Tourism. Francis sits on several 
industry and not-for-profit boards, 
including those of the Adelaide 
Festival Centre Foundation,  
the Football Federation of 
South Australia and the Order 
of Australia Association SA, and 
until recently, was Chairman of 
Council for International Trade 
and Commerce SA. Francis was 
appointed to Tourism Australia’s 
Board in October 2015 and 
remains a Director.

DIRECTOR
Andrea Staines

DIRECTOR
Francis Wong, OAM

DIRECTOR
Kate Vale
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For 25 years Bradley Woods has 
been one of Australia’s leading 
advocates for the hotel, hospitality 
and tourism industry. Bradley 
has been CEO of the Australian 
Hotels Association (AHA) since 
1998, and was previously CEO of 
AHA Tasmania and Government 
Relations Manager for the AHA 
National Office. Bradley has  
a degree in International Business 
Relations; is a board member 
of Tourism Accommodation 
Australia; and is National Chair  
of the Commonwealth’s 
Tourism, Travel and Hospitality 
IRC, responsible for the industry’s 
vocational training packages. 
Bradley is Chairman of Hospitality 
Group Training, Deputy Chair 
of the Australia Day Council 
WA and a Board Member of 
Ronald McDonald House Perth. 
Regarded as an industry expert 
in tourism, accommodation, 
hospitality and the MICE 
(meetings, incentives, conferences 
and exhibitions) sector, Bradley 
has led the industry through 
major national and international 
crises. Bradley was appointed 
to Tourism Australia’s Board 
in August 2017 and remains 
a Director.

David Seargeant has spent  
a lifetime in the hospitality 
industry, recently stepping  
down after 17 years as CEO  
and Managing Director of Event 
Hospitality and Entertainment 
Ltd (prior to 2016 known as 
Amalgamated Holdings Ltd). 
Joining the company in 1988  
to found Rydges Hotels and 
Resorts, he took on the group 
CEO role in 2001. David is 
acknowledged as the creator of 
the QT Hotels and Resorts brand. 
He is currently the Chairman 
of the National Association of 
Cinema Operators, an executive 
committee member of the 
Global Cinema Federation, 
Deputy Chairman of Tourism 
Accommodation Australia  
and a member of the Board 
of Tourism Training Australia. 
David was appointed to Tourism 
Australia’s Board in August 2017 
and remains a Director.

DIRECTOR
David Seargeant

DIRECTOR
Bradley Woods
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6.1  FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE 
OVERVIEW

FINANCIAL RESULTS 2017/18

Net financial expenditure for the year ended 30 June 
2018 was $148.2 million based upon budget foreign 
exchange rates, which was within 0.1 per cent of 
budget. Overall gross revenue exceeded budget  
by $2.1 million, and a similar increase in expenditure 
resulted in net expenditure in line with budget.

The weaker Australian dollar compared to the 
previous financial year resulted in an overall foreign 
exchange loss for the year of $2.1 million compared 
to budget parameter rates. This resulted in a 
$2.1 million increase in net expenditure in the 
statutory accounts. 

REVENUE 

Tourism Australia’s direct revenue decreased by 
4 per cent to $23.6 million (2016/17: $24.7 million). 
Lower cooperative advertising revenue of $7.9 million 
(2016/17: $11.5 million) was offset by higher levels of 
industry contributions of $12.4 million (2016/17: $10.6 
million). Industry contributions relate  
to trade and industry events including the Australian 
Tourism Exchange, Aussie Specialist Program, 
Corroboree West and Dreamtime. 

This revenue was supplemented by indirect 
partnership contributions of $38.7 million from  
state and territory tourism organisations, airline 
partners and other industry participants, which  
were not reflected in the statutory accounts.

EXPENDITURE

The gross expenditure decreased by 1 per cent 
to $173.9 million (2016/17: $175 million), which was 
primarily due to Tourism Australia’s net appropriation 
being $2.5 million lower than the prior year offset 
by the weaker Australian dollar in the key markets 
of China, Europe and the UK (with the impact of 
increasing gross expenditure in these markets). 

Remuneration costs of $33.1 million (2016/17: 
$31.4 million) were 5 per cent higher than last 
year (including foreign exchange impacts and an 
additional $0.5 million in salaries, which were fully 
recovered in other revenue). The underlying increase 
in remuneration costs was 3.9 per cent, with 2 per 
cent increases in Australia and generally higher  
wage growth in eastern markets.

BALANCE SHEET

Financial assets
Net assets remained flat at $20.2 million due 
to a minor current-year surplus attributable to 
the Australian Government for the year ending 
30 June 2018.

The cash balance at year end was $8.1 million.  
The decrease of $14.6 million from the prior year is 
primarily driven by $5.7 million of foreign exchange 
gains payable to the government for 2016/17 that 
was paid during 2017/18, and high levels of capital 
expenditure on Dundee campaign production 
during the period.

Trade and other receivables were $1.4 million higher 
than the prior year, with 98 per cent of receivables 
less than 30 days old and no debts more than 
60 days old.

Fixed assets
During the year, Tourism Australia had capital 
expenditure of $17.7 million, consisting primarily of 
Dundee campaign production costs ($12.4 million), 
website development costs ($2.4 million) and the 
Global Network Update ($1.3 million). Total fixed 
assets at 30 June 2018 were $23.0 million (2016/17: 
$15.2 million).

Liabilities
Total liabilities for Tourism Australia decreased  
by $4.9 million to $22.4 million. This was driven  
by $5.8 million in foreign exchange gains payable 
to the Australian Government and held in other 
payables at 30 June 2017. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

GPO Box 707 CANBERRA ACT 2601
19 National Circuit BARTON  ACT
Phone (02) 6203 7300   Fax (02) 6203 7777

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Minister for Trade, Tourism and Investment

Opinion 

In my opinion, the financial statements of Tourism Australia for the year ended 30 June 2018:

(a) comply with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Public 
Governance, Performance and Accountability (Financial Reporting) Rule 2015; and

(b) present fairly the financial position of the Tourism Australia as at 30 June 2018 and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

The financial statements of Tourism Australia, which I have audited, comprise the following statements 
as at 30 June 2018 and for the year then ended:

• Statement by Officers;
• Statement of Comprehensive Income;
• Statement of Financial Position; 
• Statement of Changes in Equity; 
• Cash Flow Statement; and
• Notes to the financial statements, comprising a Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and 

other explanatory information.

Basis for Opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report. 
I am independent of Tourism Australia in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements for financial 
statement audits conducted by the Auditor-General and his delegates. These include the relevant 
independence requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) to the extent that they are not in conflict with 
the Auditor-General Act 1997. I have also fulfilled my other responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

Accountable Authority’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

As the Accountable Authority of Tourism Australia, the Board is responsible under the Public 
Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013 for the preparation and fair presentation of 
annual financial statements that comply with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements and the rules made under that Act. The Board is also responsible for such internal control 
as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for assessing Tourism Australia’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, taking into account whether the entity’s operations will cease as a result 
of an administrative restructure or for any other reason. Tourism Australia is also responsible for 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the assessment indicates that it is not appropriate.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control;

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control;

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Accountable Authority;

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Accountable Authority’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease
to continue as a going concern; and

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that I identify during my audit.

Australian National Audit Office

Rahul Tejani

Acting Executive Director

Delegate of the Auditor-General

Canberra

30 August 2018
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In our opinion, the attached financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 comply with  
subsection 42(2) of the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (PGPA Act),  
and are based on properly maintained financial records as per subsection 41(2) of the PGPA Act.

In our opinion, at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that  
Tourism Australia will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

STATEMENT BY OFFICERS
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2018

NET COST OF SERVICES Notes
2018 

$’000
2017 

$’000

EXPENSES

Employee benefits 2A 33,105 31,370

Suppliers 2B 127,415 131,430

Depreciation and amortisation 2C 9,317 6,158

Finance costs 15 16

Write-down and impairment of assets 2D 84 255

Other expenses 3,926 5,808

Total expenses 173,862 175,037

 
LESS OWN-SOURCE INCOME

Own-source revenue

Provision of services – external parties 7,915 11,493

Interest on deposits 987 918

Contributions revenue 3A 12,389 10,624

Rental income for office sub-tenancies 1,426 1,225

Other revenue 3B 838 433

Total own-source revenue 23,555 24,693

 
Gains/(losses)

Non-speculative foreign exchange losses (621) (629)

Other gains 39 43

Total losses (582) (586)

Total own-source income 22,973 24,107

 
Revenue from Government 3C 150,961 150,995

Surplus attributable to the Australian Government 72 65

 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not subject to subsequent reclassification to net cost of services

Changes in asset revaluation surplus (29) 56

Total comprehensive loss attributable to the Australian Government (29) 56

Total comprehensive income 43 121

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ASSETS Notes
2018 

$’000
2017 

$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4A 8,123 22,723

Trade and other receivables 4B 6,533 5,089

Total financial assets 14,656 27,812

 
Non-financial assets

Land and buildings 5A 1,999 2,909

Infrastructure, plant and equipment 5B 1,832 972

Intangibles 5C 19,168 11,278

Other non-financial assets 5D 4,998 4,516

Total non-financial assets 27,997 19,675

Total assets 42,653 47,487

 
LIABILITIES

Payables

Suppliers 6A 9,870 10,684

Other payables 6B 7,642 11,916

Total payables 17,512 22,600

 
Provisions

Employee provisions 7A 4,254 3,982

Other provisions 7B 674 735

Total provisions 4,928 4,717

Total liabilities 22,440 27,317

Net assets 20,213 20,170

 
EQUITY

Contributed equity 1,543 1,543

Reserves 2,484 2,513

Retained surplus 16,186 16,114

Total equity 20,213 20,170

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018
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Retained  
earnings

Asset 
revaluation 

surplus
Contributed  

equity/capital
Total 

equity

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Opening balance

Balance carried forward from 
previous period

16,114 16,049 2,513 2,457 1,543 1,543 20,170 20,049

Adjusted opening balance 16,114 16,049 2,513 2,457 1,543 1,543 20,170 20,049

 
Comprehensive income

Surplus for the period 72 65 ‒ ‒ ‒ ‒ 72 65

Other comprehensive income ‒ ‒ (29) 56 ‒ ‒ (29) 56

Total comprehensive income 72 65 (29) 56 ‒ ‒ 43 121

Closing balance  
as at 30 June 16,186 16,114 2,484 2,513 1,543 1,543 20,213 20,170

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2018
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2018

Notes
2018 

$’000
2017 

$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received

Appropriation 129,308 140,266

Appropriation provided by Portfolio Department 19,000 16,500

Exchange difference from prior year received from Government ‒ 3,344

Revenue from industry sources 21,061 24,329

Interest 984 918

GST received 4,052 2,999

Total cash received 174,405 188,356

 
Cash used

Employees (32,799) (31,804)

Suppliers (131,908) (137,533)

GST paid (213) (129)

Payments to Government – foreign exchange gains (5,771) ‒

Total cash used (170,691) (169,466)

Net cash from operating activities 3,714 18,890

 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash used

Purchase of infrastructure, plant and equipment (1,181) (1,210)

Purchase of intangibles (16,512) (4,288)

Total cash used (17,693) (5,498)

Net cash used by investing activities (17,693) (5,498)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash held (13,979) 13,392

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 22,723 9,960

Effect of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents (621) (629)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 4A 8,123 22,723

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTE 1: OVERVIEW
1.1 Objectives of Tourism Australia

Tourism Australia’s mission is to market Australia 
as the most desirable and memorable destination 
on earth.

Tourism Australia is a not-for-profit Australian 
Government corporate entity. Its objective is to 
promote tourism to and within Australia. Its revenues 
are sourced mainly from Government funding and 
industry revenues. Tourism Australia’s activities 
to promote Australia as an international tourist 
destination are focused primarily overseas, with  
its international offices accounting for the  
majority of expenditure.

Tourism Australia’s statutory objectives are to:

 ● Influence people to travel to Australia,  
including for events

 ● Influence people travelling to Australia  
to also travel throughout Australia

 ● Influence Australians to travel throughout 
Australia, including for events

 ● Help foster a sustainable tourism industry 
in Australia

 ● Help increase the economic benefits  
to Australia from tourism.

While the Tourism Australia Act 2004 outlines 
domestic functions, Tourism Australia is not currently 
engaged in domestic tourism activity. This change 
in Tourism Australia’s remit came into effect in 
2013, and is outlined in the Minister’s Statement of 
Expectations for Tourism Australia.

The outcome for Tourism Australia is to grow demand 
and foster a competitive and sustainable Australian 
tourism industry through partnership marketing to 
targeted global consumers in key markets.

1.2 Basis of preparation of the 
financial statements

The financial statements are general purpose 
financial statements and are required by section 42 
of the Public Governance, Performance and 
Accountability Act 2013. 

The financial statements and notes have  
been prepared in accordance with:

 ● Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations – reduced disclosure requirements 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) that apply for the reporting period.

The financial statements have been prepared on an 
accrual basis and in accordance with historical cost 
convention, except for certain assets and liabilities  
at fair value. Except where stated, no allowance  
is made for the effect of changing prices on the  
results or the financial position.

The financial statements are presented in  
Australian dollars, and values are rounded to  
the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise 
specified. Transactions in foreign currencies are 
initially recorded by Tourism Australia at their 
respective functional currency spot rates at the  
date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the functional 
currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting 
date. Differences arising on settlement or translation 
of monetary items are recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.

Unless an alternative treatment is specifically 
required by an accounting standard or the financial 
reporting rule, assets and liabilities are recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Position when, and only 
when, it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the entity or a future sacrifice of economic 
benefits will be required and the amounts of the 
assets or liabilities can be reliably measured. 

Unless an accounting standard specifically requires 
an alternative treatment, income and expenses  
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income when, and only when, the flow, consumption 
or loss of economic benefits has occurred and can 
be reliably measured.

All new standards issued prior to the sign-off date that 
apply to the current reporting period did not have  
a material effect on the entity’s financial statements.

1.3 Significant accounting judgements 
and estimates

No accounting assumptions or estimates have  
been identified that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next reporting period.
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NOTE 1: OVERVIEW (CONTINUED)
1.4 Revenue

Revenue from rendering services is recognised  
by reference to the stage of completion of contracts 
at the reporting date. 

The revenue is recognised when:

 ● The amount of revenue, stage of completion 
and transaction costs incurred can be 
reliably measured

 ● The probable economic benefits associated with 
the transaction will flow to Tourism Australia.

The stage of completion of contracts at the reporting 
date is determined by calculating the costs incurred 
to date as a proportion of the estimated total costs  
of the transaction.

Receivables for services, which have 30-day terms, 
are recognised at the nominal amounts due less 
any impairment allowance account. Collectability of 
debts is reviewed at the end of the reporting period. 
Allowances are made when the collectability of the 
debt is no longer probable.

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective 
interest method as set out in AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Resources received free of charge

Resources received free of charge are recognised  
as revenue when, and only when, a fair value can  
be reliably determined and the services would  
have been purchased if they had not been donated. 
Use of those resources is recognised as an expense. 
Resources received free of charge are recorded as 
either revenue or gains, depending on their nature.

Revenue from Government

Funding received or receivable from non-corporate 
Commonwealth entities (appropriated to the non-
corporate Commonwealth entity as a corporate 
Commonwealth entity payment item for payment 
to this entity) is recognised as Revenue from 
Government by the corporate Commonwealth  
entity unless the funding is in the nature of an  
equity injection or a loan.

1.5 Employee benefits

Liabilities for short-term employee benefits  
(as defined in AASB 119 Employee Benefits) and 
termination benefits expected within 12 months  
of the end of the reporting period are measured  
at their nominal amounts. The nominal amount  
is calculated with regard to the rates expected  
to be paid on settlement of the liability.

Other long-term employee benefits are measured  
as the net total of the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period 
minus the fair value at the end of the reporting period 
of plan assets (if any) out of which the obligations are  
to be settled directly.

Leave

The liability for employee benefits includes provision 
for annual leave and long service leave. No provision 
has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-
vesting and the average sick leave taken in future 
years by employees of the entity is estimated to be 
less than the annual entitlement for sick leave. 

The leave liabilities are calculated on the basis of 
employees’ remuneration, at the estimated salary 
rates that will be applied at the time the leave 
is taken, including Tourism Australia’s employer 
superannuation contribution rates, to the extent  
that the leave is likely to be taken during service 
rather than paid out on termination.

Long service leave has been determined using  
the shorthand method. The estimate of the  
present value of the liability takes into account 
attrition rates and pay increases through inflation.

Separation and redundancy

Provision is made for separation and redundancy 
benefit payments. Tourism Australia recognises  
a provision for terminations when it has developed 
a detailed formal plan for the terminations and has 
informed those employees that it will carry out the 
terminations. Tourism Australia’s separation and 
redundancy costs are included in Note 2A.

Superannuation

Australia: Staff of Tourism Australia are members of 
the Australian Government Employee Superannuation 
Trust (AGEST), the Commonwealth Superannuation 
Scheme (CSS), the Public Sector Superannuation 
Scheme (PSS), the PSS accumulation plan (PSSap)  
or a plan of their own choice.

The CSS and PSS are defined benefit schemes for 
the Australian Government. The PSSap is a defined 
contribution scheme.

The liability for defined benefits is recognised in the 
financial statements of the Australian Government 
and is settled by the Australian Government in due 
course. This liability is reported in the Department  
of Finance’s administered schedules and notes.
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Tourism Australia makes employer contributions 
to the employees’ superannuation scheme at 
rates determined by an actuary to be sufficient to 
meet the current cost to the Government. Tourism 
Australia accounts for the contributions as if they 
were contributions to defined contribution plans.

The statutory contribution rate for Tourism Australia 
was 9.5 per cent for AGEST (2016/17: 9.5 per cent), 
18.9 per cent for CSS (2016/17: 18.9 per cent), 
12.9 per cent for PSS (2016/17: 12.9 per cent), 
15.4 per cent for PSSap (2016/17: 15.4 per cent)  
and for other funds, the rate was between 
9.5 per cent and 15.4 per cent of salaries in 2017/18.

In addition, Tourism Australia remitted Employer 
Productivity Superannuation Contributions to 
ComSuper for employees in defined benefit 
schemes only. The contribution rate was variable 
and banded according to earnings and was between 
2 per cent and 3 per cent of salaries in 2017/18.

Overseas: Superannuation for Tourism Australia’s 
offshore personnel is calculated and paid in 
accordance with local law.

1.6 Leases

An operating lease is a lease where the lessor 
effectively retains almost all such risks and benefits. 
Operating leases are expensed on a straight-line 
basis, which represents the pattern of benefits  
from the leased assets. 

Lease incentives under operating leases are 
recognised as a liability and amortised on a 
straight-line basis over the life of the lease term.

1.7 Cash

Cash is recognised at its nominal amount. Cash  
and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and  
also demand deposits in bank accounts with an 
original maturity of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

1.8 Financial assets

Tourism Australia classifies its financial assets as 
loans and receivables. Trade receivables, loans and 
other receivables that have fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market 
are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and 
receivables are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method less impairment. 
Interest is recognised using the effective 
interest rate.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset,  
or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for impairment at the 
end of each reporting period.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss 
has been incurred for loans and receivables held at 
amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest 
rate. The carrying amount is reduced by way of an 
allowance account. The loss is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

1.9 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other 
financial liabilities. 

Financial liabilities are recognised and derecognised 
upon ‘trade date’.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are initially measured  
at fair value, net of transaction costs. These liabilities 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost  
using the effective interest method, with interest 
expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 

The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability,  
or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Supplier and other payables are recognised  
at cost. Liabilities are recognised to the extent  
that the goods or services have been received  
(and irrespective of having been invoiced).

NOTE 1: OVERVIEW (CONTINUED)
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1.10 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are not 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 
but are reported in the relevant schedules and 
notes. They may arise from uncertainty as to the 
existence of a liability or asset, or represent an existing 
liability or asset in respect of which settlement is not 
probable or the amount cannot be reliably measured. 
Contingent assets are disclosed when settlement is 
probable but not virtually certain, and contingent 
liabilities are recognised when the possibility of 
settlement is greater than remote.

1.11 Acquisition of assets

Assets are recorded at cost on acquisition except 
as stated below. The cost of acquisition includes 
the fair value of assets transferred in exchange and 
liabilities undertaken. Financial assets are initially 
measured at their fair value plus transaction costs 
where appropriate.

Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal 
consideration, are initially recognised as assets and 
income at their fair value at the date of acquisition, 
unless acquired as a consequence of restructuring of 
administrative arrangements. In the latter case, assets 
are initially recognised as contributions by owners  
at the amounts at which they were recognised in  
the transferor’s accounts immediately prior  
to the restructuring.

1.12 Property, plant and equipment

Asset recognition threshold

Purchases of property, plant and equipment are 
recognised initially at cost in the Statement of 
Financial Position, except for purchases costing  
less than $5,000, which are expensed in the year  
of acquisition (other than where they form part of  
a group of similar items that are significant in total).

The initial cost of an asset includes an estimate  
of the cost of dismantling and removing the item 
and restoring the site on which it is located. This  
is particularly relevant to ‘make good’ provisions  
in property leases taken up by Tourism Australia  
where there is an obligation to restore the property  
to its original condition. These costs are included 
in the value of Tourism Australia’s leasehold 
improvements, with a corresponding provision  
for the make good recognised.

Revaluations

Following initial recognition at cost, property,  
plant and equipment is carried at fair value less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Valuations are 
conducted with sufficient frequency to ensure 
that the carrying amounts of assets do not differ 
materially from the assets’ fair values as at the 
reporting date. The regularity of independent 
valuations depends upon the volatility of movements 
in market values for the relevant assets. 

Revaluation adjustments are made on a class  
basis. Any revaluation increment is credited to  
equity under the heading of asset revaluation 
reserve, except to the extent that it reverses  
a previous revaluation decrement of the same  
asset class that was previously recognised in the 
surplus or deficit. Revaluation decrements for  
a class of assets are recognised directly in the  
surplus or deficit except to the extent that they 
reverse a previous revaluation increment for 
that class.

Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation 
date is eliminated against the gross carrying  
amount of the asset, and the asset is restated  
to the revalued amount.

A revaluation of leasehold improvements and make 
good provisions was performed by B&A Valuers, 
an independent valuation and asset advisory firm. 
The revaluation was performed at 30 June 2016 
and assessed using the depreciated replacement 
cost approach. As this method of valuation uses 
unobservable input for assessment, it has been 
assigned level 3 input within the asset register.  
A revaluation of the make good provisions was  
made at 30 June 2018. No other revaluations 
occurred at that time.

NOTE 1: OVERVIEW (CONTINUED)
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Depreciation

Depreciable property, plant and equipment  
assets are written off to their estimated residual 
values over their estimated useful lives to Tourism 
Australia using, in all cases, the straight-line  
method of depreciation.

Depreciation rates (useful lives), residual values 
and methods are reviewed at each reporting date 
and necessary adjustments are recognised in the 
current, or current and future reporting periods, 
as appropriate.

Depreciation rates applying to each class of 
depreciable asset are based on the following 
useful lives:

2018 2017

Leasehold 
improvements Lease term Lease term

Infrastructure,  
plant and equipment 3 to 10 years 3 to 10 years

Impairment

All assets are assessed for indicators of impairment 
at 30 June. Where indications of impairment exist, 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated and 
an impairment adjustment made if the asset’s 
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher 
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in 
use. Value in use is the present value of the future 
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. 
Where the future economic benefit of an asset is not 
primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate 
future cash flows, and the asset would be replaced if 
the entity were deprived of the asset, its value in use 
is taken to be its depreciated replacement cost. 

Derecognition

An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no further 
economic benefits are expected from its use 
or disposal.

1.13 Intangibles

Tourism Australia’s intangibles comprise internally 
developed software for internal use, campaign 
production and trade marks. These assets are  
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation  
and accumulated impairment losses. Software  
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its 
anticipated useful life. The useful lives of Tourism 
Australia’s software is three years. All software  
assets are assessed for indications of impairment  
as at 30 June.

Campaign production costs are amortised on  
a straight-line basis over two to three years and 
assessed for indications of impairment as at 30 June.

Trade marks are amortised on a straight-line basis 
over their anticipated useful life. The useful life of 
trade marks is estimated at 10 years. All trade marks 
are assessed for indications of impairment as at 
30 June.

1.14 Taxation

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of 
GST except:

 ● Where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office

 ● For receivables and payables.

Tourism Australia is exempt from all foreign taxation 
laws except for any consumption taxes.

1.15  Events after the reporting period

There was no subsequent event that had the 
potential to significantly affect the ongoing  
structure and financial activities of the entity.

NOTE 1: OVERVIEW (CONTINUED)
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EXPENSES
2018 

$’000
2017 

$’000

Note 2A: Employee benefits

Wages and salaries 26,670 24,950

Superannuation:

Defined benefit plans 480 558

Defined contribution plans 2,529 2,326

Leave and other entitlements 2,384 2,007

Separation and redundancies 354 794

Other employee benefits expense 688 735

Total employee benefits 33,105 31,370

 
Note 2B: Suppliers

Services supplied or rendered

Advertising 74,258 79,420

Promotion and publicity 29,568 29,235

Films, publications and distribution 1,571 1,494

Information systems and telecommunications 9,268 8,310

Research, service fees and travel 6,608 7,043

Total goods and services supplied or rendered 121,273 125,502

Other supplier expenses

Operating lease rentals

Minimum lease payments 6,023 5,765

Workers compensation premiums 119 163

Total other supplier expenses 6,142 5,928

Total supplier expenses 127,415 131,430

 
Operating lease commitments

One year or less 5,270 5,351

From one to five years 10,591 12,071

Over five years ‒ ‒

Total operating lease commitments 15,861 17,422

Note 7B details the future commitments for restoration expenditure to bring back leased properties to their original condition.

NOTE 2: EXPENSES
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2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Note 2C: Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation

Leasehold improvements 273 334

Plant and equipment 318 264

Leasehold improvements restoration obligation 104 108

Total depreciation 695 706

 
Amortisation

Intangibles:

Computer software 3,859 2,753

Campaign production 4,732 2,668

Trade marks 31 31

Total amortisation 8,622 5,452

Total depreciation and amortisation 9,317 6,158

 
Note 2D: Write‑down and impairment of assets

Asset write-down and impairments from:

Impairment of infrastructure, plant and equipment ‒ 217

Impairment of intangible assets ‒ 28

Loss on disposal of infrastructure, plant and equipment 3 ‒

Loss on disposal of leasehold improvements 81 10

Total write-down and impairment of assets 84 255

NOTE 2: EXPENSES (CONTINUED)
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OWN-SOURCE REVENUE
2018 

$’000
2017 

$’000

Note 3A: Contributions revenue

Industry contributions 12,389 10,624

Total contributions revenue 12,389 10,624

Industry contributions reflect the actual value of industry support for Tourism Australia’s activities from  
direct revenue. In addition to receiving direct revenues from the industry, Tourism Australia was involved  
in joint marketing programs. Through these programs, the industry supplements funds provided by 
Tourism Australia for product development, visiting journalists and tactical marketing programs. Due to  
the nature of the programs, these funds or indirect revenue do not form part of the reported level of  
industry contributions for Tourism Australia, but are in addition to it.

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

 
Note 3B: Other revenue

Other revenue 838 433

Total other revenue 838 433

 
Note 3C: Revenue from Government

Appropriation from Government 129,308 140,266

Supplementary foreign exchange receivable/(payable) 2,653 (5,771)

Related – payments from other Government bodies 19,000 16,500

150,961 150,995

NOTE 3: REVENUE
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NOTE 4: FINANCIAL ASSETS
2018 

$’000
2017 

$’000

Note 4A: Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank or on deposit 8,121 22,720

Cash on hand 2 3

Total cash and cash equivalents 8,123 22,723

 
Note 4B: Trade and other receivables

Services receivable 2,143 3,314

GST receivable from the Australian Taxation Office 446 780

Other

Deposits and advances 1,288 981

Other Government bodies – foreign exchange losses receivable 2,653 ‒

Interest 3 22

Total trade and other receivables (gross) 6,533 5,097

Less impairment allowance account:

Goods and services receivable ‒ (8)

Total trade and other receivables (net) 6,533 5,089

Receivables are aged as follows:

Not overdue 6,231 2,498

Overdue by:

Less than 30 days 272 2,532

31 to 60 days 30 8

61 to 90 days ‒ ‒

More than 90 days ‒ 59

Total receivables (gross) 6,533 5,097

The impairment allowance account is aged as follows:

Overdue by:

30 to 60 days ‒ ‒

61 to 90 days ‒ ‒

More than 90 days ‒ (8)

Total impairment allowance account ‒ (8)

Reconciliation of the impairment allowance account:

Goods and services:

Opening balance (8) (8)

Amounts reversed 8 5

Increase of provision ‒ (5)

Closing balance ‒ (8)

Receivables are expected to be recovered in:

No more than 12 months 6,533 5,089

Total trade and other receivables (net) 6,533 5,089
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2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Note 5A: Land and buildings

Leasehold improvements

Fair value 7,828 8,680

Accumulated depreciation (5,940) (6,061)

Total leasehold improvements 1,888 2,619

 
Leasehold improvements make good

Fair value 595 709

Accumulated depreciation (484) (419)

Total leasehold improvements make good 111 290

Total land and buildings 1,999 2,909

Make good was subject to revaluation. No indicators of impairment were found for land and buildings.  
No land or buildings were expected to be sold or disposed of within the next 12 months.

Leasehold improvements assets with a fair value cost of $639,000 were disposed of during year.  
The carrying value at the time of disposal was $81,000.

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Leasehold improvements commitments

One year or less 368 117

Total leasehold commitments 368 117

 
Note 5B: Infrastructure, plant and equipment

Computer and office equipment

Fair value 1,820 813

Work in progress 725 842

Accumulated depreciation (746) (728)

Total computer and office equipment 1,799 927

 
Furniture and fittings

Fair value 190 220

Accumulated depreciation (157) (174)

Total furniture and fittings 33 46

Total infrastructure, plant and equipment 1,832 972

No indicators of impairments were found for infrastructure, plant and equipment. No infrastructure,  
plant or equipment is expected to be sold or disposed of within the next 12 months.

Infrastructure, plant and equipment with a fair value cost of $320,000 were disposed of during the year.  
The carrying value at the time of disposal was $3,000.

NOTE 5: NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
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2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Computer and office equipment commitments

One year or less 192 25

Total computer and office equipment commitments 192 25

 
Note 5C: Intangibles 

Software at cost:

In use 16,552 12,153

Work in progress 1,810 2,088

Accumulated amortisation (9,425) (5,566)

Total software 8,937 8,675

 
Campaign production at cost:

In use 21,321 9,226

Accumulated amortisation (11,274) (6,839)

Total campaign production 10,047 2,388

 
Trade marks:

At cost 311 311

Accumulated amortisation (127) (96)

Total trade marks 184 216

Total intangibles 19,168 11,278

 
Software commitments

One year or less 604 2,159

From one to five years ‒ 706

Total software commitments 604 2,865

No indicators of impairment were found for software assets.

Fully amortised campaign production assets with an acquisition price of $296,000 were disposed of during 
the year. The carrying value at the time of disposal was nil.

No intangibles are expected to be sold or disposed of within the next 12 months.

NOTE 5: NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
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NOTE 5: NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
2018 

$’000
2017 

$’000

Note 5D: Other non‑financial assets

Prepayments 4,260 3,594

Lease incentive 738 922

Total other non-financial assets 4,998 4,516

 
Total other non-financial assets are expected to be recovered in:

No more than 12 months 3,332 3,778

More than 12 months 1,666 738

Total other non-financial assets 4,998 4,516

No indicators of impairment were found for other non-financial assets.

Leasehold 
improvements 

$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Note 5E: Reconciliation of the opening and closing  
balances of infrastructure, plant and equipment (2017/18)

As at 1 July 2017

Gross book value 9,388 1,874 11,263

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (6,480) (902) (7,382)

Total as at 1 July 2017 2,909 972 3,881

 
Additions:

By purchase ‒ 1,181 1,181

Revaluation on leasehold improvements (75) ‒ (75)

Depreciation expense (377) (318) (695)

Disposals (81) (3) (84)

Lease incentive accumulated depreciation adjustment (377) ‒ (377)

Total as at 30 June 2018 1,999 1,832 3,831

 
Total as at 30 June 2018 represented by:

Gross book value 8,423 2,735 11,158

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (6,424) (903) (7,327)

Total as at 30 June 2018 1,999 1,832 3,831

Leasehold improvements assets with a current value of $639,000 were disposed of due to office relocation.  
The carrying value at the time of disposal was $81,000.
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Computer 
software 

internally 
developed 

$’000

Campaign 
production 

$’000

Trade 
marks 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Note 5F: Reconciliation of the opening and closing 
balances of intangibles (2017/18)

As at 1 July 2017

Gross book value 14,241 9,226 311 23,778

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (5,566) (6,839) (96) (12,500)

Total as at 1 July 2017 8,675 2,388 215 11,278

 
Additions:

By purchase or internally developed 4,121 12,391 ‒ 16,512

Amortisation (3,859) (4,732) (31) (8,622)

Total as at 30 June 2018 8,937 10,047 184 19,168

 
Total as at 30 June 2018 represented by:

Gross book value 18,362 21,321 311 39,994

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (9,425) (11,274) (127) (20,826)

Total as at 30 June 2018 8,937 10,047 184 19,168

Fully amortised campaign production assets with an acquisition price of $296,000 were disposed of during 
the year. The carrying value at the time of disposal was nil.

NOTE 5: NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
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2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Note 6A: Suppliers

Trade creditors and accruals 9,870 10,684

Total supplier payables 9,870 10,684

 
Supplier payables expected to be settled within 12 months:

External parties 9,870 10,684

Total supplier payables 9,870 10,684

Settlement is usually made within 30 days.

 
Note 6B: Other payables

Salaries and wages 1,255 1,225

Superannuation 36 32

Prepayment received/unearned income 4,167 2,192

Lease incentive 2,184 2,695

Other Government bodies – foreign exchange gain from prior year ‒ 5,771

Total other payables 7,642 11,916

 
Total other payables are expected to be settled in:

No more than 12 months 5,655 9,782

More than 12 months 1,987 2,134

Total other payables 7,642 11,916

NOTE 6: PAYABLES
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2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Note 7A: Employee provisions

Leave 4,254 3,982

Total employee provisions 4,254 3,982

 
Employee provisions are expected to be settled in:

No more than 12 months 3,292 2,537

More than 12 months 962 1,445

Total employee provisions 4,254 3,982

 
Note 7B: Other provisions

Provision for restoration obligations 674 735

Total other provisions 674 735

 
Other provisions are expected to be settled in:

No more than 12 months 81 169

More than 12 months 593 566

Total other provisions 674 735

 
Provision for restoration

Carrying amount 1 July 735 761

Amounts adjusted for revaluation (95) 1

Amounts reversed for expired leases 14 (43)

Unwinding of discount and change in discount rate 20 16

Closing balance at 30 June 674 735

Tourism Australia currently has six (2017: seven) lease agreements for premises that have provisions requiring 
it to restore the premises to their original condition at the conclusion of the lease. Tourism Australia has made 
a provision to reflect the present value of these obligations.

Note 2B details the future commitments for rental expenditure for the leased properties.

NOTE 7: PROVISIONS
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NOTE 8: CONTINGENT  
LIABILITIES AND ASSETS
Tourism Australia has no contingent assets or liabilities, or quantifiable, unquantifiable or significant 
remote contingencies (2017: nil).
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NOTE 9: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Related party relationships

The entity is an Australian Government entity. 
Related parties to this entity are key management 
personnel, including the Portfolio Minister and  
other Australian Government entities.

Transactions with related parties

In the ordinary course of business conducted  
under normal terms and conditions, Tourism 
Australia has dealt with the following related parties:

a) Mr Bob East is the Chair of Tourism Australia and 
was the Chair of Tourism Events Queensland 
(from 1 July 2017 to 5 September 2017) and 
Chief Executive Officer and shareholder in the 
Mantra Group (from 1 July 2017 to 31 May 2018). 

 Transactions between Tourism Australia and  
Tourism Events Queensland during the period 
totalled a net receipt of $263,555 (2017: payment 
of $492,689). Transactions included receipts and 
payments relating to cooperative marketing 
campaigns and events activity and joint rental 
tenancy payments. 

 Transactions between Tourism Australia and  
The Mantra Group during the year totalled a net 
receipt of $23,529 (2017: $14,200). Transactions 
included receipts relating to conference fees 
and did not include non-contracted employee 
accommodation expenses.

b) Mrs Anna Guillan is a Director of Tourism  
 Australia and Tourism Events Queensland.

 Transactions between Tourism Australia and  
Tourism Events Queensland during the year 
totalled a net payment of $581,768 (2017: $492,689). 
Transactions included receipts and payments 
relating to cooperative marketing campaigns,  
events activity and joint rental tenancy payments.

c) Ms Kate Vale is a Director of Tourism Australia  
and Tourism Tasmania. 

 Transactions between Tourism Australia and  
Tourism Tasmania during the year totalled  
a net receipt of $404,380 (2017: $203,268). 
Transactions included receipts and payments 
relating to cooperative marketing campaigns  
and conference fees.

d) Ms Andrea Staines is a Director of Tourism 
Australia and a Non-Executive Director of Sealink 
Travel Group. 

 Transactions between Tourism Australia and 
Sealink Travel Group during the year totalled a 
net receipt of $9,500 (2017: $37,612). Transactions 
included receipts relating to conference fees.

e) Mr Francis Wong is a Director of Tourism  
Australia and was a Non-Executive Director of  
the Australian Tourism Export Council (from 
July 2017 to January 2018). 

 Transactions between Tourism Australia and the 
Australian Tourism Export Council during the year 
totalled a net payment of $20,000 (2017: $30,688). 
Transactions included payments and receipts 
relating to sponsorship and conference fees.

Transactions with entities related to key 
management personnel

a) Ms Lisa Ronson is the Chief Marketing Officer of 
Tourism Australia and a Director of Great Walks  
of Australia. Transactions between Tourism 
Australia and Great Walks of Australia during  
the year totalled a net payment of $115,000 (2017: 
$133,171). Transactions included receipts and 
payments relating to cooperative marketing 
campaigns and conference fees.
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2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Key management personnel remuneration expenses for the reporting period

Short-term employee benefits

Salary 2,099 1,948

Performance bonus 222 188

Total short-term employee benefits 2,321 2,136

 
Post-employment benefits

Superannuation 192 220

Total post-employment benefits 192 220

 
Other long-term employee benefits

Long service leave 66 73

Other long-term benefit 138 158

Total other long-term employee benefits 204 231

Termination benefits ‒ ‒

Total key management personnel remuneration expenses 2,717 2,587

1. Key management personnel included above comprise Tourism Australia’s Executive Leadership team, which is responsible for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the company as per the standard.

2. Note 10 is prepared on an accrual basis.
3. The total number of key management personnel included in Note 10 is six (2017: nine).
4. The above key management personnel remuneration excludes the remuneration and other benefits of the Portfolio Minister.  

The Portfolio Minister’s remuneration and other benefits are set by the Remuneration Tribunal and not paid by the entity.

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Fair value of the services received for auditing the financial statements for the 
reporting period

113 113

Total remuneration of auditors 113 113

No other services were provided to Tourism Australia by the Auditor-General during the reporting period.

NOTE 10: KEY MANAGEMENT  
PERSONNEL REMUNERATION

NOTE 11: REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
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2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Note 12A: Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

Cash at bank and cash equivalents 8,123 22,723

Trade and other receivables 6,087 4,309

Total 14,210 27,032

Carrying amount of financial assets 14,210 27,032

 
Financial liabilities

At amortised cost

Trade creditors and other payables 17,512 22,601

Carrying amount of financial liabilities 17,512 22,601

 
Note 12B: Net income and expense from financial assets

Loans and receivables

Interest revenue 987 918

Net gain from loans and receivables 987 918

Net gain from financial assets 987 918

The total interest income from financial assets not at fair value through profit and loss in the year ended 
30 June 2018 was $987,000 (2017: $918,000).

Note 12C: Net income and expense from financial liabilities

2018 
$’000

2017 
$’000

Financial liabilities – at amortised cost

Exchange losses (621) (629)

Net gain financial liabilities – at amortised cost (621) (629)

Net gain from financial liabilities (621) (629)

Notes

 
Fair value 2018 

$’000
Fair value 2017 

$’000

Note 12D: Fair values of financial instruments

Financial assets

Cash at bank 4A 6,973 7,297

Deposits at call 4A 1,150 15,426

Receivables for goods and services 4B 6,533 5,089

Total financial assets 14,656 27,812

 
Financial liabilities (recognised)

Trade creditors 6A 9,870 10,684

Other payables 6B 7,642 11,916

Total financial liabilities 17,512 22,601

NOTE 12: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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Budget estimate

Actual 
2018 

$’000

Original 
2018 

$’000

Variance 
2018 

$’000

NET COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits 33,105 32,229 876

Suppliers 127,415 130,206 (2,791)

Other expenses 3,926 ‒ 3,926

Depreciation and amortisation 9,317 4,500 4,817

Finance costs 15 ‒ 15

Write-down and impairment of assets 84 ‒ 84

Total expenses 173,862 166,935 6,927

Own-source income

Own-source revenue

Interest 987 909 78

Rental income 1,426 ‒ 1,426

Other revenue 21,142 17,718 3,424

Total own-source revenue 23,555 18,627 4,928

(Losses)/gains

Foreign exchange losses (621) ‒ (621)

Other gains 39 ‒ 39

Total losses (582) ‒ (582)

Total own-source income 22,973 18,627 4,346

Net cost of services 150,889 148,308 2,581

Revenue from Government 150,961 148,308 2,653

Surplus before income tax on continuing operations 72 ‒ 72

 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not subject to subsequent reclassification to net cost 
of services

Changes in asset revaluation surplus (29) ‒ (29)

Total comprehensive income attributable to the 
Australian Government

43 ‒ 43

NOTE 13: BUDGETARY REPORTS AND  
EXPLANATIONS OF MAJOR VARIANCES
The following table provides a comparison of the original budget as presented in the 2017/18 Portfolio Budget 
Statements to the 2017/18 final outcome in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards for the entity. 
The budget is not audited.

Note 13A: Departmental budgetary reports

Statement of comprehensive income for not-for-profit reporting entities for the year ended 30 June 2018
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Budget estimate

Actual 
2018 

$’000

Original 
2018 

$’000

Variance 
2018 

$’000

ASSETS

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8,123 13,271 (5,148)

Trade and other receivables 6,533 5,670 863

Total financial assets 14,656 18,941 (4,285)

 
Non-financial assets

Land and buildings 1,999 3,355 (1,356)

Property, plant and equipment 1,832 568 1,264

Intangibles 19,168 12,471 6,697

Other non-financial assets 4,998 4,116 882

Total non-financial assets 27,997 20,510 7,487

Total assets 42,653 39,451 3,202

 
LIABILITIES

Payables

Suppliers 9,870 7,080 2,790

Other payables 7,642 5,888 1,754

Total payables 17,512 12,968 4,544

 
Provisions

Employee provisions 4,254 5,673 (1,419)

Other provisions 674 761 (87)

Total provisions 4,928 6,434 (1,506)

Total liabilities 22,440 19,402 3,038

Net assets 20,213 20,049 164

 
EQUITY

Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 1,543 1,543 ‒ 

Reserves 2,484 2,457 27

Retained surplus/(accumulated deficit) 16,186 16,049 137

Total equity 20,213 20,049 164 

Statement of financial position for not-for-profit reporting entities for the year ended 30 June 2018

NOTE 13: BUDGETARY REPORTS AND  
EXPLANATIONS OF MAJOR VARIANCES 
(CONTINUED)
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NOTE 13: BUDGETARY REPORTS AND  
EXPLANATIONS OF MAJOR VARIANCES  
(CONTINUED)

Budget estimate

Actual 
2018 

$’000

Original 
2018 

$’000

Variance 
2018 

$’000

Opening balance

Balance carried forward from previous period 16,114 16,049 65

Adjusted opening balance 16,114 16,049 65

 
Comprehensive income

Surplus for the period 72 ‒ 72

Total comprehensive income 72 ‒ 72

Total transactions with owners ‒ ‒ ‒

Closing balance as at 30 June 16,186 16,049 137

Closing balance attributable to Australian Government 16,186 16,049 137

Statement of changes in equity for not-for-profit reporting entities for the year ended 30 June 2018
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Budget estimate

Actual 
2018 

$’000

Original 
2018 

$’000

Variance 
2018 

$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received

Appropriation 129,308 129,308 ‒

Appropriation provided by Portfolio Department 19,000 19,000 ‒

Revenue from industry sources 21,061 17,718 3,343

Interest 984 909 75

GST received 4,052 ‒ 4,052

Total cash received 174,405 166,935 7,470

Cash used

Employees (32,799) (32,229) (570)

Suppliers (131,908) (130,239) (1,669)

GST paid (213) ‒ ‒

Exchange difference returned to Government (5,771) ‒ (5,771)

Total cash used (170,691) (162,468) (8,223)

Net cash from operating activities 3,714 4,467 (753)

 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash used

Purchase of infrastructure, plant and equipment, and 
intangibles

(17,693) (4,467) (13,226)

Total cash used (17,693) (4,467) (13,226)

Net cash used for investing activities (17,693) (4,467) (13,226)

 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net increase in cash held (13,979) (0) (13,979)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
reporting period

22,723 13,271 9,452

Effect of exchange rate movements on cash and cash 
equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period

(621) ‒ (621)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting 
period

8,123 13,271 (5,148)

Cash flow statement for not-for-profit reporting entities for the year ended 30 June 2018 

NOTE 13: BUDGETARY REPORTS AND  
EXPLANATIONS OF MAJOR VARIANCES  
(CONTINUED)
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Note 13B: Departmental major budget variances for 2018

Explanations of major variances Affected line items (and statement)

Supplier and other expenses of $131,341,000 are $1,135,000 higher  
than budget. A weaker Australian dollar has resulted in $2,653,000  
of foreign exchange losses compared to budget exchange rates, 
which in turn has resulted in higher overseas costs.

Suppliers (Statement of 
Comprehensive Income)

Depreciation and amortisation expenses of $9,317,000 are  
$4,817,000 greater than budget, due to increased capital  
expenditure in the 2017/18 year, mainly on the Dundee campaign.

Depreciation and amortisation 
(Statement of Comprehensive 
Income)

Total own-source revenue of $23,555,000 is $4,928,000 higher 
than budget, largely due to higher industry contributions and 
partnership revenue. 

Total own-source revenue (Statement 
of Comprehensive Income)

Total assets of $42,653,000 are $3,202,000 higher than budget,  
driven by higher levels of intangible assets capital expenditure  
during 2017/18. This was offset by lower levels of cash, partially  
due to payment of foreign exchange gains of $5,771,000 for 2016/17. 

Total assets (Statement of 
Financial Position)

Net cash from operating activities is $753,000 lower than budget, 
due largely to the payment of foreign exchange gains of $5,771,000 
for 2016/17, offset by higher own-source revenue from industry 
contributions and partnership revenue. 

Net cash from operating activities 
(Cash Flow Statement)

Net cash flow used for investing activity was $13,226 higher, mainly  
due to higher capital expenditure relating to the Dundee campaign.

Net cash from investing activities 
(Cash Flow Statement)

NOTE 13: BUDGETARY REPORTS AND  
EXPLANATIONS OF MAJOR VARIANCES  
(CONTINUED)
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7.1 GLOSSARY
App: An application, often as downloaded by a user to 
a mobile device.

Appropriation: An authorisation by Parliament to  
spend moneys from the Consolidated Revenue Fund  
for a particular purpose.

Approved destination status: A bilateral arrangement 
between the Chinese Government and a destination country, 
allowing Chinese tourists to undertake group leisure travel  
to that country.

Asia Marketing Fund: A fund announced in May 2012 that 
aims to generate greater visitation and economic returns 
from Asia, Australia’s fastest growing tourism region.

Assets: Future economic benefits controlled by an entity 
because of past transactions or other past events.

Bilateral air services agreements: Before an airline  
can operate international services to another country, the 
Australian Government must first negotiate a treaty-level 
agreement with the destination country’s government. 
These treaties are known as bilateral air services agreements. 
These agreements allow our airlines to offer the range  
of services that they do today.

Corporate governance: The process by which agencies are 
directed and controlled. Corporate governance is generally 
understood to encompass authority, accountability, 
stewardship, leadership, direction and control.

Depreciation: A method of allocating the cost of a tangible 
asset over its useful life. Businesses depreciate long-term 
assets for both tax and accounting purposes.

Distribution: The link between the providers of tourism 
services and consumers.

Earned advertising value (EAV): Calculated by measuring the 
column inches (in the case of print) or seconds (in the case of 
broadcast media) and multiplying these figures  
by the respective medium’s advertising rates (per inch or  
per second). The resulting number is what it would have  
cost to place an advertisement of that size in that medium.

Enterprise agreement: An enterprise agreement  
details employment conditions and is approved by  
the Fair Work Commission.

Estimates: An agency’s expected revenues, expenses,  
assets, liabilities and cash flows. Estimates are prepared  
for each output in the agency’s budget in consultation  
with the Department of Finance.

Expenses: The full costs of an activity, the total value of all 
the resources consumed in producing goods and services, 
or the loss of future economic benefits in the form of asset 
reductions or increases in an entity’s liabilities.

Fifth freedom air travel rights: An airline’s right to carry 
traffic between foreign countries and its home country. 
Under the fifth freedom, an airline can carry passengers 
from its own country to a second country, and from that 
country to a third country and so on.

Inbound tour operator: A tour operator that arranges tours  
in its home country for people coming from overseas.

Open skies: An international policy concept relating  
to the liberalisation of the rules and regulations of  
the international aviation industry in order to create  
a free-market environment for the airline industry.

Outcomes: The Australian Government’s objectives for  
an agency or portfolio. Outcomes are desired results, impacts 
or consequences for the Australian community as influenced 
by the actions of the Australian Government. The outcomes 
are assessments of the end results or impacts achieved.

Out-of-home advertising: Advertising that is focused on 
marketing to consumers when they are in public places, in 
transit, waiting or in commercial locations (such as in a retail 
venue). Out-of-home advertising formats fall into four main 
categories: billboards, street furniture, transit and alternative.

Net Promoter Score: The percentage of promoters minus 
the percentage of detractors.

Portfolio Additional Estimates: Changes in funding 
requirements that occur after the Australian Government 
Budget is presented. These changes to funding require  
the House of Representatives and the Senate to consider  
the additional estimates.

Portfolio Budget Statements: Budget papers that inform 
senators and members of Parliament of the proposed 
allocation of resources to government outcomes by  
agencies within the portfolio.

Program: An activity or group of activities that delivers 
benefits or services. Programs are the primary vehicles  
for government agencies to achieve the intended results  
of their outcomes statement.

Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP): A plan that outlines  
efforts to develop strong and productive relationships  
with Indigenous peoples and provide a better future  
for Indigenous children.

Revenue: The total value of resources earned or received  
to cover the production of goods and services.

Unique visitors: A count of how many different people  
look at a website. For example, if a user leaves and comes 
back to the site five times during the measurement period, 
that person is counted as one unique visitor, but their 
activities would count as five ‘user sessions’ or ‘visits’.

User-generated content (UGC): Any form of content  
created by users of a system that is publicly made  
available on that system. User-generated content  
most often appears as supplements to online platforms,  
such as social media websites.

Wide area network (WAN): A wide area network is  
a telecommunications network or computer network  
that extends over a large geographical distance.

Working Holiday Maker (WHM) visa program: The Working 
Holiday Maker visa program is an Australian Government 
initiative that has been running since 1975. It is designed  
to foster closer ties and cultural exchange between Australia 
and partner countries, with a particular emphasis on young 
adults. Partner countries initially comprised a relatively small 
number of Commonwealth countries, but the program has 
since grown to encompass 39 partner nations and regions 
from across the globe.

Table 19: Glossary
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7.2  ABBREVIATIONS  
AND ACRONYMS

AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board

AGEST Australian Government Employee Superannuation Trust

ASP Aussie Specialist Program

ATE Australian Tourism Exchange

BEA Business Events Australia

CSS Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme

IMHP International Media Hosting Program

ITB Internationale Tourismus Börse

IVS International Visitor Survey

KPI Key performance indicator

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

NABERS National Australian Built Environment Rating System

PAES Portfolio Additional Estimates Statements

PAICE Pacific Area Incentives and Conferences Expo

PBS Portfolio Budget Statements

PGPA Act Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013 

PSSap Public Sector Superannuation accumulation plan

TRA Tourism Research Australia

UNWTO United Nations World Tourism Organization

WAN Wide area network

Table 20: Abbreviations and acronyms
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7.3 ALPHABETICAL INDEX 
@Australia Instagram Stories, 51
#24MillionMates campaign, 72
#SeeAustralia, 72
#ThisTimeTomorrow partnership, 68
A
abbreviations and acronyms, 157
accommodation, 7, 89
accountability, 112
Adobe platform, 95, 102
Advance Program, 75, 76, 79
Airline Marketplace campaign, 63
Airlines, see aviation
Annual Performance Statement, 18–25
Aquatic and Coastal campaign, 17, 37
arrivals growth, 15, 18, 20, 30–31
assets

contingent, 133, 145
financial, 121, 127, 132, 133, 138, 148, 150
fixed, 121
non-financial, 127, 139–142, 150

audits, 113, 114
Independent Auditor’s Report, 122–123
Audit and Finance Committee, 113, 116
Aussie News Today campaign, 17, 24, 27, 
32, 33, 37, 42–43
Aussie Specialist Program, 55, 81, 82, 106
Aussie Specialist Training Carnival, 83
Austrade, 25, 55, 81, 89, 90
Australia on Tour Roadshow, 71
Australia Tourism Summit, 28, 69
australia.cn website, 23, 24, 50, 56
australia.com website, 23, 24, 33, 35, 42, 50, 
66, 70, 72, 73, 93, 103, 114
Australian Tourism Exchange, 81, 86–88
Australian Wildlife Journeys, 45, 82
Australiens Wilde Seiten campaign, 71
aviation

competition, 7
growth, 7, 20, 30, 81, 85
new capacity, 81
partnerships, 26, 52–53, 57, 58, 60, 63, 
64–66, 68, 70, 73, 83, 87
route development, 25

awards, 32–33, 41, 99

B
balance sheet, 121
Bank Central Asia (BCA), 64
Battle Trip, 61
Board

activities, 12, 93, 115–116
Charter, 115
committees, 114, 116
meetings, 93, 116
profiles, 117–119

broadcast activity, 28, 48, 63, 64
budgetary reports, 149–153
business evaluations, 113
business events, 9, 74–79

customers, 11
marketing, 27, 28, 33, 75, 77, 79
markets, 12, 13, 18
overview, 15, 17

Business Events Australia, 29, 75, 76, 79
Business Events Bid Fund Program, 17, 20, 
28, 75, 76
Buzzfeed Mates program, 42

C
campaigns, 36–79

Asia, 56–66
Airline Marketplace, 63

Aquatic and Coastal, 17, 37
Aussie News Today, 17, 24, 27, 32, 33, 37, 
42–43
business events, 74–79
Dundee, 17, 23, 24, 28, 32, 38–41, 49, 73, 
96, 102
Europe, 70–71
food and wine, 37
North America, 68–69
overview, 23, 41
public relations, broadcast and media 
hosting, 48
Restaurant Australia, 37
There’s nothing like Australia, 24, 32, 
36–37, 55, 63, 65, 72, 79
UK, 72–73
USA, 38–41
Wild Australia, 73
youth, 17, 37, 42–43

camping experiences, 59
Canadian visitors, 68–69
Cash Flow Statement, 129
Chairman

Letter of transmittal, inside front cover
profile, 117
report, 15
Statement on fraud control, 114

China-Australia Year of Tourism, 15, 17, 
56, 84
China Eastern Airlines, 52, 57
China Southern Airlines, 57
Chinese market, 15, 56–57
Chinese social media, 51
Code of Conduct, 99
Commonwealth Games 2018, 55, 66
communications, 93
compliance-based training, 103
compliance index, 161
conferences, 93
consultancies, 114
consumers
see also visitors

demand, 8
digital platforms, 102
engagement campaign, 56
research, 37
survey, 20
target, 11

contacts, 162–163
contingent liabilities and assets, 145
contracts, 114
corporate governance, 25, 110–119
corporate infrastructure, 102
Corroboree West 2017, 82, 83, 86
customers, see consumers; visitors
cybersecurity, 103

D
data, 17, 20, 93
Destination Australia conference, 81, 93
Development Dimensions International 
(DDI), 103
digital platforms

marketing campaigns, 24, 42, 79
training, 82

digital strategy, 50
digital transformation program, 102, 106
Directors, 117–119, see also Board
Discover Aboriginal Experiences program, 
47
distribution, 24, 79
diversity, 96

Dreamtime 2017, 77–78
Dundee campaign, 17, 23, 24, 28, 32, 38–41, 
49, 73, 96, 102

E
earned advertising value (EAV), 18, 38, 48, 
62, 63
economic outlook, 8
Emerging Leaders of Inbound Tourism 
Excellence (ELITE) program, 103
employees, see staff
enabling legislation, 5, 112
energy efficiency, 104
environmental performance, 104
ethics, 99
Etihad Airways, 52, 70, 73
European visitors, 70–71
events management system, 102
Executive Leadership team, 108–109
executive reports, 14–17
Expedia, 69
expenditure

business events, 74–75
Tourism Australia, 121, 135–136, 153
tourists, see spending by visitors

external audit, 114
external scrutiny, 114

F
Facebook, 51
finance law, compliance, 114
financial instruments, 148
financials, 120–153 

assets, 121, 127, 132, 138, 148, 150
cash flow, 129
expenditure, 135–136
performance overview, 121
revenue, 121, 126, 129, 131, 137, 149, 153
statements, 124–153

fixed assets, 121
Flight Centre, 73
foreign investment, 89
fraud control, 114
freedom of information, 114
French visitors, 70
Friends of Australia, 48, 49
Friends of Australia ambassador program, 
62

G
Garuda Indonesia partnership, 64
G’Day USA, 48, 49, 85
gender diversity in employment, 25, 96
German visitors, 70
glamping experiences, 59
global changes affecting tourism, 8
glossary, 156
government links, 84
government outcome and programs, 6
grant bids management, 103
grow demand, 6, 18, 35–79

H
Hanatour, 61
Health and Safety Committee, 99
highlights, 2–3
Hong Kong visitors, 58–59

I
incentive events, 77
incidents and disputes, 99
India Travel Mission, 63
Indian visitors, 62–63, 85
Indigenous Cadetship Support program, 96
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Indigenous experiences tourism, 47
Indigenous staff, 25, 96
Indonesian visitors, 64
industry development, 8, 23, 81–93
industry engagement, 25, 43, 93
Industry Relations team, 93
Instagram, 51
internal audit, 113, 114
International Media Hosting Program 
(IMHP), 23
international trade shows, 79, 86–88
International Visitor Survey (IVS), 20
international visitors, 15
Investment Advisory Panel, 89
investment attraction, 25
Investment Attraction Partnership Group, 
89
investment in tourism infrastructure, 81, 
89–91
Italian visitors, 71

J
Japan Airlines, 60
Japanese visitors, 60
JTB, 60
judicial decisions and reports, 114

K
key distribution partners, 38, 42, 53, 64, 65
key events, 26–29
key management personnel remuneration, 
147

L
legislation, 5, 112, 113, 114
legislative functions, 5
leisure customers, 11
liabilities, 121, 145

M
MakeMyTrip, 63
Malaysian visitors, 66
Managing Director, 108
Managing Director’s report, 17
marketing

awards, 32–33
campaigns, see campaigns
communications, 79
effectiveness, 18, 23
global changes, 8
purpose, 5

media and influencer hosting, 48
Meitu app, 56
Minister for Trade, Tourism and Investment, 
112, 113
Mood of the Nation study, 3
My Signature Dish campaign, 73

N
NAIDOC Week activities, 96
Net Promoter Score (NPS), 98
New Journey to the West – Youth over 
Flowers, 61
New Zealand travel agents, 82
niche marketing, 45
non-financial assets, 127, 139–142, 150

O
operating environment, changes in, 8
operational planning processes, 113
organisational capability, 102–103
organisational purpose, 5
organisational structure, 105
restructure, 106
 

P
Parliamentary accountability, 112
partnerships

airlines, 52–53, 57, 58, 60, 64–66, 68, 70, 73
Austrade, 89
Australian Tourism Exchange, 87
distribution, 81
Europe, 70–71
marketing, 52–53, 79
overview, 24, 55

payables, 143
performance

analysis, 24
corporate governance overview, 111
environmental, 104
financial, 121, see also financials
grow demand, 6, 18, 35–79
industry development, 81
management overview, 95
staff, 99

photo campaign, 56
procurement initiatives, 114
programs, 6
project planning, 113
Protective Security Policy Framework, 103
provisions, 144
public relations program, 23, 48

Q
Qantas, 41, 52, 58, 60, 63, 65, 73
Quarterly Brand Tracker, 23
Queen’s Baton Relay, 55

R
Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP), 96
Regional Tourism Infrastructure 
Investment Attraction Strategy, 25
related party disclosures, 146
remuneration

auditors, 147
key management personnel, 147

research, 37
Restaurant Australia campaign, 37
return on investment (ROI) analysis, 23
revenue, 121, 126, 129, 131, 137, 149, 153
risk management, 113, 114
Rocky & Mayur’s Offbeat Australia, 63
Routes Asia, 53

S
security, 103
Signature Experiences of Australia, 44–47
Signature Experiences of Australia 
program, 81
Singapore Airlines, 52, 65, 71
Singapore visitors, 65, 85
SK broadband, 61
small business participation, 114
SmartGrants cloud system, 103
social media, 23, 24, 42, 51, 62, 63, 72
South Australian Tourism Commission, 57, 
71, 87, 88
South by Southwest (SXSW), 49
South Korean visitors, 61
special-interest marketing, 45
spending by visitors, 7, 18, 20, 30–31
staff

attracting and retaining, 99
diversity, 96
engagement, 25, 98
enterprise agreement, 99
gender diversity, 25, 96

Indigenous, 25, 96
performance, 99
statistics, 96
training, 103
wellbeing, 99
workforce planning, 103

stakeholder satisfaction, 24
Statement of Changes in Equity, 128
Statement of Comprehensive Income, 126
Statement of Financial Position, 127
strategy, 7–11
Super Bowl ad, 17, 23, 38–39
superyacht sector, 47

T
target markets, 12–13
TAway, 98
technology, 17, 102
television campaigns

Asia, 55, 58–59, 61, 63, 66
overview, 48
UK, 73
USA, 17, 23, 38

The Sisterhood Travelling Gang in 
Australia, 59
There’s nothing like Australia campaign, 
24, 32, 36–37, 55, 63, 65, 72, 79

Tourism Australia  
goal, 5
overview, 5–6
Open Day, 93
purpose, 18
values, 5, 98
vision, 5

Tourism 2020 goal, 7–9, 24
Tourism Australia Act 2004 (TA Act), 5, 113
Tourism Australia Enterprise Agreement 
2016–19, 99
trade events, 81, 86
trade platforms, 102
trade shows, 79, 86–88
training
staff, 103
travel agents, 81
Travelzoo, 69
Twitter, 24, 35, 51

U
UK visitors, 72–73
USA visitors, 15, 17, 39, 68–69

V
Virgin Australia, 52, 58, 68, 83
visitors

arrivals growth, 18, 20
business events, 74–75
expenditure, 7, 18, 20, 30–31
marketing, see campaigns
numbers, 30–31 

W
Walkabout Japan, 60
waste management, 104
websites, 23, 50, 82, 102
Wild Australia campaign, 73
women’s development, 96
work health and safety, 99
workforce, see staff
workshops, 79, 86, 93, 96, 99, 103
World Routes, 53
Y
youth campaigns, 37, 42–43
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2 Changes to the operating environment and the implications for Tourism Australia 8
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6 Tourism Australia’s awards, 2017/18 32–33

7 Dundee campaign results 41

8 Aussie News Today campaign results 43

9 Number of website visitors, 2017/18 50

10 Social media followers, 2017/18 51

11 Tourism Australia's significant partnerships in 2017/18 52

12 Trade events, 2017/18 86

13 Number of accommodation rooms in Australia, 2011/12 to 2017/18 89

14 Staff engagement results, 2014 to 2018 98

15 Number of work health and safety incidents, 2014/15 to 2017/18 99

16 Senior manager appointments and departures, 2017/18 106

17 Directors’ attendance at Board meetings, 2017/18 116

18 Directors’ attendance at Audit and Finance Committee meetings, 2017/18 116

19 Glossary 156

20 Abbreviations and acronyms 157

Figure number and description Page

1 Progress against Tourism 2020 goal 7

2 Overview of Tourism Australia’s 2017/18 strategy 9 

3 High-value traveller criteria 11

4 Target markets and their forecast value by 2025 13

5 Visitor numbers and spend in Australia 30–31

6 Australia’s points of difference 37
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7.5 COMPLIANCE INDEX
Requirement Note Page

Policy and practices on  
establishment and maintenance  
of appropriate ethical standards

Suggested 99

Management accountability – external scrutiny

Significant developments  
in external scrutiny

Mandatory N/A

Reports by the Auditor-General,  
a parliamentary committee or  
the Commonwealth Ombudsman

Mandatory N/A

Management accountability – management of human resources

Assessment of managing and 
developing human resources  
to achieve objectives

Mandatory 96–99

Workforce planning,  
staff turnover and retention

Suggested 96–99

Training and development  
undertaken and its impact

Suggested 103

Work health and safety performance Suggested 99

Statistics on staffing Mandatory 96

Statistics on employees  
who identify as Indigenous

Mandatory 96

Enterprise or collective agreements, 
determinations, common law 
contracts and AWAs

Mandatory 99

Management accountability – assets management

Assessment of effectiveness  
of assets management

Mandatory 121; 133

Management accountability – purchasing

Assessment of purchasing against  
core policies and principles

Mandatory 111; 122

Australian National Audit Office access clauses

Absence of provisions in  
contracts allowing access  
by the Auditor-General

Mandatory 114; 121

Financial statements

Financial statements Mandatory 124–153

Small business

Procurement initiatives to support 
small business

Mandatory 114

Other mandatory information

Ecologically sustainable development 
and environmental performance

Mandatory 104

Information Publication 
Scheme statement

Mandatory 163

Requirement Note Page

Letter of transmittal Mandatory
Inside 
cover

Table of contents Mandatory 1

Index Mandatory 158

Glossary Mandatory 156

Contact officer(s) Mandatory 163

Internet home page address and 
internet address for the report

Mandatory 163

Reviews by Chair and Managing Director

Review by Chair Mandatory 15

Review by Managing Director Mandatory 17

Summary of significant issues 
and developments

Suggested 8-29

Overview of performance  
and financial results

Suggested 8–23; 
18–25; 

122–123

Outlook for the following year Suggested 8; 16–17

Agency overview

Role and functions Mandatory 5

Organisational structure Mandatory 105

Outcome and program structure Mandatory 6

Review of performance in relation  
to programs and outcomes

Mandatory 35–93

Performance in relation to  
deliverables and KPIs in Portfolio  
Budget Statements and Portfolio 
Additional Estimates Statements

Mandatory 18–25

Narrative discussion and analysis 
of performance

Mandatory 18–25; 
35–93

Trend information Mandatory 8–29

Factors, events and trends 
influencing performance

Suggested 8

Contribution of risk management 
to achieving objectives

Suggested 113–114

Discussion and analysis  
of financial performance

Mandatory 121

Management accountability – corporate governance

Certification that agency complies 
with the Commonwealth Fraud 
Control Guidelines

Mandatory 114

Statement of the main corporate 
governance practices in place

Mandatory 113–114

Names of the senior executives  
and their responsibilities

Suggested 108–109

Internal audit arrangements,  
approach to identifying risk and 
arrangements to manage risk

Suggested 111–114; 116
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7.6 CONTACTS

AUSTRALIA

Sydney 
Level 29, 420 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

T +61 2 9360 1111
F +61 2 9331 6469

CHINA

Room 501 No. 9, Columbia Park,  
No. West Yan An Road,  
Chang Ning District, Shanghai

T +86 21 6010 3988
F +86 21 6010 3989

GERMANY

Neue Mainzer Strasse 22  
D 60311 Frankfurt/Main

T +49 69 2740 0622
F +49 69 2740 0640

HONG KONG

Room 2405, 24/F  
Harbour Centre, 25 Harbour Road,  
Wanchai

T +852 2531 3801

INDIA

Office 97, 9th Floor 
3rd North Avenue, Maker Maxity  
Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East)  
Mumbai 400021

T +91 22 6628 0200
F +91 22 6743 9765

INDONESIA

Offices of PT Wego Travel Indonesia  
Sampoerna Strategic Square, South Tower  
30th Floor, Jl. Jend. Sudirman Kav. 45–46  
Jakarta 12930

T +62 21 299 30814
F +62 811 119 7779

JAPAN

12F Marunouchi Trust Tower North  
1-8-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku 
Tokyo 100-0005

T +81 3 5218 2560
F +81 3 5218 2577

 MALAYSIA

Suite 12–1, Faber Imperial Court  
Jalan Sultan Ismail 50250 
Kuala Lumpur

T +60 3 2786 7999
F +60 3 2070 4302

NEW ZEALAND

Level 3, 125 The Strand 
Parnell, Auckland 1001

T +64 9 337 0448
F +64 9 915 2881

SINGAPORE

101 Thomson Road 
United Square #08–03 
Singapore 307591

T +65 6255 4555
F +65 6253 8431

SOUTH KOREA

20th Floor  
Youngpoong Building  
41 Cheonggyecheon-ro 
Jongno-gu, Seoul 03188

T +82 2 399 6506
F +82 2 399 6507

UK

6th Floor, Australia Centre 
Melbourne Place/Strand  
London WC2B 4LG 

T +44 20 7438 4600
F +44 20 7240 6690

USA

Suite 3150, 2029 Century Park East 
Los Angeles, California 90067 

T +1 310 695 3200
F +1 310 695 3201

ask.us@tourism.australia.com

australia.com | australia.cn | aussiespecialist.com | tourism.australia.com  
facebook.com/seeAustralia | instagram.com/Australia | weibo.com/seeaustralia | twitter.com/australia | 
twitter.com/tourismAus | twitter.com/meetinaustralia
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CONTACT OFFICER

For more information about this report, please contact: Karen Halbert

Executive General Manager  
Corporate Affairs, Government and Industry  
Tourism Australia 
GPO Box 2721 
Sydney NSW 1006  
Australia

T +61 2 9360 1111 
This report can be accessed online at www.tourism.australia.com
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Our vision is for 
Australia to be the most  

desirable and memorable 
destination on earth

www.tourism.australia.com


